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/ Rick Hoevenaars, Chair of the Board

Report from the
Board of Directors

In 2017, Central 1’s Board and leadership made the bold decision to become
the national partner of choice for financial, digital banking and payment
solutions, supporting members and clients, and ultimately benefitting the
financial well-being of consumers.
We realize that the word ‘choice’ is key: with this vision comes an obligation to
create a clear focus on our clients, their needs, and the products and services
that will help them to succeed. We also realize that our clients aren’t a onesize-fits-all entity; Central 1 has an obligation to understand the diverse and
specific needs of those we serve.
To become the partner of choice requires trust and a reputation for flawless
execution. Establishing the Transformation Office in 2017 focused keen
attention on gaps in our delivery to members and clients; we consulted with
stakeholders to understand their expectations, and how we can best evolve to
provide the leadership needed to support their success.
In 2017, Central 1 continued to build on the engagement process started
in 2016 about the desired future of the second tier of the Canadian credit
union system, focusing specifically on our response to the CEO Payments
Strategy proposal on PayCo, and continued to have robust discussions with
our membership to determine a payments structure to best benefit the credit
union system.
Ultimately, we concluded that the risks involved in the PayCo proposal were
just too great and we made the difficult but correct decision that Central 1 can
create a successful national payments, financial and digital banking entity that
supports the desire of Canadian credit unions and other financial institutions
for agility, competitiveness and sustainability.
Our internal analysis and external consultation also confirmed the challenges of
the current environment, the needs of our clients and the opportunities the future
presents, and importantly helped inform our 2018 to 2020 Strategic Plan.
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It’s a strategy that creates an environment to foster innovation, agility, and
ongoing consultation with our key stakeholders and clients. In order to be the
partner of choice across Canada, we recognize the need to give our member
and clients a competitive advantage to foster not only their success, but that of
their members and consumers.
Central 1 has identified three strategic priorities that represent the high-level
goals that are necessary to achieve our vision:
•• Client Centricity
•• Operational Excellence
•• System Leadership
An early outcome of Transformation Office that supports our first strategic pillar
is the establishment of Product Advisory Council, and we’ll continue to invest
time and attention in understanding the diverse range of our clients, and how to
best deliver on their needs; we have committed to delivering what our members
and clients have said they want and need, and this is what we will do.
System leadership – will be doing more work internally around the ‘landing zone’
for the organization in the next five to seven years.
While we recognize that the credit union system is under significant pressure
and faces significant competition from other financial institutions and disruptors,
we also recognize that there are opportunities to gain share of business, wallet
and untapped margins. We have made a commitment to help credit unions take
advantage of the opportunities to become more robust. I believe I speak on
behalf of the both the Central 1 Board and leadership when I say we are excited
about the opportunity to deliver on this commitment.
2017 was a year of great change, and the Board would like to commend Don Wright
and Marilyn Mauritz, along with the Central 1 staff for their dedication, hard work,
and serious self-evaluation, towards the goal of greater credit union success.
Sincerely,

Rick Hoevenaars
Chairperson, Board of Directors
Central 1 Credit Union
Jump to table of contents
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Having joined Central 1 in January, I find myself in the unique position of
commenting on a year whose experiences, accomplishments, challenges and
disappointments have helped inform my leadership focus for the company
going forward.
In my first six weeks at Central 1, I have spent a great deal of time speaking
with our members, our clients, our employees and our partners to better
understand how we can deliver on our commitments to provide key support
and develop innovative products and programs to keep our members and
clients competitive.
In 2017, Central 1 set a bold goal of becoming the national partner of choice
for financial, digital banking and payment solutions. This led to a focus
of transforming our culture and capability to increase and improve client
centricity and service and delivery excellence.
Our current strategic plan lays the foundation to create a competitive
edge for our clients and members through design excellence, marketleading speed and innovation, and proactive stakeholder engagement and
partnership.
In 2018, we look forward to making progress with the priorities of our
strategic plan, creating client-centred solutions, operational excellence and
system leadership through engagement, innovation and partnership in order

Message from the
President & CEO

/ Mark Blucher, President & Chief Executive Officer

to benefit all Canadian credit unions.
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Central 1 committed in 2017 to building best-in-class solutions and leveraging
consultation and engagement with clients. The cultural and organizational
transformation initiated in 2017 will continue with the delivery of marketcompetitive products and solutions designed to meet the long-term needs of credit
unions and other clients across Canada.
As 2018 progresses, we look forward to seeing increased interaction, feedback and
alignment with our members and clients, and seeing a positive return on the key
investments we are making in future products and services to assist the success of
our members and clients.
I want to take this opportunity to thank the management and staff for their efforts
during 2017. During a year of much change, they led and assisted the organization
through both challenges and success, and they have positioned Central 1 with the
opportunity to make a real, positive difference in how we show up and deliver.
We look forward to demonstrating our values of courage, collaboration and curiosity
in our efforts to deliver value for our members in 2018, and look forward to your
continued feedback, input and participation as we move forward.
Best wishes,

Mark Blucher
President & Chief Executive Officer
Central 1 Credit Union

For more information, please visit www.central1.com. For detailed highlights from 2017,
please visit annualreport.central1.com.
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Overview
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) reviews and analyzes the
financial condition and results of operations of Central 1 Credit Union (Central 1)
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. The financial information
included in this MD&A should be read in conjunction with Central 1’s Consolidated
Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, which were authorized
for issue by the Board of Directors (the Board) on February 23, 2018, which is the
effective date of this MD&A.
The results presented in this MD&A and in the Consolidated Financial Statements
that follow are reported in Canadian dollars. Except as otherwise indicated, financial
information for Central 1 included in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as described in Note 2 of
the Consolidated Financial Statements. Additional information on Central 1 may be
found on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) at
www.sedar.com.
This MD&A also includes financial information about the credit union networks in
British Columbia and Ontario. The British Columbia credit union network is made
up of all credit unions in British Columbia while the Ontario credit union network is
made up of only those credit unions that have contracted to become members of
Central 1. In the discussions presented in this report, the two provincial networks
are individually referred to as the “British Columbia (B.C.) credit union network” or
“B.C. network” and the “Ontario credit union network” or “Ontario network”. Where
the term “network” appears without regional designation, it refers to Central 1’s total
membership, encompassing credit unions in both provinces.
Financial information for the B.C. and Ontario networks has been provided by their
provincial regulators, the Financial Institutions Commission of British Columbia
(FICOM) and Deposit Insurance Corporation of Ontario (DICO), respectively. The
differing provincial regulatory guidelines reduce the comparability of the information
between the two provincial networks. Central 1 has no means of verifying the
accuracy of information provided by credit unions to FICOM or DICO or the
subsequent compilation of that information by FICOM or DICO. This information
is provided purely to assist the reader with understanding Central 1’s results and
should be read in the proper context. Financial information provided by B.C. credit
unions to FICOM and by Ontario credit unions to DICO has been prepared using
reporting templates developed by FICOM and DICO, respectively. The format and
accounting principles used to complete these templates are not fully consistent
with IFRS. The net operating income of the B.C. and Ontario credit union networks

reported herein is not equivalent to income from continuing operations as would be
reported under IFRS.
Through 2017, Central 1 did a deep dive to explore how we need to evolve as
an organization to continue to reimagine and empower the digitalization of
Canadian credit unions’ business processes. In order to support our members and
clients in their success, we created a Transformation Office as a mechanism to
accelerate delivery of key initiatives through sustained focus and cross-functional
collaboration. Several key outcomes from the Transformation Office included:
•• Obtaining FICOM and member (by a margin of more than 95.0 per cent
voting in favour) approval for a change to our bylaws to permit tiered pricing
for commercial bill payments. This change unlocks a major opportunity for
Central 1 to offer more competitive market pricing to our clients and increase
value to the whole network.
•• Establishing a Product Advisory Council to provide client input into all of
Central 1’s digital banking and payments products and services, and as a
consequence, sunsetting the Digital Banking Steering Committee.
•• Defining a new evaluation, prioritization and governance process for the
digital and payments product roadmap. This will help move to a more agile,
transparent and consistent operating model for product development.
On November 1, 2017, Everlink Payment Services Inc. and Central 1 announced
that, through a multi-year agreement between the two companies, B.C. and Ontario
credit unions and other financial institutions will have access to sophisticated,
enhanced, and real-time fraud monitoring measures to detect and combat debit
card fraud. By compiling and integrating transaction and demographic data
and consumer profiling, this service allows credit unions to lower fraud losses,
improve brand reputation, and increase member trust and security by reducing the
frequency of compromised cards. Management believes this will create the largest
in-market fraud management services bureau delivery in Canada.
Effective August 16, 2017, FICOM amended the borrowing multiple requirements to
no more than 17.0:1 for the Mandatory Liquidity Pool (MLP) segment and no more
than 15.0:1 for the Wholesale Financial Services (WFS) segment. Following this
amendment, Central 1 amended its capital limits which allowed Central 1 to return
$50.0 million in capital to its Class A members. On September 29, 2017, Central 1
redeemed $30.0 million of Class A shares and paid $5.0 million dividends to
Class A shareholders. On October 27, 2017, Central 1 reacquired $15.0 million
of Class E shares.
Jump to table of contents
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As a result of members’ approval of changes to Central 1’s Rules, Class A shares
will be reduced and Class F shares will be issued to Class A members in proportion
to their share of mandatory deposits. The remaining aggregate level of Class A
shares will be based on Central 1’s estimate of regulatory capital required to support
strategic and operational initiatives over its planning cycle, which is currently $50.0
million. The credit union members’ holding of these Class A shares will continue
to be based on their share of the network assets. On December 5, 2017, Central 1
received FICOM approval of these Rule changes. Central 1 plans to reacquire 750
thousand of Class E shares with an aggregate value of $75.0 million, which would
reduce Central 1’s regulatory capital. This series of transactions is anticipated to be
completed by March 31, 2018.
Medium-term notes are an important component of Central 1’s overall
funding strategy and increased from $750.0 million at December 31, 2016 to
$1,350.0 million at December 31, 2017. On January 31, 2018, Central 1 issued
$350.0 million principal amount of Series 16 medium-term floating rate notes due
February 5, 2021. The notes bear interest at 3-month Canadian Dollar Offering Rate
(CDOR) plus 35 bps payable and reset quarterly on the 5th of February, May, August
and November of each year, commencing May 5, 2018.
Central 1 had a strong capital position throughout 2017 and held sufficient capital at
year-end to meet all regulatory requirements.
In December 2017, Desjardins Financial Holding Inc. (Desjardins), The CUMIS Group
(CUMIS) and Canada’s five provincial credit union centrals (Centrals) including
Central 1 entered into a master merger agreement to merge the businesses of
Credential Financial Inc., Northwest & Ethical Investments L.P., and Qtrade Canada
Inc. This transaction, when complete, is expected to create one of Canada’s largest
independent wealth management firms with more than 500 thousand clients across
the country and over $55.0 billion in combined client assets under administration.
The new entity, Aviso Wealth, will be jointly owned by Desjardins and a limited
partnership comprised of the Centrals and CUMIS, with each holding a 50.0 per
cent stake. Aviso Wealth will give credit unions access to a vertically integrated
wealth management organization that is owned by the network and that will focus
on meeting the expanding wealth management needs of credit union partners and
their members across Canada. The merger of these businesses will offer a significant
opportunity for credit unions to grow their wealth business and compete with the
large banks. The transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2018.

Business Profile
Central 1’s vision is to be a partner of choice for financial, digital banking and
payment products and services – fueling the success of businesses across Canada
for over 75 years.
Central 1’s role is to support the success of credit unions and by extension, the
financial well-being of all Canadians. Central 1 provides wholesale financial
products, trust services, payment processing solutions and digital banking
technologies and services to almost 300 credit unions and institutional clients
from coast to coast. At Central 1, we work with members to understand their
unique needs and leverage our network’s scale to anticipate and deliver the
holistic solutions to meet our members’ needs. Central 1 has earned a reputation
for innovation, with deep expertise in providing services and products that create
a competitive edge for our members and enable them to reach their greatest
potential.
Central 1’s 109 member credit unions (as at December 31, 2017) represent a
member-oriented, full-service retail financial network that collectively serves
3.4 million individual or organizational members and holds more than $126.8 billion
in assets.
Central 1’s products and services that are provided to its members are delivered
through three core lines of businesses: MLP, WFS, and Digital & Payment Services.
In addition, Central 1 offers a variety of additional services that are funded by
membership dues.
Credit unions are required, by legislation in B.C., and by agreement in Ontario,
to maintain a minimum balance of deposits with Central 1. These deposits, and
the associated capital, form the basis of the MLP. Central 1 manages the MLP
within regulatory constraints and leverages its economies of scale to reduce costs
associated with managing the pool. Members receive interest income from their
deposits as well as the net earnings of the MLP by way of a dividend. Central 1
does not profit from the management of the MLP. Assets in the MLP are subject to
specific regulatory restrictions. Returns on the MLP are consistent with Central 1’s
risk profile.
WFS puts our clients at the forefront of the market and positions them as the
financial institution of choice, offering funding solutions so clients can grow their
balance sheets, increase margins and manage liquidity. WFS provides lending
services, capital market access to foreign exchange and derivative capabilities,
investment and deposit options, as well as securitization and mortgage funding
options to financial institution clients. Aimed at diversifying product offerings and
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growing revenue for our clients, WFS also offers foreign exchange and registered
financial services products, and commercial real estate lending syndication services.
With a focus on expanding our markets, solidifying our funding and providing
holistic and proactive solutions to our members and clients, Central 1 reorganized
its Trade Services function in September 2017 and moved a number of functions
into WFS, including risk solutions and product compliance & design.
Central 1’s Digital & Payment Services develops and operates innovative digital
banking technologies and payment processing solutions for member credit unions,
other financial institutions and corporate clients. These secure and reliable tools
allow financial and corporate-sector clients to complete a variety of digital, paper
and remittance transactions. They also provide cash management services,
including automated funds transfers, bill payments and wire transfers.
Digital & Payment Services also offers MemberDirect® services, a hosted digital
banking solution used by nearly 300 financial institutions across Canada. It is
a multi-platform solution that allows clients to offer a variety of digital banking
services to credit union members through their online banking platform. The
products and services offered through MemberDirect® help credit unions attract new
members, deepen their relationships with existing members and support them in
delivering high quality member services.
Central 1’s innovative solutions are scalable and adaptable to provide custom
solutions to member credit unions and clients. By investing in leading edge
technologies, Central 1 continues to improve the way it serves members and clients,
enabling them to stay ahead of their evolving needs. Central 1’s mobile app can
be fully integrated with an organization’s visual brand, so that each organization
can provide its members with a recognizable and trustworthy mobile banking
experience. Central 1’s Deposit Anywhere™ product, Canada’s first mobile cheque
deposit service, was developed through collaboration with credit union members
based on Central 1’s ground-breaking image capture recognition technology.
To accelerate Central 1’s MemberDirect® roadmap and evolve its platform for credit
unions, Central 1 launched a strategic initiative to develop a new digital User
Experience (UX) omni-channel platform that will enable Central 1 to provide a
leading-edge digital experience to its members for them to remain competitive in
the future. It will deepen customer engagement through powerful, market-leading
user experience management tools. The UX Platform will allow credit union selfservice capabilities for a flexible, customizable digital experience to connect with
their members across Canada.

Central 1 is also a Group Clearer that acts as the credit union network’s connection
to the Canadian payments system. It provides payment services to the credit union
centrals of Alberta, Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Atlantic Canada.
While Central 1’s primary focus is serving member credit unions to power their
success, Central 1 has diversified its external client base with payments processing
and technology services to other financial institutions. The benefits resulting from
increased volumes flow through to member credit unions via lower fees on certain
products. Central 1 also prices many of its services to Class A members on a costrecovery basis which allows its members to benefit from Central 1’s economies of
scale.
The Dues Funded Activities put the needs of credit unions and clients first. This
function works as a trusted partner for relevant solutions in areas of expertise
including economics, marketing, market research and creative services, strategic
and people solutions, and communications. These value-added, auxiliary services
give member credit unions access to a wealth of expertise, while remaining
affordable through economies of scale. Putting credit unions first using integrated
programs and informed decisions, Central 1 delivers better outcomes for member
credit unions while promoting the success and reputation of the credit union
network to the public.

Factors That May Affect Future Results
In addition to the risks described in subsequent sections of this MD&A, there are
numerous factors – systemic, political and economic – that may affect Central
1’s performance, many of which are outside Central 1’s immediate control and
influence. The effects of these factors can be difficult to predict, and could cause
Central 1’s results to differ significantly from its plans, objectives and estimates.
Readers are cautioned that the list of risk factors below is not exhaustive and should
be reviewed in conjunction with the Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements section of this MD&A.
Industry and Non-Corporate Factors
Central 1, like other centrals across Canada, are actively participating in discussions
with their members and one another about the design and expectations of key
credit union support functions. These discussions have already led to cooperation
in 2017 between Central 1, SaskCentral and Canadian Credit Union Association in
bringing Marketing and Government Relations functions under the national banner
to better support the network across Canada.
Through 2016, Central 1 remained dually regulated, provincially by FICOM, and by
voluntarily subjecting itself to federal oversight by Office of the Superintendent of
Financial Institutions (OSFI) via registration under Part XVI of the Cooperative Credit
Associations Act (CCAA). In 2014, the Federal Government passed Bill C-43 in the
Jump to table of contents
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House of Commons repealing Part XVI of the CCAA effective January 15, 2017. As
a result, Central 1 was no longer regulated by OSFI effective January 15, 2017. In
addition, Part XVII of the CCAA and section 39 of the Canada Deposit Insurance Act
is expected to be repealed such that the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation
would no longer provide loans from the Consolidated Revenue Fund of Canada to
Central 1 and other centrals. The Bank of Canada (BOC) is also reviewing conditions
for Emergency Lending Assistance to Central 1, other centrals and other provinces.
Legislative reviews that have been ongoing in both B.C. and Ontario continued
throughout 2017. Central 1 continued to correspond with Ministry of Finance officials
on the review of the B.C. Financial Institutions Act and Credit Union Incorporation
Act, commenting on items such as residential mortgage lending, small business
lending, governance, capital and liquidity throughout 2017. The Ministry of Finance
has indicated that it will release a White Paper with initial policy positions sometime
in early 2018.
The Ontario government has committed to a comprehensive re-write of the Credit
Unions and Caisses Populaires Act (CUCPA). Central 1’s Government Relations has
assembled a Working Group of credit union representatives that has worked with
the government to provide input for the re-write of the CUCPA. The first section of
the CUCPA being reviewed is capital adequacy. The Working Group helped inform
the network’s position that will be submitted to the Ministry of Finance by the
deadline of February 28, 2018.
The Ontario government has also moved forward with a number of positive changes
for credit unions that came into force on January 1, 2018. These changes include
increasing deposit insurance coverage for non-registered accounts from $100
thousand to $250 thousand, and increased subsidiary ownership and the operation
of extra-provincial credit unions.
As a wholesale financial services provider to member credit unions, Central 1 is
affected by prevailing economic and business conditions, including the impact of
prices within financial markets. Factors such as interest rates, inflation, consumer
and business spending not only impact residential real estate lending and the
primary activities for B.C. and Ontario credit unions, but also influence demand for
the majority of other credit union products and services.
Central 1’s financial results are affected by the monetary policies of the BOC and,
to a lesser extent, by those of the U.S. Federal Reserve (the Fed) system. Monetary
policy decisions determine the level of interest rates which, in turn, may have a
significant impact on Central 1’s financial results.
The interest rate differential, or credit spread, between Government of Canada
(GOC) securities and those issued by other participants in fixed-income markets

also affects Central 1’s financial results. Central 1 earns income from accepting
mandatory credit union deposits at rates based on GOC securities and nonmandatory deposits based on senior bank deposit notes, and investing in securities
issued by the GOC, other levels of government and corporations. To the extent that
credit spreads and swap spreads change, Central 1’s interest margin, as well as the
fair value of its financial instruments, would be impacted.
The Competition Tribunal approved Interac’s request to amend the Consent
Agreement in 2013. This amendment permits Interac to restructure its operations
into a single entity that can offer a single integrated portfolio of payment products
under the direction of an independent board and with the ability to better fund
innovation. The restructuring is a critical step in helping Interac to continue offering
effective, convenient and secure payment products for Canadian merchants and
consumers. The restructuring was completed by January 31, 2018.
Network-Specific Factors
Central 1’s financial performance is heavily influenced by events in the network.
There is strong competition for members and clients among Canada’s financial
services providers. The degree of such competition has an impact on the
performance of Central 1 and the network. Credit unions enjoy strong member
loyalty, retention is influenced by their ability to deliver products and services at
competitive prices and service levels vis-à-vis other financial services providers.
Non-financial companies can also offer members and clients a range of competing
service and product options.
Through 2017, Central 1 continued to review its operations and the second tier to
determine if there are any opportunities to provide greater value to both members
and other clients, to benefit the financial well-being of all Canadians. The result is
a renewed focus on the success of Canadian credit unions and their members and a
reaffirmation of our commitment to the cooperative values and principles. We know
that expanding our services to other financial institutions will further power the
progress of credit unions.
Corporate-Specific Factors
In addition to the industry and network-specific factors outlined above, the Bank Act
provides for the establishment of federal credit unions. A credit union that elects to
become a federal credit union would cease to be regulated provincially.
Central 1 has earned a reputation for innovation, with deep expertise in providing
services and products that create a competitive edge for our members and enable
them to reach their greatest potential. Demand for Central 1’s products and services
are therefore correlated with the success of member credit unions and their
customers. For example, demand for products and services provided by Central 1’s
WFS business line are correlated with demand for lending and deposits at the
Jump to table of contents
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individual credit union level. Technology needs within the network are also driven
by member and client needs, which in turn are impacted by regulatory change and
potentially disruptive new entrants into the market.
Central 1 has been designated by FICOM as a domestic systemically important
financial institution (D-SIFI) within the Canadian credit union network. D-SIFIs are
financial institutions whose failure could cause significant disruption to the wider
financial network and economic activity.
In connection with the designation of Central 1 as a D-SIFI, FICOM has provided
Central 1 with additional requirements related to the management of its activities.
These requirements reflect the important role Central 1 plays in the stability of the
credit union network. FICOM’s intent with its requirements is to ensure that Central 1
is sufficiently capitalized, including under stressed conditions, and to ensure that
Central 1’s risk profile and corresponding need for capital support remain within the
risk appetite and tolerance level of its members.
FICOM’s requirements for investments in the MLP are contained in the Cash and
Liquid Assets section and its borrowing multiple requirements are described in the
Capital Management and Capital Resources section.
Central 1’s own credit risk on deposits also affects its financial results. To the
extent that Central 1’s own credit risk changes, the fair value of financial liabilities
designated as trading, such as deposits, would be impacted.
Other Factors
Other factors which could affect actual results include changes in accounting
standards, including their effect on Central 1’s accounting policies, estimates and
judgements. Changes in income tax regulations will also affect Central 1’s actual
results. In addition, Central 1 may be adversely impacted by the failure of third
parties to comply with their obligations, such as obligations related to the handling
of personal information or failure to prevent fraud.
Central 1’s future performance is also dependent on its ability to attract, develop
and retain key management personnel.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements
From time to time, Central 1 makes written forward-looking statements, including in
this MD&A, in other filings with Canadian regulators, and in other communications.
In addition, representatives of Central 1 may make forward-looking statements
orally to analysts, investors, the media and others. All such statements may be
considered to be forward-looking statements under applicable Canadian securities
legislation.
Within this document, forward-looking statements include, but are not limited
to, statements relating to Central 1’s financial performance objectives, vision and
strategic goals, the economic, market and regulatory review and outlook for the
Canadian economy and the provincial economies in which Central 1’s member credit
unions operate. The forward-looking information provided herein is presented for
the purpose of assisting readers in understanding Central 1’s financial position
and results of operations as at and for the periods ended on the dates presented.
Forward-looking statements are typically identified by words such as “believe”,
“expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “plan”, “will”, “may”, “should”, “could”, or “would”
and similar expressions.
Forward-looking statements, by their nature, require Central 1 to make assumptions
and are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, which give rise to the possibility
that predictions, forecasts or conclusions will not prove to be accurate, that
assumptions may not be correct and that financial objectives, vision and strategic
goals will not be achieved. Central 1 cautions readers to not place undue reliance
on these statements as a number of risk factors could cause actual results to differ
materially from the expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements.
These factors – many of which are beyond Central 1’s control and the effects of
which can be difficult to predict – include business and operations, compliance,
credit and counterparty, insurance, liquidity, market, and operational risks.
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list is not intended to be exhaustive and
other factors may adversely impact Central 1’s results. Central 1 does not undertake
to update forward-looking statements except as required by law.
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Economic Developments and Outlook
The following summaries of the economic environment, the state of financial
markets and performance by both provincial networks in 2017 offer context for
interpreting Central 1’s year-over-year results and insight into its future.

The Economic Environment
The world economy outperformed most analysts’ expectations in 2017. In January
2017, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) projected global economic growth of
3.4 per cent in 2017. In January 2018, the IMF estimated the global economy grew
by 3.7 per cent in 2017.
Canada’s economy grew by an estimated 3.0 per cent in 2017, according to the
BOC, up sharply from 1.4 per cent in 2016. Growth in 2017 was led by household
consumer spending, private sector residential investment spending, international
trade, private sector non-residential investment spending and government
investment and spending. Growth was supported by still-accommodative monetary
policy and financial conditions, stronger U.S. growth and commodity prices,
and government spending. Total employment grew 1.9 per cent in 2017 and the
unemployment rate fell to 6.3 per cent. Consumer price inflation was 1.6 per
cent. The average BOC bank rate and chartered bank prime lending rate in 2017
increased 21 basis points (bps) year-over-year as the BOC raised its benchmark
interest rate 50 bps. The average 10-year GOC benchmark bond yield in 2017
increased 53 bps year-over-year.
The BOC forecasts Canadian economic growth at 2.2 per cent in 2018, led by
household consumer spending. Business fixed investment spending and government
investment and spending will also contribute to growth, with business investment
contributing more this year than last year. Residential investment spending will
contribute only slightly to growth, while the contribution from international trade
will be range-bound. Central 1 Economics forecasts employment growth of 1.4 per
cent in 2018 with the unemployment rate declining to 6.1 per cent. Consumer price
inflation is forecast at 2.0 per cent. The average three-month treasury bill yield is
forecast to rise 21 bps year-over-year while the average long-term GOC bond yield
rises 35 bps.
British Columbia
B.C.’s economy expanded at a robust pace of 3.7 per cent in 2017 according to
Central 1 estimates. That was up 0.2 per cent from 2016 and well above average
growth of 2.8 per cent observed since 2000. Growth was heavily concentrated
in household consumer spending and, to a small extent, residential investment
spending. Government spending and investment, business investment and net
exports were range-bound. Labour income led robust growth in domestic income,

with smaller gains in proprietary rental income, taxes less subsidies, and corporate
profits.
The labour market in B.C. improved in 2017 with total employment rising 3.7 per
cent, the highest growth rate since 1994. Both full- and part-time employment
increased, as did private sector, public sector and self-employment. The
unemployment rate averaged 5.1 per cent, down from 6.0 per cent in 2016.
Aggregate labour income grew by an estimated 6.7 per cent, above average growth
of 4.2 per cent since 2000.
The housing market in B.C. remained active in 2017 yet cooled somewhat in
Vancouver and Victoria from the torrid pace of 2016 in response to various policy
changes designed mainly to dampen speculation. Housing construction starts
increased 4.3 per cent from 2016 while housing sales decreased 7.5 per cent. The
average sale price increased 2.7 per cent.
Central 1 Economics forecasts growth in B.C.’s economy at 3.0 per cent in 2018,
largely due to higher household consumer spending. Business investment in nonresidential buildings and intellectual property will contribute more to economic
growth while net exports will be a slight drag on growth. Employment is forecast to
rise 2.0 per cent while the unemployment rate declines to 4.5 per cent. Domestic
income growth is forecast at 5.7 per cent, led by labour income, proprietary rental
income and taxes less subsidies.
Ontario
Ontario’s economy expanded at a moderate pace of 2.8 per cent in 2017 according
to Central 1 estimates, up from 2.6 per cent in 2016 and above average growth of 2.1
per cent observed since 2000. Growth was led by household consumer spending with
lesser contributions from private residential investment spending and government
spending and investment. Business investment was range-bound while net exports was
a drag on growth. Labour income and corporate profits led above average growth in
domestic income, with smaller gains in taxes less subsidies and proprietary income.
The labour market in Ontario improved in 2017 with total employment rising 1.8 per
cent, up from 1.1 per cent in 2016 and above average growth of 1.3 per cent since
2000. Both full- and part-time employment increased, as did private sector, public
sector and self-employment. The unemployment rate declined to 6.0 per cent from
6.5 per cent as labour force growth failed to keep pace with employment growth.
Aggregate labour income grew by an estimated 3.9 per cent, equal to the average
growth rate since 2000.
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Housing lifted Ontario’s economy in 2017 despite lower existing home sales, with most
regions following the provincial trends. Housing construction starts are estimated at
80,800 units, up 7.7 per cent from 2016. Annual housing sales declined 9.5 per cent
to 220,150 units in response to various policy changes designed mainly to dampen
speculation. The average sale price increased 9.7 per cent.
Central 1 Economics forecasts growth in Ontario’s economy at 2.4 per cent in 2018,
largely due to higher household consumer spending. Government spending and
investment and business investment will contribute to economic growth while net
exports will remain a drag on growth. Employment is forecasted to rise 1.3 per cent
while the unemployment rate declines to 5.9 per cent. Domestic income growth is
forecasted at 4.3 per cent, largely due to higher labour income. Proprietary income also
contributes to growth while corporate profits are a slight drag on growth.

Financial Markets
The BOC raised rates twice during 2017 with another hike on January 17, 2018. Markets
are forecasting two to three further BOC rate hikes this year. In 2017, the GOC curve
experienced a steepening of shorter rates and a flattening of the curve beyond two
years. Spreads between GOC two-year versus five-year terms peaked above 40 bps
during the year and then declined to close the year below 20 bps. The five-year versus
10-year terms also continued to decline. Credit spreads continued to narrow on a yearover-year and monthly basis in 2017.
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Network Performance
British Columbia
The following table provides a five-year summary of the British Columbia Credit Union Network.
Figure 1 - Five-Year Summary: British Columbia Credit Union Network
As at December 311
(Millions of dollars)

2017

Cash and Central 1 operating account
Investments
Liquid
Other
Loans2
Other
Total assets

$

641.0

$

9,709.4
268.3
65,226.0
1,198.0
77,042.7

Borrowed funds
Members’ deposits
Non-equity shares
Retained earnings and equity shares
Payables and other
Total liabilities and equity

$

$

For the years ended December 311
(Millions of dollars)
Financial margin
Non-financial income
Net income from equity investments

Non-financial expense
Net loan loss expense
Income taxes
Net income3
Return on equity

4,838.3
66,317.6
56.1
4,590.1
1,240.6
77,042.7

2016
$

788.3

$

9,718.0
266.4
59,907.7
1,180.0
71,860.4

$

$

2017
$

$

1,455.1
321.8
58.9
1,835.8
1,382.0
36.0
73.4
344.4
7.8 %

3,997.8
62,478.6
55.8
4,260.9
1,067.3
71,860.4

2015
$

854.3

$

8,543.9
240.3
55,570.1
1,141.5
66,350.1

$

$

2016
$

$

1,324.0
291.5
24.5
1,640.0

3,390.8
57,758.5
55.5
4,038.1
1,107.2
66,350.1

2014
$

766.3

$

6,653.2
222.2
52,785.4
1,031.1
61,458.2

$

2,101.4
54,412.7
57.3
3,903.0
983.8
61,458.2

2015
$

1,302.3
34.8
39.9
263.0
$
6.3 %

1,247.0
295.6
19.2
1,561.8
1,235.7
35.0
37.0
254.1
6.1 %

2013
$

601.4

$

6,323.7
205.3
50,835.0
947.8
58,913.2

$

$

2014
$

$

2,260.2
51,938.0
61.8
3,699.8
953.4
58,913.2

2013

1,247.2
277.9
21.8
1,546.9

$

1,203.0
46.3
44.9
252.7
6.4 %

$

1,216.6
270.6
16.6
1,503.8
1,162.0
33.1
55.5
253.2
6.9 %

Jump to table of contents

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Central 1 Credit Union Annual Report 2017 | 17

As at February 23, 2018

Statistical
Number of credit unions
Number of branches4
Number of ATMs
Number of members (thousands)

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

42
379
571
1,965

42
374
561
1,909

42
374
567
1,920

43
365
565
1,904

43
371
565
1,878

Note: All figures in the table are unaudited. 2017 data is preliminary. 2016 data is revised.
1
Statements for three credit unions with September 30 th year-end are adjusted to twelve months ending December 31 st.
2
Figures are net of allowance for doubtful loans, but include accrued interest.
3
Excludes equity dividends & patronage refunds, charitable donations, capital gains (losses) & extraordinary items.
4
Excludes credit union insurance subsidiaries branches.

2013

2017

2016

254.1

263.0

344.4
2014

58,913

61,458

66,350
2015

2015

253.2

2016

Net Income – British Columbia Credit Union Network
(Millions of dollars)

252.7

2017

71,860

77,043

Total Assets – British Columbia Credit Union Network
(Millions of dollars)

2014

2013

The B.C. credit union network continued to grow in 2017. Network net income totaled $344.4 million, up from $263.0 million in 2016. Lending grew 8.9 per cent year-overyear, leading to higher financial margin. Return on average equity was 7.8 per cent, up from 6.3 per cent in 2016. Earnings growth was assisted by higher interest rates and
wider interest rate spread between assets and liabilities.
Financial margin increased $131.1 million or 9.9 per cent as the balance sheet grew 7.2 per cent and the net interest margin widened by five bps driven by the BOC rate hikes
during 2017. Non-financial income increased $30.3 million or 10.4 per cent, led by wealth management, trust and deposit services, and $34.4 million increase in income from
equity investments. Non-financial expenses increased $79.7 million or 6.1 per cent, with majority of the increase driven by higher salaries and benefits, followed by higher
data processing and information technology expenses. Net loan loss expense increased by $1.2 million or 3.4 per cent.
Assets of the B.C. network totaled $77.0 billion at the end of 2017, up $5.2 billion or 7.2 per cent from a year earlier. Asset growth was largely from increases in low ratio
personal residential mortgages, while insured personal residential mortgages declined. Liability and equity growth were led by chequing deposits, term deposits and
borrowings.
The 90-day delinquency rate at year-end stood at 0.16 per cent of the loan portfolio, down nine bps from a year earlier. Net loan loss expense for the year was 0.05 per cent
of average assets, unchanged from a year earlier. Reserves held against loan losses totaled 0.28 per cent of the portfolio at year-end, down one bp from a year earlier.
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The network’s liquidity ratio decreased in 2017 while the regulatory capital ratio was down slightly, with both ratios remaining well above the minimum requirements for
individual credit unions. The liquidity ratio stood at 14.5 per cent at year-end, down from 15.7 per cent a year earlier. The risk-weighted capital adequacy ratio finished the
year at 14.4 per cent, down from 14.7 per cent a year earlier.
B.C. credit union membership stood at approximately 2.0 million at the end of 2017, a year-over-year increase of 2.9 per cent. Province-wide staffing was little changed at
8,454 full-time equivalent employees at year end. B.C. had 42 local credit unions at year-end, unchanged from a year earlier. The number of branches in B.C. increased from
374 to 379, and the network’s ATMs increased to 571 from 561.

Ontario
The following table provides a five-year summary of the Ontario Credit Union Network.
Figure 2 - Five-Year Summary: Ontario Credit Union Network
As at December 31
(Millions of dollars)
Cash and Central 1 operating account
Investments
Liquid (including cash)
Other
Loans1
Other
Total assets
Borrowed funds
Members’ deposits
Retained earnings and equity shares
Payables and other
Total liabilities

2017

$

$
$

$

For the years ended December 31
(Millions of dollars)
Financial margin
Non-financial income
Non-financial expense
Net loan loss expense
Income taxes
Net income2
Return on equity

4,964.7
694.1
43,286.6
797.8
49,743.2
5,756.4
39,984.4
1,913.8
2,088.6
49,743.2

2016

$

$
$

$

2017
$

$

946.0
239.1
1,185.1
948.7
17.3
34.6
184.5
5.8 %

4,920.8
650.1
38,596.3
754.6
44,921.8
4,966.6
36,087.9
1,768.9
2,098.4
44,921.8

2015

$

$
$

$

2016
$

$

844.8
234.6
1,079.4
885.0
30.5
21.1
142.8
5.0 %

4,329.4
567.9
34,327.9
714.0
39,939.2
3,943.2
32,464.9
1,666.2
1,864.9
39,939.2

2014

$

$
$

$

2015
$

$

798.3
206.9
1,005.2
846.3
26.1
20.5
112.3
4.4 %

3,650.5
462.7
31,388.9
654.2
36,156.3
3,119.3
30,028.5
1,470.2
1,538.3
36,156.3

2013

$

$
$

$

2014
$

$

792.3
179.1
971.4
794.3
31.1
20.5
125.5
5.4 %

3,509.2
622.2
28,316.2
578.7
33,026.3
2,374.1
27,986.3
1,358.9
1,307.0
33,026.3

2013
$

$

746.5
178.6
925.1
730.1
29.1
16.5
149.4
6.9 %
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Statistical
Number of credit unions
Number of branches
Number of ATMs
Number of members (thousands)

2017

2016

2015

2014

67
536
579
1,422

72
528
564
1,407

79
525
567
1,384

84
516
575
1,333

2013

90
502
588
1,326

* Results for prior years are restated to conform to current year’s presentation
1
Figures are net of allowance for doubtful loans
2
After taxes, before dividends, patronage refunds, extraordinary items and other comprehensive income.
Note: All figures in the table are unaudited.

2017

2016

Net Income – Ontario Credit Union Network
(Millions of dollars)

2014

112.3
2017

2016

2015

125.5

142.8

33,026
2013

149.4

184.5
2015

36,156

39,939

44,922

49,743

Total Assets – Ontario Credit Union Network
(Millions of dollars)

2014

2013

Central 1’s Ontario credit union network saw assets and profits grow in 2017. Network net income totaled $184.5 million, up from $142.8 million in 2016. Lending grew 12.2
per cent year-over-year. Return on average equity was 5.8 per cent, up from 5.0 per cent in 2016. Higher financial margin, led by balance sheet growth, outweighed higher
non-financial expense, led by salaries and benefits reflective of increased staffing.
Asset growth for the Ontario network remained strong in 2017, with assets totaling $49.7 billion at year end, up 10.7 per cent year-over-year. Loan growth was driven by
residential mortgages and commercial loans and mortgages. Network deposits totaled $40.0 billion at year-end, up 10.8 per cent from a year earlier. Deposit growth was
largely in non-registered term and demand products. Network borrowings totaled $5.8 billion at year end, up 15.9 per cent year-over-year. Credit union capital totaled $3.4
billion at year-end, up 14.1 per cent year-over-year.
The network’s credit risk measures improved in 2017. The overall 90-day delinquency rate declined from 0.36 per cent to 0.3 per cent at year-end, while total loan loss
reserves ended 2017 at 0.21 per cent of the portfolio, down five bps year-over-year. The rate of loan loss expense was four bps in 2017, down four bps from a year earlier.
The network’s liquidity ratio ended 2017 at 10.7 per cent, down from 11.8 per cent at the end of 2016. Class 2 credit unions, those with commercial lending authorizations,
represent 99.0 per cent of the network’s assets, finished the year with a risk-weighted capital ratio of 13.1 per cent, little changed from 13.0 per cent a year earlier.
Ontario network membership increased 1.1 per cent in 2017 form a year earlier. Staffing increased 4.7 per cent year-over-year. Amalgamations and purchases continued
within the Ontario credit union network. There were 67 credit unions in Ontario affiliated with Central 1 at year-end, down from 72 credit unions a year earlier. The number of
branches totaled 536 at the end of 2017, up from 528 a year earlier, while the network’s ATMs increased to 579 at the end of 2017 from 564 a year earlier.
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Overall Performance
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Financial Overview as at December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 3 – Financial Overview
December 31
Operating results (millions of dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Net financial income
Net financial and other income
Operating income (loss)
Profit for the year
Productivity ratio
Productivity ratio - non-financial
Return on average assets
Return on average equity

2017

$
$
$
$

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic
Diluted
Dividends per share (cents)
Class A
Class B & C

73.4
223.5
(14.6)
48.6
73.6
109.7
0.3
4.4

2016

%
%
%
%

$
$
$
$

67.5
207.9
(1.1)
57.0
68.1
100.8
0.4
5.6

2015

%
%
%
%

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

50.1
190.9
11.2
52.4
67.9
92.1
0.4
5.5

11.4
11.4

14.9
14.9

15.2
15.2

4.3
1.7

3.6
1.1

4.2
1.0

Weighted average shares outstanding

$

424.9

$

382.0

$

345.0

Average assets

$

17,851.2

$

15,739.6

$

14,042.1

December 31
Balance sheet (millions of dollars)
Total assets
Long-term liabilities

2017

$
$

Regulatory ratios
Tier 1 capital ratio
Provincial capital ratio
Borrowing multiple (times)
Share information (thousands of dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Outstanding $1 par value shares
Class A – credit unions
Class B – cooperatives
Class C – others

18,068.9
8,458.4

2016

$
$

35.7 %
53.6 %
12.4:1

17,314.0
7,737.9

2015

$
$

34.2 %
51.6 %
11.9:1

14,949.0
5,880.1
31.2 %
40.6 %
13.2:1

$
$
$

428,101
5
7

$
$
$

416,952
5
7

$
$
$

370,952
5
7

$

30

$

32

$

32

Outstanding $0.01 par value shares with redemption value of $100
Class E – credit unions

%
%
%
%
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2017

2016

2015

2017

2016

14,949

17,314

18,069

Total Assets
(Millions of dollars)

52.4

48.6

57.0

Profit for the year
(Millions of dollars)

2015

Profit for the year decreased by $8.4 million or 14.7 per cent from 2016 to $48.6 million in 2017. In 2017 Central 1 invested a total of $20.5 million in strategic initiatives, most
notably its UX Platform, external IFRS 9 Loan Loss model, and the Transformation Office. Central 1’s investments in these initiatives is essential to ensuring that Central 1 can
provide its members with the products and services that will enable them to remain competitive in the future. These increased costs were partially offset by a $5.9 million
increase in net financial income reflecting the increased size of the balance sheet and lending activities.
Compared to 2016, return on average assets (ROA) decreased 10 bps and return on average equity (ROE) decreased 120 bps. Central 1’s total assets increased 4.4 per cent
and average assets increased 13.4 per cent from 2016 due to increased mandatory deposits from credit unions and external borrowings. The decreased profit combined with
higher level of average assets and average equity contributed to the lower ROA and ROE. Central 1’s capital levels are driven largely by the amount of deposits and external
borrowings on its balance sheet.
Central 1’s overall productivity ratio, defined as the ratio of operating expenses to the sum of net financial income and other income, increased from 68.1 per cent in 2016 to
73.6 per cent in 2017. The increase was directly attributable to increased costs to support strategic initiatives. Central 1’s non-financial productivity ratio, which excludes the
variability within net financial income, increased from 100.8 per cent in 2016 to 109.7 per cent in 2017.
As a wholesale provider of services to its credit union members, Central 1 prices many of its services on a cost-recovery basis, rather than at levels that would enhance profit and
improve ROE or ROA. Under normal circumstances, this would keep Central 1’s productivity ratio higher than would be the case if profit margins were built into product prices.
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Financial Objectives as at December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 4 - Financial Objectives
2017
Exceed return on average equity target
Actual return
Target return
Maintain regulatory capital in excess of 15% of risk weighted assets at the year-end

4.4 %
3.2 %
53.6 %

2016

5.6 %
3.0 %
51.6 %

2015

5.5 %
3.7 %
40.6 %

Regulatory Requirement

> 10 %

Central 1 exceeded all of its financial objectives for 2017. Central 1’s first objective is to earn a ROE equal to or greater than the target return. Central 1 must also ensure that
it meets its regulatory capital requirements. The target ratio of regulatory capital, which should be at least equal to 15.0 per cent of risk weighted assets at the year-end as
required by provincial regulations, was exceeded in 2017.
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Selected Annual Information
Statement of Financial Position
Cash and Liquid Assets
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Cash and Liquid Assets for the MLP and WFS business lines as at December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 5 – Cash and Liquid Assets
December 31, 2017
(Millions of dollars)
Cash
Federal and provincial government issued and guaranteed securities
Corporate and financial institution securities AA or greater
U.S. dollar denominated corporate and financial institution securities AA or greater
Insured mortgages securitized as National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities
Other assets
Total

MLP Liquid
Assets
$

$

December 31, 2016
(Millions of dollars)
Cash
Federal and provincial government issued and guaranteed securities
Corporate and financial institution securities AA or greater
U.S. dollar denominated corporate and financial institution securities AA or greater
Insured mortgages securitized as National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities
Other assets
Total

$

$

MLP Liquid
Assets
$

$

December 31, 2015
(Millions of dollars)
Cash
Federal and provincial government issued and guaranteed securities
Corporate and financial institution securities AA or greater
U.S. dollar denominated corporate and financial institution securities AA or greater
Insured mortgages securitized as National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities
Other assets
Total

19.3
7,625.2
354.4
37.6
–
558.3
8,594.8

WFS Liquid
Assets

127.7
6,872.2
1,046.3
102.8
–
–
8,149.0

WFS Liquid
Assets
$

$

MLP Liquid
Assets
$

$

283.7
6,135.6
708.8
268.6
–
–
7,396.7

531.2 $
3,396.9
1,084.6
148.9
176.8
1,570.4
6,908.8 $

359.4 $
3,588.4
2,093.5
418.5
258.1
374.7
7,092.6 $

WFS Liquid
Assets
$

$

– $
2,270.8
2,088.6
389.6
207.9
541.0
5,497.9 $

Securities
Received as
Collateral
– $
603.2
–
–
–
–
603.2 $
Securities
Received as
Collateral
– $
298.0
–
–
–
–
298.0 $
Securities
Received as
Collateral
– $
55.9
100.8
–
–
–
156.7 $

Total Liquid
Assets
531.2 $
4,000.1
1,084.6
148.9
176.8
1,570.4
7,512.0 $

Total Liquid
Assets
359.4 $
3,886.4
2,093.5
418.5
258.1
374.7
7,390.6 $

Total Liquid
Assets
– $
2,326.7
2,189.4
389.6
207.9
541.0
5,654.6 $

Encumbered
Liquid Assets
– $
1,634.1
21.1
–
–
82.3
1,737.5 $

Encumbered
Liquid Assets
– $
1,480.0
42.5
–
–
95.6
1,618.1 $

Encumbered
Liquid Assets
– $
1,279.2
107.3
–
–
–
1,386.5 $

Unencumbered
Liquid Assets
531.2
2,366.0
1,063.5
148.9
176.8
1,488.1
5,774.5

Unencumbered
Liquid Assets
359.4
2,406.4
2,051.0
418.5
258.1
279.1
5,772.5

Unencumbered
Liquid Assets
–
1,047.5
2,082.1
389.6
207.9
541.0
4,268.1
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In addition to managing the MLP on behalf of the network, Central 1 manages its own liquidity within WFS. Consistent with Central 1’s designation as a D-SIFI, all Canadian
dollar denominated securities in the MLP are eligible for collateral under the BOC’s Standing Liquidity Facility.
The liquidity management framework for WFS is designed to support the liquidity requirements of the network under non-stressed conditions, to ensure that credit unions
have access to reliable and cost-effective sources of liquidity, as well as Central 1’s potential cash and collateral obligations, including collateral pledged to the BOC’s Large
Value Transfer System. Central 1 maintains a portfolio of high quality liquid assets (HQLA) in WFS to support these objectives.
Cash and liquid assets increased $0.4 billion in MLP driven by higher mandatory deposits, and decreased $0.2 billion in WFS year-over-year driven by lower non-mandatory
deposits outstanding. Cash and liquid assets in MLP represented 47.6 per cent of Central 1’s total assets, up from 47.1 per cent in 2016. Cash and liquid assets in WFS
represented 38.2 per cent of Central 1’s total assets, down from 41.0 per cent in 2016.
Loans
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Loans as at December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 6 - Loans
December 31
(Millions of dollars)
Credit unions loans

2017
$

Syndicated commercial loans
Non syndicated commercial loans
Other loans
Residential mortgages
Securities acquired under reverse repurchase agreements

$

2016
782.3

$

2015
329.5

$

784.1

622.1

611.2

518.7

12.9

13.4

16.0

7.9

8.8

9.4

139.9
782.8
591.9
2,157.0

161.6
795.0
316.4
1,440.9

98.0
642.1
48.9
1,475.1

$

$

* Total loan balances are before the allowance for credit losses and exclude accrued interest, premium and fair value hedge adjustment.

Central 1 provides clearing lines of credit and short- and medium-term loans to its members. All lending activities are closely integrated and coordinated with Central 1’s
liquidity management. Clearing lines of credit, available in two currencies, are used to cover cash requirements arising from the settlement of payment transactions. Shortand medium-term loans are used by members for cash management purposes, balance sheet funding and asset acquisitions.
Central 1’s Commercial Lending Group participates in loan syndications with members. Central 1 also periodically acquires pools of residential mortgages from its members
to provide them with liquidity. Central 1 may resell these pools to other credit unions or securitize them. Most pools acquired by Central 1 are held for short-term periods,
pending for resale to other credit unions or securitization.
Total loans increased $716.1 million compared to the prior year, driven by higher credit unions loans and securities acquired under reverse repurchase agreements, which
are generally used to support Central 1’s credit union members’ participation in the Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB) Program. These increases were partially offset by lower
residential mortgages. Commercial loans represented 29.4 per cent of Central 1’s total loan portfolio, down from 43.3 per cent in the prior year.
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Funding
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Sources of Funding as at December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 7 - Sources of Funding
December 31
(Billions of dollars)
Deposits and trading liabilities by type
Mandatory deposits
Non-mandatory deposits
Deposits from member credit unions
Deposits from non-credit unions

2017

$

Debt securities issued
Commercial paper issued
Medium-term notes issued
Subordinated liabilities
Obligations under the CMB Program
Securities under repurchase agreements

$

8.1
3.1
11.2
0.8
12.0

2016

$

7.6
3.5
11.1
0.8
11.9

2015

$

6.9
3.3
10.2
0.6
10.8

0.9
1.3
0.4
2.6

0.7
0.8
0.4
1.9

0.5
0.6
0.2
1.3

1.2
0.5
16.3

1.2
0.3
15.3

1.0
0.2
13.3

$

$

Central 1’s primary funding source is deposits from credit unions, the majority of which are required by regulation or by contractual agreement. Additionally, credit unions
deposit excess liquidity with Central 1, which constitutes the largest funding source for WFS. Supplementary to this core deposit base are Central 1’s commercial paper and
medium-term note programs. Central 1 also uses asset securitization programs as an alternative source of funding and asset/liability management (ALM) purposes.
Deposits from Central 1’s member credit unions increased $0.1 billion from the prior year. Mandatory deposits from credit unions increased $0.5 billion, reflective of the
growth within the B.C. and Ontario credit union networks. Non-mandatory deposits from credit unions decreased $0.4 billion, due to decreased demand in discretionary
deposits. Deposits from member credit unions represented 68.7 per cent of Central 1’s total funding portfolio at year-end, down from 72.5 per cent in the prior year.
Total debt securities outstanding increased $0.7 billion compared to the prior year. Debt securities represented 16.0 per cent of Central 1’s total funding portfolio at year end,
up from 12.4 per cent in the prior year. Of the total amount outstanding, $1.3 billion was borrowed under Central 1’s medium-term note facility, $0.4 billion was borrowed
through subordinated debt issuance and the remainder was borrowed through Central 1’s commercial paper facility. The increase in debt securities was the main cause of the
overall growth on Central 1’s balance sheet.
Direct securitization transactions are accounted for on-balance sheet while indirect securitizations are off-balance sheet. Total obligations under the CMB Program were $1.2
billion, remained in line with the prior year. Details of the balances can be found in Notes 6 and 16 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Equity
Central 1 distributes the net earnings of the MLP to its Class A members as dividends and requires that its Class A members purchase additional Class A shares to capitalize the
growth of the MLP. The increase in share capital in the MLP and the earnings retained by Central 1’s other business lines account for most of the increase in equity year-over-year.
Central 1’s total equity increased $34.2 million during 2017 to $1,119.1 million, compared to an increase in equity of $95.9 million during the prior year. FICOM’s amendment
on Central 1’s regulatory requirements for borrowing multiples on August 16, 2017 allowed Central 1 to return its capital to Class A members in a form of a share redemption
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and dividend payment. On September 29, 2017, Central 1 redeemed $30.0 million of Class A shares and paid $5.0 million dividends to Class A members. On October 27, 2017,
Central 1 reacquired $15.0 million of Class E shares.
Central 1’s Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity provides a summary of items that increase or decrease the total equity and Note 21 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements provides details on the changes in share capital.

Statement of Profit or Loss
Net Financial Income
Net financial income of $73.4 million increased $5.9 million compared to the prior year. The following table shows the yearly average balances of Central 1’s interest earning
assets and interest-bearing liabilities, its relative contribution or charge to interest margin, together with related yields and costs.
Figure 8 - Comparative Interest Income and Expense
2017
December 31
(Millions of dollars)
Assets
Cash and securities
Deposits with regulated financial institutions
Reinvestment assets under CMB Program
Loans
Total interest earning assets
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Equity
Deposits
Credit union mandatory deposits
Credit union current accounts
Credit union other
Non credit union
Debt securities issued
Obligations under the CMB Program
Securities under repurchase agreements
Subordinated liabilities
Total
Other liabilities
Equity
Total liabilities and equity
Interest margin
Realized and unrealized gains on financial instruments
Net financial income

Average
Balance

$

$

$

$

14,702.3
6.0
463.2
1,928.6
17,100.1
751.1
17,851.2

$

7,750.6
1,050.4
2,170.0
814.7
1,723.0
1,238.3
600.7
422.1
15,769.8
969.7
1,111.7
17,851.2

$

$

$
$
$

2016

Interest

Average
Rate

208.0
0.2
8.2
37.5
253.9
–
253.9

1.4
3.3
1.8
1.9
1.5
0.0
1.4

%
%
%
%
%
%
%

$

91.5
7.7
35.1
3.7
26.7
18.7
4.8
12.5
200.7
–
–
200.7

1.2
0.7
1.6
0.5
1.5
1.5
0.8
3.0
1.3
0.0
0.0
1.1

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

$

53.2
20.2
73.4

Average
Balance

0.3 %
0.1 %
0.4 %

$

$

13,252.0
80.9
256.1
1,482.0
15,071.0
668.6
15,739.6

$

7,169.7
1,071.0
2,172.9
690.2
1,242.2
1,107.6
259.1
261.0
13,973.7
742.7
1,023.2
15,739.6

$

$

$
$
$

2015

Interest

Average
Rate

171.0
0.1
5.9
29.5
206.5
–
206.5

1.3
0.1
2.3
2.0
1.4
0.0
1.3

%
%
%
%
%
%
%

$

79.7
4.9
30.1
3.1
14.4
17.9
1.2
7.6
158.9
–
–
158.9

1.1
0.5
1.4
0.4
1.2
1.6
0.5
2.9
1.1
0.0
0.0
1.0

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

$

47.6
19.9
67.5

Average
Balance

0.3 %
0.1 %
0.4 %

12,237.5
5.9
109.8
1,027.8
13,381.0
661.1
14,042.1

$

6,688.8
1,014.8
1,406.5
658.3
1,319.8
807.5
215.1
218.0
12,328.8
764.2
949.1
$ 14,042.1

$

$

$

$
$
$

Interest

Average
Rate

155.2
0.1
1.9
21.0
178.2
–
178.2

1.3
1.7
1.7
2.0
1.3
0.0
1.3

%
%
%
%
%
%
%

83.9
4.9
18.1
7.5
17.0
14.1
1.3
6.3
153.1
–
–
153.1

1.3
0.5
1.3
1.1
1.3
1.7
0.6
2.9
1.2
0.0
0.0
1.1

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

25.1
25.0
50.1

0.2 %
0.2 %
0.4 %
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Interest margin increased $5.6 million compared to the prior year, primarily driven by the growth in average net assets. The BOC interest rate hikes had a positive impact on
interest margin as the weighted average yield on assets increase relative to the weighted average cost of liabilities. This is primarily due to the difference in timing of fixed rate
liability maturities compared to the maturities within the investment portfolio.
Central 1’s funding mix has shifted year-over-year with a higher proportion of debt securities issued. The new issuances of $900.0 million in total for medium-term notes in
2017 combined with the $300.0 million matured in May 2017 have contributed to a higher outstanding balance of long term external borrowings in 2017. This increase results
in higher interest expense.
Notes 22 and 23 of the Consolidated Financial Statements contain details of gain (loss) on disposal of financial instruments and change in fair value of financial instruments
reported during the year.
Operating Income (Loss)
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Operating Income (Loss) for the year ended December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 9 - Operating Income (Loss)
Years ended December 31
(Millions of dollars)
Other income
Mandatory Liquidity Pool
Wholesale Financial Services
Lending fees
Securitization fees
Foreign exchange income
Other
Digital & Payment Services
Payment processing and other fees
Digital banking fees
Dues Funded Activities
Other
Equity interest in affiliates
Income from investees
Litigation settlement

2017

$

Other
Total other income
Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits
Premises and equipment
Other administrative expenses
Management information systems
Flow through membership dues
Professional fees
Other
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

$

2016

(0.4)

$

2015

–

$

–

6.4
7.4
5.9
7.4

5.6
6.9
6.1
7.6

4.7
5.0
5.9
8.0

53.7
31.8
11.8

53.0
30.5
12.0

50.6
28.9
13.4

14.4
3.7
1.1

8.0
4.9
-

6.7
4.1
7.7

6.7
149.9

5.9
140.5

5.7
140.7

76.1
9.1

74.2
7.3

69.5
7.1

13.9
6.3
22.7
36.4
164.5

9.5
5.5
10.5
34.6
141.6

6.9
5.0
5.4
35.6
129.5

(14.6)

$

(1.1)

$

11.2
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Central 1 reported an operating loss of $14.6 million, compared to an operating loss of $1.1 million in 2016. Excluding the one-time litigation settlement, other income
would have increased $8.3 million from the prior year. Of this increase, income from Central 1’s investees and affiliates accounted for $5.2 million due to an increase in the
related investments in affiliates accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The remaining increase was contributed by the increased electronic payments Interac®
e-Transfer volumes and digital banking fees within Digital & Payment Services together with higher securitization and standby lending fee revenues within WFS.
Operating expenses increased $22.9 million primarily due to increased professional fees and other expenditures to support strategic initiatives, including the $6.4 million
incurred to develop the UX Platform and an increase of $2.3 million on the external IFRS 9 Loan Loss model. The external IFRS 9 Loan Loss model is a national platform
that provides expected credit loss calculations for credit union members and an analytical layer offering multi-tenant, scalability and security features critical to a national
platform. During 2017, Central 1 also incurred $10.9 million in other strategic initiatives of which $2.2 million was incurred for the Transformation Office.
Income Taxes
Central 1’s combined federal and provincial statutory tax rate is 26.1 per cent. Central 1’s effective tax rate for the year was 17.5 per cent, up from 14.0 per cent in 2016.
The increase is primarily the result of tax credits that were realized in 2016 and none in 2017. This was partially offset with a lower B.C. tax rate due to changes in the B.C.
provincial budgets in 2017. The B.C. Provincial Government’s September 2017 Budget (the Budget), enacted in October 2017, included re-establishing the preferential tax
treatment of the full credit union deduction. The Budget also kept the previous decrease to the small business tax rate from 2.5 per cent to 2.0 per cent effective April 1,
2017. Credit unions in B.C. applying the preferential tax treatment effectively pay B.C. provincial tax at the small business rate. The effective B.C. provincial small business tax
rate for 2017 was pro-rated to 2.12 per cent.
Results by Segment
Central 1’s operations and activities are organized around three key business segments: MLP, WFS, and Digital & Payment Services. Central 1 also offers a variety of additional
services that are funded by membership dues. All other activities or transactions, such as the costs of implementing strategic initiatives and exploring strategic alternatives
to enhance the ability to support credit unions in the future, are reported in “Other”. The costs of Corporate Support functions are also included in Other and are attributed to
business lines as appropriate.
Periodically, certain business lines and units are transferred among business segments to closely align Central 1’s organizational structure with its strategic priorities. In
addition, revenue and expense allocations are updated to more accurately align with current experience. Results for prior periods are restated to conform to the current period
presentation.
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Results by Segment for the year ended December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 10 - Results by Segment

For the year ended December 31, 2017
(Thousands of dollars)

Mandatory
Liquidity Pool

Wholesale
Financial
Services

Digital &
Payment
Services

Dues Funded
Activities

Other

Total

Net financial income (expense), including provision for credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Profit (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (recoveries)

$

26,555 $
(381)
26,174
8,045
18,129
3,154

51,536 $
26,980
78,516
25,971
52,545
10,006

(292) $
85,493
85,201
84,763
438
71

– $
11,787
11,787
11,240
547
88

(4,234) $
26,010
21,776
34,470
(12,694)
(2,998)

73,565
149,889
223,454
164,489
58,965
10,321

Profit (loss) for the period

$

14,975 $

42,539 $

367 $

459 $

(9,696) $

48,644
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For the year ended December 31, 2016
(Thousands of dollars)

Wholesale
Financial
Services

Mandatory
Liquidity Pool

Net financial income (expense), including provision for credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Profit (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (recoveries)
Profit (loss) for the period

$

$

For the year ended December 31, 2015
(Thousands of dollars)

21,159 $
(32)
21,127
7,547
13,580
2,507
11,073 $

Net financial income (expense), including provision for credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Profit (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (recoveries)
Profit (loss) for the period

$

$

50,719 $
26,184
76,903
25,586
51,317
9,465
41,852 $

Wholesale
Financial
Services

Mandatory
Liquidity Pool

21,405 $
8
21,413
6,985
14,428
2,365
12,063 $

Digital &
Payment
Services

Dues Funded
Activities

(255) $
83,511
83,256
74,452
8,804
1,625
7,179 $

Digital &
Payment
Services

33,311 $
23,587
56,898
25,098
31,800
5,212
26,588 $

– $
12,010
12,010
12,396
(386)
(71)
(315) $

Dues Funded
Activities

(242) $
79,450
79,208
70,320
8,888
1,563
7,325 $

– $
13,414
13,414
13,778
(364)
(60)
(304) $

Other

(4,180) $
18,826
14,646
21,616
(6,970)
(4,221)
(2,749) $

Other

(4,320) $
24,247
19,927
13,366
6,561
(117)
6,678 $

Total

67,443
140,499
207,942
141,597
66,345
9,305
57,040

Total

50,154
140,706
190,860
129,547
61,313
8,963
52,350

2017

41.9

2016
2015

0.5 (0.3) (0.3)

(2.7)
(9.7)

0.4

6.7

7.3

7.2

12.1

11.1

15.0

26.6

42.5

Profit (Loss) for the Period
(Millions of dollars)

Mandatory
Liquidity
Pool

Wholesale
Financial
Services

Digital &
Payment
Services

Dues Funded
Activities

Other
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Mandatory Liquidity Pool
MLP reported a profit of $15.0 million, an increase of $3.9 million compared to the
prior year. Interest margin increased by $5.2 million reflecting the increased size of
the investment pool. Net realized and unrealized gains increased $0.2 million due
to the mark-to-market gains on deposits resulting from rising interest rates partially
offset by the mark-to-market losses on securities mitigated by narrowing of credit
spreads in 2017. The increase was partially offset by higher operating expenses
due to increased management information systems expenses and lower foreign
exchange income.
Wholesale Financial Services
WFS reported a profit of $42.5 million, an increase of $0.6 million compared to the
prior year. Interest margin increased by $0.5 million due to a combination of factors.
Increased credit union lending activities contributed to the improved interest
income, which was partially offset by higher interest expense due to increased
external borrowings. Net realized and unrealized gains were largely in line with the
prior year.

Dues Funded Activities
Dues Funded Activities reported a profit of $0.5 million, compared to a loss of $0.3
million in 2016. The objective of these activities is to provide services to members
on a cost-recovery basis. This area performed better than anticipated due to
improvements in operating efficiency. These improvements will result in a reduced
level of dues funding in 2018.
Other
The Other operating segment reported a loss of $9.7 million, compared to a loss
of $2.7 million in 2016. Operating expenses within this segment increased $12.9
million from a year ago mainly due to increased costs incurred to support Central
1’s strategic initiatives. The $2.3 million increased spending on the development
of the external IFRS 9 Loan Loss model together with increased staff complement
to support corporate and strategic projects also partly contributed to the increase
in the operating expenses. These increases were partially offset by the $1.1 million
final litigation settlement and increased income from investees and affiliates.

WFS’ other income increased $0.8 million compared to the prior year due to higher
fee revenue from securitization and standby lending facilities, partially offset by
lower commercial lending and foreign exchange income. Operating expenses
increased $0.4 million compared to the prior year due to increased staff salaries and
management information system costs.
Digital & Payment Services
Digital & Payment Services’ profit decreased by $6.8 million from last year, largely
driven by a decreased profit within the digital banking area partially offset by an
increased profit within payments operations. During the year, Central 1 incurred
$6.4 million in the development of the UX Platform, which was partially offset by
a $1.3 million increase in digital banking fees. While paper payments volumes
have declined over time, the lower costs related to image capture and project
node together with increased Interac® volumes resulted in increased profits within
Payments operations.
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Summary of Quarterly Results
Quarterly Results
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Quarterly Earnings for fiscal 2017 and 2016.
Figure 11 - Quarterly Earnings
2017
(Thousands of dollars,
except as indicated)
Total interest income
Total interest expense
Interest margin

Q4
$

Realized and unrealized gains (losses)
Recovery of (provision for) credit losses

Other income
Operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Profit before income taxes
Income taxes
Profit for the period
Weighted average shares
outstanding (millions)
Earnings per share
Basic (cents)
Diluted (cents)

$

73,208
57,171
16,037

Q3
$

62,781
50,407
12,374

2016
Q2

$

60,513
47,807
12,706

Q1
$

57,366
45,294
12,072

Q4
$

56,143
43,784
12,359

Q3
$

52,296
39,958
12,338

Q2
$

49,975
37,477
12,498

Q1
$

48,059
37,646
10,413

2,579
(1)
18,615

9,296
8
21,678

(434)
140
12,412

8,815
(27)
20,860

5,286
(6)
17,639

10,395
22
22,755

3,261
(70)
15,689

979
(32)
11,360

38,620
(46,892)
(8,272)

37,656
(40,454)
(2,798)

38,575
(38,892)
(317)

35,038
(38,251)
(3,213)

35,431
(36,408)
(977)

34,461
(32,868)
1,593

38,333
(38,061)
272

32,274
(34,260)
(1,986)

10,343
(2,463)
7,880

18,880
(3,182)
15,698

12,095
(1,643)
10,452

17,647
(3,033)
14,614

16,662
(2,942)
13,720

24,348
(2,889)
21,459

15,961
(2,592)
13,369

9,374
(882)
8,492

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

417.1

440.3

425.2

417.0

396.1

385.0

375.8

371.0

1.9
1.9

3.6
3.6

2.5
2.5

3.5
3.5

3.5
3.5

5.6
5.6

3.6
3.6

2.3
2.3

*Earnings per share calculated for a central credit union must be taken in the context that member shares may not be traded or transferred.

Jump to table of contents

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Central 1 Credit Union Annual Report 2017 | 31

As at February 23, 2018

Interest Margin
(Millions of dollars)

10.4
3.3

5.3
2.6

Q4

Q3

Q2

2017

Q1

Q4

Q3

Q2

2016

8.8

10.4

12.5

12.3

12.4

12.1

12.7

12.4

9.3

16.0

Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses)
(Millions of dollars)

Q1

Q4

(0.4)

Q3 Q2
2017

Q4

Q3 Q2
2016

Q1

Profit Before Income Taxes
(Millions of dollars)

Q1

Q4

16.0

16.7

12.1

9.4

Q2

2017

17.6

Q2

18.9

Q3

10.3
Q3

0.3
(2.0)

(2.8)

Q4

(1.0)
(3.2)

(8.3)

(0.3)

1.6

24.3

Operating Income (Loss)
(Millions of dollars)

Q1

1.0

Q1

2016
Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

2017

Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

2016

Central 1 experienced significant growth in its interest margin during the fourth quarter of 2017, compared to the previous quarters in the past two years. The $16.0 million
interest margin represents an increase of $3.6 million or 30.0 per cent compared to the same period in 2016. The BOC interest rate hikes during 2017 contributed to the
widening of Central 1’s net interest spread, combined with the increase in the average net asset resulted in a significant boost in the interest margin during the fourth quarter
of 2017. This is primarily due to the difference in timing of fixed rate liability maturities compared to the maturities within the investment portfolio.
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) have a significant impact on profit or loss and their timing and magnitude are not predictable.
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Q4 2017 vs Q4 2016
Net Financial Income
Net financial income increased $1.0 million compared to the fourth quarter of 2016. The increase was driven by an increase in interest margin of $3.7 million due to the
widened spread between interest earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities in the fourth quarter of 2017. The increases in lending activities and average assets balance
also contributed to higher interest income compared to the fourth quarter of prior year. This increase was partially offset by the increased outstanding medium-term notes and
commercial paper in 2017. Net realized and unrealized gains decreased by $2.7 million mainly due to losses on disposal of available-for-sale assets in the fourth quarter of 2017.
Operating Income (Loss)
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Operating Income (Loss) for the three months ended December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 12 - Operating Income (Loss)
For the three months ended December 31
(Millions of dollars)
Other income
Mandatory Liquidity Pool
Wholesale Financial Services

2017

$

Lending fees
Securitization fees
Foreign exchange income
Other
Digital & Payment Services
Payment processing and other fees
Digital banking fees
Dues Funded Activities
Other
Equity interest in affiliates
Income from investees
Litigation settlement
Other
Total other income
Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits
Premises and equipment
Other administrative expenses
Management information systems
Flow through membership dues
Professional fees
Other
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

$

2016

–

$

2015

0.1

$

0.1

1.8
1.9
1.8
1.9

1.7
1.9
1.8
2.0

1.3
1.4
1.8
2.0

13.4
8.8
2.9

13.4
8.1
3.2

12.7
7.4
3.9

4.2
0.1
–

1.9
0.6
–

2.8
0.7
–

1.8
38.6

0.7
35.4

0.7
34.8

18.5
2.9

18.5
2.2

18.3
2.1

3.3
1.7
11.3
9.2
46.9
(8.3)

2.5
1.3
3.8
8.1
36.4
(1.0)

1.9
1.4
1.6
7.9
33.2
1.6

$

$

Central 1 reported an operating loss of $8.3 million for the fourth quarter of 2017, compared to an operating loss of $1.0 million for the same period in 2016.
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Other income during the fourth quarter increased by $3.2 million primarily driven by increased digital banking fees revenue together with higher income from affiliates
accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
Operating expenses increased $10.5 million from a year ago primarily due to higher costs incurred to support Central 1’s strategic initiatives including the UX Platform and
Transformation Office.
Results by Segment
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Results by Segment for the three months ended December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 13 - Results by Segment

For the three months ended December 31, 2017
(Thousands of dollars)
Net financial income (expense), including provision for credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Profit (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (recoveries)
Profit (loss) for the period

Mandatory
Liquidity Pool

$

$

For the three months ended December 31, 2016
(Thousands of dollars)
Net financial income (expense), including provision for credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Profit (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (recoveries)
Profit (loss) for the period

Mandatory
Liquidity Pool

$

$

For the three months ended December 31, 2015
(Thousands of dollars)
Net financial income (expense), including provision for credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Profit (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (recoveries)
Profit (loss) for the period

8,235 $
44
8,279
2,014
6,265
898
5,367 $

4,925 $
107
5,032
1,827
3,205
592
2,613 $

Mandatory
Liquidity Pool

$

$

2,380 $
90
2,470
1,686
784
129
655 $

Wholesale
Financial
Services

11,525 $
7,368
18,893
6,346
12,547
3,523
9,024 $

Wholesale
Financial
Services

13,822 $
7,449
21,271
6,207
15,064
2,844
12,220 $

Wholesale
Financial
Services

12,996 $
6,470
19,466
6,222
13,244
2,152
11,092 $

Digital &
Payment
Services

(87) $
22,180
22,093
23,372
(1,279)
(217)
(1,062) $

Digital &
Payment
Services

(71) $
21,476
21,405
18,023
3,382
624
2,758 $

Digital &
Payment
Services

(50) $
20,063
20,013
18,434
1,579
430
1,149 $

Dues Funded
Activities

– $
2,880
2,880
2,563
317
(18)
335 $

Dues Funded
Activities

– $
3,155
3,155
3,187
(32)
(77)
45 $

Dues Funded
Activities

– $
3,882
3,882
3,641
241
211
30 $

Other

(1,058) $
6,148
5,090
12,597
(7,507)
(1,723)
(5,784) $

Other

(1,037) $
3,244
2,207
7,164
(4,957)
(1,041)
(3,916) $

Other

(1,064) $
4,327
3,263
3,298
(35)
(604)
569 $

Total

18,615
38,620
57,235
46,892
10,343
2,463
7,880

Total

17,639
35,431
53,070
36,408
16,662
2,942
13,720

Total

14,262
34,832
49,094
33,281
15,813
2,318
13,495
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Q4 2017

11.1

Q4 2016
Q4 2015

0.7

1.1

0.6

0.3 0.0 0.0
(5.8)

(1.1)

Mandatory
Liquidity
Pool

Wholesale
Financial
Services

Digital &
Payment
Services

Dues
Funded
Activities

(3.9)

2.8

2.6

5.4

9.0

12.2

Profit (Loss) for the Period
(Millions of dollars)

Other

Mandatory Liquidity Pool
MLP reported a profit of $5.4 million, an increase of $2.8 million compared to the fourth quarter of 2016. Net financial income increased by $3.3 million. Net realized and
unrealized gains decreased $0.5 million, mainly due to higher unrealized losses from deposits partially offset by gains in securities. Interest margin increased $3.8 million,
driven by the combination of an 8.9 per cent increase in interest earning assets and the widened spread between securities and deposits interest rates. Operating expenses
were largely in line with the fourth quarter of the prior year.
Wholesale Financial Services
WFS reported a profit of $9.0 million, a decrease of $3.2 million compared to the fourth quarter of 2016. Net financial income decreased $2.3 million. Net realized and
unrealized losses decreased $2.2 million mainly due to higher net losses on disposal of available-for-sale assets in the fourth quarter of 2017. Interest margin and other
income were largely in line with the fourth quarter of the prior year. Operating expenses were largely in line with the fourth quarter of the prior year.
Digital & Payment Services
Digital & Payment Services’ profit decreased $3.9 million from the fourth quarter of 2016. Digital Banking reported a higher loss over the same period last year attributed to
increased professional fees and infrastructure expenses arising from the development of the UX Platform, partially offset by increased digital banking fees.
Dues Funded Activities
Dues Funded Activities reported a profit of $0.3 million, compared with a breakeven result from the same period in 2016. The objective of these activities is to provide
services to members on a cost-recovery basis. This area performed better than anticipated due to improvements in operating efficiency. These improvements will result in a
reduced level of dues funding in 2018.
Other
The Other operating segment reported a loss of $5.8 million, compared with a loss of $3.9 million for the same period in 2016. The operating expenses increased $5.4 million
mostly related to cost incurred to support Central 1’s strategic initiatives including Transformation Office. This increase was partially offset by the increased income from
affiliates accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
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2016 Financial Performance Review
The preceding discussions in the MD&A focused on Central 1’s performance for the
year ended December 31, 2017. This section compares the performance for the
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Overall Performance
Profit for the year increased by $4.6 million or 8.8 per cent from 2015 to $57.0
million in 2016. Net financial income increased by $17.4 million in 2016, which was
partially offset by a $12.3 million decrease in operating income due to an increase
in Central 1’s staff complement in Corporate Support functions as well as increased
professional fees and other expenditures to support strategic initiatives.
ROA remained consistent with the prior year, while ROE of 5.6 per cent in 2016
increased 10.0 bps from 2015. Central 1’s capital levels are driven in large part by
the amount of deposits in the MLP as credit unions are required to contribute capital
in proportion to the growth of mandatory deposits. Central 1’s average equity
increased by 7.8 per cent with the result that the increase in profits in 2016 was
largely offset by increased equity in deriving Central 1’s ROE.

Results by Segment
Mandatory Liquidity Pool
MLP reported a profit of $11.1 million, a decrease of $1.0 million compared to the
prior year. Interest margin increased by $0.6 million reflecting the increased size of
the investment pool, while net realized and unrealized gains decreased $0.9 million
due to lower net gains on disposal of available-for-sale assets. Operating expenses
increased $0.6 million primarily due to increased costs of maintaining Central 1’s
management information systems. Central 1 completed the second phase of a
multi-phase treasury management system upgrade during the first quarter of 2016
with the associated operating costs being allocated to Central 1’s MLP and WFS
business lines.
Wholesale Financial Services
WFS reported a profit of $41.9 million, an increase of $15.3 million compared to
the prior year. Interest margin increased by $21.7 million due to a combination of
factors. Increased levels of liquidity in the credit union network led to significant
growth in non-mandatory deposits resulting in higher average assets and a
lower weighted cost of funds. Increased securitization and lending activities also
contributed to the improvement over 2015. Net realized and unrealized gains
decreased $4.1 million due to lower net gains on disposal of available-for-sale
assets.

WFS’ other income increased $2.6 million compared to the prior year due to higher
fee revenue from securitization, standby lending facilities, commercial lending and
foreign exchange income. Operating expenses increased $0.5 million compared to
the prior year due to increased staff salaries and management information system
expenses.
Digital & Payment Services
Digital & Payment Services profit declined by $0.1 million compared to 2015 led by
lower profit within digital banking area, partially offset by a small increase of profit
within Payment operations. The increased investment in infrastructure to support
future growth outweighed the increased digital banking fees. While paper payment
volumes have declined over time, price increases resulted in paper profits increasing
by $0.3 million in 2016. Meanwhile, electronic payment volumes have seen an
increasing trend which resulted in a $0.4 million increase in profits in 2016.
Dues Funded Activities
Dues Funded Activities reported a loss of $0.3 million, a slight decrease from 2016.
The decrease in dues revenue was offset by lower operating expenses.
Other
The Other operating segment reported a loss of $2.7 million, compared to a profit of
$6.7 million in 2015. Central 1 recorded a credit to income of $7.7 million in 2015 on
a settlement of a long-standing legal claim. Excluding this credit after tax, Central 1
would have recorded a breakeven in this area in 2015. The resulting variance
reflects the impact of several one-time restructuring charges totaling $1.9 million.
Income from investees and affiliates increased by $3.4 million over 2015, in part
due to a one-time credit to income on the restructuring of Credit Union Central of
Canada (now Canadian Credit Union Association) of $1.4 million recorded in 2016.
Operating expenses within this segment increased by $8.3 million due largely to
costs incurred to explore strategic alternatives to enhance Central 1’s ability to
support its members in the future. The costs of some Corporate Support functions
also increased in 2016, but most of that increase was attributed to business lines.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
In the normal course of business, Central 1 enters into off-balance sheet arrangements, which fall into the following main categories: derivative financial instruments,
guarantees and commitments, and assets under administration.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The following table summarizes the notional off-balance sheet derivative financial instruments as at December 31, 2017, with comparatives.
Figure 14 - Derivative Financial Instruments
Notional Amount
December 31 (Millions of dollars)
Interest rate contracts
Bond forwards
Futures contracts
Swap contracts
Options purchased
Options written
Foreign exchange contracts
Foreign exchange forward contracts
Other derivative contracts
Equity index-linked options

2017

$

96.7
65.0
30,292.7
10.0
10.0
30,474.4

2016

$

247.4

$

231.7
30,953.5

79.5
432.8
29,679.2
–
–
30,191.5

2015

$

152.4

$

253.7
30,597.6

83.6
205.0
26,090.3
–
–
26,378.9
269.4

$

278.9
26,927.2

*The table discloses derivative notional amounts while the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position records derivatives at fair value.

Central 1 acts as a swap intermediary between the Canada Housing Trust and member credit unions and additionally provides derivative capabilities to member credit unions
to be used in the ALM of their respective balance sheets. These activities represented $9.6 billion and $17.0 billion, respectively, of the total derivative notional balances as at
December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016 - $9.8 billion and $16.2 billion; December 31, 2015 - $7.2 billion and $16.6 billion).
Derivatives are primarily used in the ALM activities at Central 1. In addition, Central 1 facilitates the sale of derivative products to member credit unions to be used in the ALM
of their respective balance sheets.
Derivatives are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position at fair value. The notional amounts are not recorded on the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position as they do not represent actual amounts exchanged. Counterparty credit risk arising from derivative contracts is managed within the context of Central 1’s overall
credit risk policies and through the existence of Credit Support Annex (CSA) agreements in place with all of its non-credit union derivatives counterparties. Under a CSA,
net fair value positions are collateralized with high quality liquid securities. Central 1’s credit exposure to its credit union counterparties is secured by the general security
arrangements it has in place with each credit union.
The fair value of derivative positions is presented in Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Guarantees and Commitments
The following table presents the maximum amount of credit that Central 1 could be required to extend if commitments were to be fully utilized, and the maximum amount of
guarantees that could be in effect if the maximum authorized amount were transacted.
Figure 15 - Guarantees and Commitments
December 31
(Millions of dollars)
Commitments to extend credit
Guarantees
Financial Guarantees
Performance Guarantees
Standby letters of credit
Mortgage purchase commitments
Future prepayment swap reinvestment commitment

2017

2016

2015

$

4,327.9

$

4,447.3

$

3,857.1

$
$
$
$
$

367.5
810.0
187.9
–
770.3

$
$
$
$
$

390.0
440.0
173.5
–
431.5

$
$
$
$
$

347.0
340.0
145.4
6.1
–

Commitments to extend credit decreased $272.5 million from a year ago. Guarantees increased $347.5 million due to higher volumes, while standby letters of credit increased
$14.4 million. Future prepayment swap reinvestment commitment increased $338.8 million.
In the normal course of business, Central 1 enters into various off-balance sheet credit instruments to meet the financing, credit and liquidity requirements of its member
credit unions. These are in the form of commitments to extend credit, standby commitments, and performance guarantees.
Commitments to extend credit and standby commitments may expose Central 1 to liquidity and credit risk, and are managed in accordance with the liquidity and funding risk
policy and the credit and counterparty risk policy.
Performance guarantees are provided to enable member credit unions to enter transactions with counterparties without the need to have that counterparty individually assess
the credit worthiness of each individual institution, and are also managed in accordance with risk policies.
Note 29 of the Consolidated Financial Statements provides further details of guarantees and commitments.

Assets under Administration
The following table summarizes Assets under Administration (AUA) as at December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 16 - Assets under Administration
December 31
(Millions of dollars)
Registered Retirement Savings Plans
Tax-Free Savings Accounts
Registered Retirement Income Funds/Life Income Funds
Registered Education Savings Plans
Registered Disability Savings Plans

2017
$

$

1,534.2
829.1
396.3
224.0
20.7
3,004.3

2016
$

$

1,558.0
729.2
369.6
210.7
15.8
2,883.3

2015
$

$

1,581.9
630.1
362.9
187.0
11.1
2,773.0
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AUA mainly include government approved registered plans for tax deferral purposes,
which are administered by Central 1 or one of its wholly owned subsidiaries.
Central 1 provides trust and administrative services on AUA for the members of the
B.C. credit union network, and the subsidiary provides the same services for the
members of the Ontario credit union network. These assets are owned by members
of Central 1’s member credit unions.
As at December 31, 2017, AUA totaled $3.0 billion, up $121.0 million or 4.2 per cent
from a year ago, mainly due to an overall increase in the Tax-Free Savings Accounts
business from both Ontario and B.C. credit unions. The Registered Retirement
Income Funds/Life Income Funds and the Registered Education Savings Plans
also increased slightly from a year ago, partially offset by a small decrease in the
Registered Retirement Savings Plans.

Capital Management and Capital Resources
Central 1 manages capital to maintain strong capital limits in support of the risks
and activities of the organization while generating an appropriate rate of return for
its members. In addition to the regulatory requirements, Central 1 considers the
expectation of credit rating agencies, credit union network growth and internal
capital ratios. The longer term strategic goal is to optimize the capital usage and
structure through the use of an economic capital model to provide a better return
for the capital invested by the members.

Capital Management Framework
Central 1’s capital management framework provides the policies and processes for
defining, measuring, and allocating capital across the organization. It defines the
roles and responsibilities in assessing capital adequacy, dividends and management
of regulatory capital requirements.
A key component of Central 1’s capital management is the annual capital planning
process that involves teams from all areas of the organization. Capital planning
has two key integrated components, the annual budget process which established
operating targets for the organization and the Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process (ICAAP) in determining the required amount of capital to cover
material risks to which the organization is exposed. The capital planning process
includes forecasting growth in assets, earnings and capital in light of projected
market conditions. These components are updated and monitored regularly during
the year.
Central 1’s share capital, with the exception of nominal amounts, is entirely held by
its Class A members, which is comprised of B.C. credit unions and its member credit
unions in Ontario. Central 1’s policy requires an annual rebalancing of Class A share

capital subscriptions so that member credit unions maintain Class A share capital in
proportion to their assets.
Central 1’s rules permit it to unconditionally require its Class A members to increase
their investment in its share capital. Class A share calls are routinely scheduled
each May and November to support the MLP. Under the terms of the Capital Policy,
Central 1’s Class A members are required to subscribe to additional Class A shares
on a semi-annual basis to ensure that Central 1’s MLP borrowing multiple meets
regulatory requirements. As Class A members contribute the funding and capital,
net earnings in the MLP is to be distributed to Central 1’s Class A members as
dividends on their Class A shares.
On April 28, 2017 Central 1’s members approved changes to Central 1’s capital
structure and received regulatory approval by FICOM on December 5, 2017. The
changes include the creation of a new class of shares, Class F shares, which will be
the primary form of capital in the MLP. Credit unions will be required to subscribe
to Class F shares based on the growth in deposits they place in the MLP rather than
their share of credit union network assets.
On transition, credit unions’ investment in Class A shares will be transferred to
Class F shares which will then be rebalanced. Credit unions that hold a larger portion
of mandatory deposits than Class A shares prior to transition will be required to
contribute additional Class F shares during the rebalancing phase. Credit unions
that hold a higher portion of Class A shares than their proportion of mandatory
deposits will have a portion of their Class F shares redeemed. All credit unions will
be required to subscribe to Class A shares in proportion to their share of network
assets. The aggregate level of Class A shares will be based on Central 1’s estimate
of regulatory capital required to support strategic and operational initiatives
over Central 1’s planning cycle which is currently $50.0 million. As a result of the
FICOM approval received on December 5, 2017, Central 1 plans to reacquire 750
thousand of Class E shares with an aggregate value of $75.0 million, which would
reduce Central 1’s regulatory capital. The series of transactions is anticipated to be
completed by March 31, 2018.

Regulatory Capital
As at December 31, 2017, Central 1’s Tier 1 regulatory capital was $1,081.3 million
and total capital before deductions was $1,507.0 million. In determining regulatory
capital, adjustments are required to amounts reflected in Central 1’s Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position. Deductions from capital are required for certain
investments, including Central 1’s substantial investments in affiliated cooperative
organizations. The computation of the provincial capital base is broadly similar to
the federal regulatory capital used for borrowing multiple purposes.
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The following table summarizes Central 1’s Capital Position as at December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 17 - Capital Position
December 31
(Millions of dollars)

2017

Share capital
Contributed surplus
Retained earnings
Less: accumulated net after tax gain in investment property
Tier 1 capital

$

Subordinated liabilities
Add: accumulated net after tax gain in investment property
Tier 2 capital
Total capital
Statutory capital adjustments
Capital base (federal)

$

Borrowing Multiple - consolidated
Borrowing Multiple - Mandatory Liquidity Pool
Borrowing Multiple - Wholesale Financial Services

428.1
72.9
585.0
(4.7)
1,081.3

2016
$

417.0
87.9
552.8
(4.7)
1,053.0

2015
$

371.0
87.9
507.0
(4.6)
961.3

421.0
4.7
425.7

421.0
4.7
425.7

218.0
4.6
222.6

1,507.0

1,478.7

1,183.9

(178.3)
1,328.7
12.4:1
15.7:1
11.9:1

$

(171.2)
1,307.5
11.9:1
15.3:1
10.5:1

$

(162.2)
1,021.7
13.2:1
15.3:1
12.9:1

2017

13.2
11.9

12.4

Borrowing Multiple (Consolidated)

2016

2015

A three-year comparison of Central 1’s capital adequacy, measured under both provincial and federal regulations, is provided above. Central 1 was in compliance with all
regulatory capital requirements during these years.
Effective August 16, 2017, FICOM amended the borrowing multiple requirements to no more than 17.0:1 for the MLP segment and no more than 15.0:1 for the WFS segment.
Following this amendment, Central 1 amended its capital limits which allowed Central 1 to return $50.0 million in capital to its Class A members. On September 29, 2017, Central 1
redeemed $30.0 million of Class A shares and paid $5.0 million dividends to Class A shareholders. On October 27, 2017, Central 1 reacquired $15.0 million of Class E shares.
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At December 31, 2017, Central 1’s consolidated borrowing multiple was 12.4:1 compared to 11.9:1 at December 31, 2016. Central 1 manages the MLP’s borrowing multiple
through semi-annual capital calls from its membership and manages the WFS’ borrowing multiple through growth in retained earnings and subordinated debt.
Note 34 to Central 1’s Consolidated Financial Statements provides further details of capital management.
The following table summarizes Central 1’s Risk Weighted Assets as at December 31, 2017 with comparatives.
Figure 18 - Risk Weighted Assets
December 31
(Millions of dollars)
On-balance sheet
Cash
Securities
Deposits with regulated FIs
Loans
Other
Off-balance sheet
Derivatives (credit equivalent amounts)
Credit commitments
Guarantees and letters of credit
Total risk weighted assets

2017
Risk Weight

0-20
0-100
20-100
20-100
0-100

Gross Assets

%
%
%
%
%

$

0-100 %
0-50 %
10-50 %
$

550.8
14,953.2
6.0
2,162.1
396.9
18,069.0
251.0
5,935.1
553.6
6,739.7
24,808.7

Capital base (provincial)
Provincial capital ratio

2016
Risk Weighted

$

$
$

110.1
1,017.7
1.2
791.0
65.4
1,985.4
50.2
292.2
110.7
453.1
2,438.5

Gross Assets

$

$

487.1
14,754.4
5.9
1,453.8
612.8
17,314.0
238.4
4,405.6
372.8
5,016.8
22,330.8

1,306.2
53.6%

2015
Risk Weighted

$

$
$

97.4
1,089.8
1.2
689.8
287.3
2,165.5
47.7
209.6
74.5
331.8
2,497.3

Gross Assets

$

$

106.8
12,610.9
6.1
1,490.8
734.4
14,949.0
263.2
3,786.9
398.2
4,448.3
19,397.3

1,288.7
51.6%

Risk Weighted

$

$
$

16.5
1,068.7
1.2
710.2
344.1
2,140.7
52.7
207.4
79.6
339.7
2,480.4
1,007.0
40.6%

2017

2016

40.6%

51.6%

53.6%

Provincial Capital Ratio

2015

The provincial capital ratio has increased from 51.6 per cent in 2016 to 53.6 per cent due to a slight increase in capital and decrease in risk weighted assets.
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Risk Discussion
Central 1’s business operations, industry and environment expose Central 1 to
a wide variety of risks, some of which are well known and readily managed and
others, such as industry or environment driven risks, that are outside of our
immediate control and influence. Central 1’s risk management is focused on
effectively managing those risks it can control and creating organizational readiness
and resilience for those risks it has limited ability to manage. Risk management
prioritizes awareness of all the risks it faces and, once identified, measuring or
assessing and then monitoring its risks. Central 1 also ensures it has the financial
strength through its profitability and capital adequacy to support its businesses and
its resultant risks.

The risk management framework is founded on several key principles:

As noted in the Business Profile, Central 1’s business involves centralized liquidity,
funding, treasury and portfolio management services, forward thinking technology
and payment settlement services and other innovative services and solutions aimed
at providing a competitive edge to member credit unions and other corporate
clients. These business activities involve inherent risks arising from day-to-day
activities and systemic and strategic risks arising from the highly competitive and
constantly evolving financial sector. These risks are identified in this section and
further discussed in the following sections.

Systemic Risk

Compliance and Strategic Risks

1. Central 1 takes business-related risks necessary to execute its strategy:
•• recognizes and accepts that there are risks inherent in providing core
services to its members
•• ensures that business strategies generate a level of value commensurate
with its respective risk profile
•• does not take speculative risks
2. Central 1 only takes risks that it understands and can manage:
•• clearly identifies, openly discusses, and explicitly accepts the risks
inherent in its businesses
•• uses the most appropriate tools, methodologies, and governance
structures to manage its risks
•• establishes clear boundaries around its risk profile and continuously
supports them with adequate levels of capital and liquidity
3. C
 entral 1 takes and manages risk in a way that maximizes good outcomes
for the credit union network:
•• tailors its risk management approach to facilitate innovation and to allow
members’ needs to be met swiftly and nimbly
•• as a D-SIFI, Central 1 considers, manages, and places risk in the best
interests of the credit union network
•• does not take risks that expose the financial strength or the reputation
of the network to critical or incapacitating harm

Operational Risk

Credit,
Counterparty,
Insurance,
Liquidity, and
Market Risks

INCREASING CONTROL AND INFLUENCE

Central 1 employs a multifaceted risk management framework designed in keeping
with the organization’s business operations and role in the credit union network,
its operational capabilities and its designation by FICOM as a D-SIFI. Our risk
management framework provides independent risk oversight across for Central 1
and its capabilities consider risk across the credit union network.

Business and Operations Risks

Systemic risk is the risk that the financial system as a whole may not withstand the
effects of a crisis resulting from extraordinary economic, political, social or financial
circumstances. This risk is inherent for a large, highly interconnected and mutually
dependent system such as the financial sector. This risk could result in financial,
reputation or other losses and is the risk that Central 1 is least able to materially
affect or influence.
Strategic risk is the potential for gaining or losing value related to making and
executing strategic business decisions in response to changes of the business
environment. Central 1 has control over its strategic decisions and decision
processes, but does not always have clear insight into competitive pressures and/
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or emerging industry and competitive threats. Central 1 is also part of a network of
credit unions and support organizations and its strategy needs to be created and
managed within this dynamic network.
Compliance risk is the potential for legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial
loss or damage to Central 1’s reputation resulting from failure to comply with
applicable laws, regulations, rules, related self-regulatory organization standards
and/or codes of conduct applicable to its activities. Central 1’s objective is to adhere
to all legislative and regulatory requirements and actively monitor the ongoing
changes arising in these areas. Central 1 actively manages its risk arising from
existing and clearly signaled legislative and regulatory requirements, but cannot as
readily manage requirements under emerging legislation and regulation given time
frames for implementation and compliance.
Operational risk is the potential for loss of value caused by people, processes,
systems, or external events. An ongoing but evolving concern for Central 1 is
cyber security, which focuses on the protection of the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of information systems from both internal and external forces. Central 1
has implemented strong monitoring and control frameworks around the internal
elements of this risk and has implemented business continuity and recovery plans
based on potential external events.
Credit risk is the potential for incurring financial loss/opportunity cost resulting
from the default or failure of a borrower, endorser, guarantor or issuer to repay their
financial obligation as they come due. Central 1’s capabilities in the measurement of
credit risk are strong and include due diligence, expected loss calculation, risk rating
models and strict limit monitoring.

credit union network in B.C. and Ontario and considers the liquidity and funding
risks for each of its member credit unions as part of Central 1’s risk.
Market risk is the potential for financial gain or loss resulting from favorable or
unfavorable movements in interest rates, exchange rates and asset prices/yields.
Central 1 uses Value-at-Risk (VaR), duration and stress scenarios among other risk
measures to monitor and report on market risk.
These risks are not managed as standalone elements but within ongoing business
and operations management. In addition, the Risk Group monitors all risk activities
and exposures, including risk transfers, migrations and transformations, as well as
risk diversification and amplification.

Risk Management Framework
The risk management framework consists of a strong governance framework
including Board and management risk committees, risk policies, management
standards and procedures, clear authorities and responsibilities, effective control
and oversight functions with clear and independent reporting lines and risk
education on key topics.
The Board and its Committees
Board of Directors
Risk Review and Investment
& Loan Committee

Audit and
Finance Committee

Technology Committee

Insurance risk is the potential for financial loss or loss to Central 1’s reputation
resulting from an inability to fully meet the obligations arising from offering
insurance. This can result from higher than expected claims frequency, claim
amounts and administration costs. Central 1 is exposed to insurance risk through
the activities of its subsidiary, CUPP Services Ltd. Central 1 manages its exposure to
insurance risk by imposing underwriting limits and robust monitoring.

The Board reviews and approves material business strategies and activities. Subject
to Central 1’s Constitution and Rules (Rules) and applicable legislation, the Board
may delegate certain duties to committees of the Board. The Board has delegated
to the Risk Review and Investment & Loan Committee (RRILC) the responsibility for
overseeing the risk-taking operations and risk management functions of Central 1
and ensuring appropriate risk governance processes are executed effectively and
that investment, lending and other business operations of Central 1 are undertaken
in a prudent and risk-informed manner. The Board has the overall responsibility
for Central 1’s business conduct. It is responsible for supervising the management
of the affairs and business of Central 1 in accordance with Central 1’s Rules and
applicable legislation and regulations.

Liquidity risk is the potential for financial loss resulting from the inability to meet
cash flow obligations in a timely manner due to an inability to generate sufficient
cash from assets or funding sources. Central 1 also provides liquidity support to the

The RRILC reviews the risk, investment and lending activities of Central 1, the
associated corporate policies and any significant and emerging events and related
action plans, and recommends any improvements or changes to the Board as

Counterparty risk is the potential for financial loss resulting from the inability of
a counterparty in a value-exchange transaction (e.g., interest rate swap, foreign
exchange deal) to fulfill its obligations. Central 1 has developed potential future
exposure modeling to complement existing capabilities around counterparty risk.
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deemed necessary or desirable. The RRILC also monitors and oversees compliance
with anti-money laundering and counter terrorism financing (AML/CTF) legislation
and related policies.
The Audit and Finance Committee (AFC) has responsibility for oversight over the
financial reporting process. The AFC’s purpose is to review:
1. The integrity of Central 1’s financial statements;
2. The external auditors’ qualifications and independence;
3.	The performance of Central 1’s internal audit function and external
auditors;
4. The adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls; and
5.	Central 1’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements affecting
financial reporting.
The AFC derives its authority from the Board and Article 14A, Rule 6 of Central 1’s
Rules. For the purposes of performing its duties, the AFC has the right to inspect
the books and records of Central 1 and its subsidiaries, and to discuss with
management, the officers, and external and internal auditors such information and
matters pertaining to the financial reporting of Central 1, as it deems necessary.
The Chairs of the AFC and the RRILC are members of both committees as mandated
by the committees’ terms of reference.
The Technology Committee has oversight over all information technology and major
project risks at Central 1.
Management and its Risk Committees
President and Chief Executive Officer

Business
Leaders
Business
Functions

Corporate Support and Control Functions
Chief Risk
Officer
Risk
Group

Chief Financial Officer
Finance
Group

Internal
Audit

Other Senior
Executives
Legal, IT, HR, ...

Management Risk Committee
Asset and Liability
Committee

Management Credit
Committee

Compliance and Operational
Risk Committee

The President and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) provides overall leadership and
vision in developing, together with Central 1’s Board, Central 1’s strategic direction,
vision, mission, goals and the business plans necessary to realize Central 1’s goals.
The incumbent is accountable to Central 1’s Class A members, through the Board,
for providing value generating services to its members, earning a sustainable
economic return and for creating an organization focused on strengthening its
members and the credit union network. The President and CEO is responsible for
the overall Central 1 risk profile and creating a culture of ethical business conduct
and prudent risk management.
Central 1’s business lines are overseen by key members of Central 1’s executive
management. The Chief Investment Officer (CIO) is responsible for the management
of Central 1’s MLP and WFS, including a variety of investment and funding programs
to meet the differing needs of Central 1’s members and clients, and the Chief
Technology and Payments Officer (currently vacant and managed by an Interim Vice
President, Digital and Payment Services) is responsible for the management of the
Digital & Payment Services to members credit unions and other corporate clients.
The Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for:
•• Overseeing Central 1’s independent Risk Group
•• Monitoring and reporting on adherence to and consistency of strategic
initiatives with the Board-approved risk appetite framework, risk tolerances,
and risk profile
•• Implementing and maintaining a sound enterprise-wide, integrated risk
governance framework
•• Overseeing and managing AML/CTF control activity in all relevant business
areas of Central 1 for the purposes of establishing a reasonable threshold
level of control consistency
The CRO develops, implements and oversees a comprehensive process for
assessing, identifying, monitoring and effectively managing pertinent business risks
that could interfere with Central 1’s core purpose and ability to grow and develop its
business lines for the benefit of the credit union network.
The CRO reports to the President and CEO and has direct access to the RRILC.
The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) is responsible for all aspects of Central 1’s financial
management, accounting and compliance with financial reporting requirements.
Operating areas include external financial reporting and regulatory filings, financial
planning and budgeting, internal management accounting, and treasury back-office
operations. The CFO plays a key role in the overall risk management framework.
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The CFO reports to the President and CEO and has direct access to the Chairperson
of the AFC.
Internal Audit’s objective is to enhance and protect organizational value by providing
risk-based and objective assurance, advice and insight. Central 1’s internal audit
function is independent of management and the Risk Group. Internal Audit develops
audit plans for approval by and reports independently to the AFC of Central 1’s
Board on the design and effectiveness of policies, procedures and internal controls.
Corporate Policy Coverage
Central 1’s risk policy framework outlines the roles and responsibilities of the
business and operations functions, Risk Group and corporate support groups in
the effective creation, approval, maintenance and communication of corporate risk
policies as well as management risk standards.
Risk policies that cover risk identification, measurement, management and reporting
are set by the Risk Group and are considered minimum requirements for the
business and operations functions and the other support and control functions.
These policies communicate Central 1’s risk appetite, limits and parameters within
which business groups and employees can operate. All risk policies are subject to
a rigorous approval process which, depending on the type and significance of the
policy, can involve different management risk committees, the RRILC and, for all
Corporate Policies, the Board.
Central 1’s risk policy framework includes the organization’s Risk Appetite
Framework and Risk Appetite Statement (RAS), which defines the types and
amounts of risk that Central 1 is willing to take in pursuit of its strategic objectives.
The RAS covers all of Central 1’s main risk categories, including Compliance Risk,
Credit Risk, Counterparty Risk, Liquidity Risk, Market Risk, Operational Risk and
Strategic Risk.
The policy framework provides clear authorities and responsibilities for all functions
and creates effective control and oversight functions with clear and independent
reporting lines. Central 1 operates a dual stream adjudication process, whereby
all risk exposures are recommended by the business and concurred with by the
Risk Group. This ensures that any potential risk exposure both supports business
objectives and is independently reviewed.
Central 1’s risk policy framework establishes definitions for the common risk
terms used by line management, risk oversight functions and support functions at
Central 1 including:
•• Risk and risk management
•• Risk categories, sub-categories, and risk drivers

•• Risk impacts
•• Risk misnomers
Central 1 undertakes rigorous risk education on several key topics. All Central 1
staff are required to complete information security training as part of the employee
onboarding process. All staff involved with funds flows, whether deposit, loan
or payments flows, must complete annual AML/CTF training. Central 1 has a
business continuity plan (BCP) and all employees with planning and/or resolution
responsibilities must complete annual BCP training.
Risk Management Process
Central 1’s Corporate Risk Management Policy outlines the organization’s risk
process and this is summarized below. The process is based on six related and
reinforcing steps, as follows:
Recognition and
Identification

Embed in Strategic
Thinking

Assessment and
Measurement

Proactive Response
and Planning

Monitoring and
Reporting

Analytics and
Management

Recognition and Identification involves the detection and description of risks that
could compromise the ability of Central 1 to achieve its business objectives, and
the disciplined analysis of those risks in order to determine their potential to affect,
individually or collectively, business objectives.
Assessment and Measurement starts with an evaluation of identified risks to
determine their potential to affect, individually or collectively, business objectives.
Appropriate methodologies and models to determine the quantum or magnitude of a
particular risk are developed and then implemented to measure that risk. Wherever
possible, such measurement is expressed in terms of potential impact on earnings,
value, and/or capital. All Central 1 exposures are measured for both normal market
conditions and stressed conditions. Stress testing is a core element in Central 1’s
approach to risk measurement and management.

•• Common risk terms
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Monitoring and Reporting involves the qualitative and quantitative measurement of
Central 1’s risk profile against approved limits, the tracking of identified risk issues,
the reporting of risk at varying levels of aggregation to Central 1’s management,
RRILC, and the Board, and the escalation of risk exposures to the appropriate
level of the organization for discussion and action. Monitoring and reporting must
be time-effective to inform and support effective management action, with the
appropriate frequency determined by the nature of both the business activity and
the risk being measured.
Analytics and Management is the transformation of measured risk data into
business-actionable risk information through the application of quantitative
modelling and methodologies, as well as skilled judgment and qualitative
interpretation. It includes trend identification and analysis, detection of correlations
and amplifications, recognition of concentrations, and assessment of the
organization’s capabilities. While necessarily based on past risk data, analytics
and management looks forward to predict possible future states and inform future
management actions.
Proactive Response and Planning entails management action informed by
business-actionable risk information. It includes both reactive measures to ensure
Central 1’s risk profile stays within the organization’s risk appetite, and identifying
forward-looking, longer term tactical plans aimed at maximizing value for Central 1,
again while staying within the organization’s risk appetite. Management options
include avoiding risk, reducing risk, accepting or maintaining risk, or increasing risk.
Central 1’s contingency and crisis management plans fit within this process element.
Embed in Strategic Thinking involves incorporating consideration of Central 1’s
actual and desired risk profile within the organization’s strategic planning process. It
includes making strategic choices at the business and enterprise levels based on an
assessment of options that is informed by risk information. Central 1 considers the
risk implications in all of its strategic and day-to-day tactical decisions.

planning process to pursue a strategy that prepares it for the risks inherent in the
environment and to deliver value for credit unions and clients.

Compliance Risk
Central 1 is exposed to compliance risk in all areas of the organization, ranging
from legislative and regulatory requirements enforced as a result of the products
and services offered by the various business lines, and through the oversight
and regulatory reporting obligations placed upon corporate control and support
functions. Compliance risk is managed by a framework that is in place to ensure that
Central 1 continues to meet the requirements of:
•• The law, to uphold its reputation and that of the credit union network
•• Government regulators, to be allowed to continue to do business
•• Financial network counterparties, to be able to provide products and services
to the credit union network
•• Internal policies, management standards, and procedures, to help ensure a
strong and efficient governance structure
Central 1’s compliance risk framework includes policies, management standards,
and operational procedures, as well as risk assessments, monitoring and reporting
processes, and relevant training. Specifically:
•• The onus is placed on each business line or functional area to manage the
compliance risk arising from its day-to-day operations. At this level, risk
management is accomplished through a combination of ongoing training
and development and documentation of operational procedures, as well as
regular risk assessments that are reported as necessary to compliance.
•• Compliance provides guidance to the business line or functional area, and
assesses, monitors, and regularly reports upon the compliance levels within
Central 1 to the CRO and, through the CRO, to the RRILC of the Board.

Risk Oversight and Management

Counterparty Risk

Central 1’s approach to managing and mitigating specific types of risk is as follows:

Within the Treasury and Digital & Payment Services operations, Central 1 incurs
counterparty risk through entering into contracts with counterparties in return for
a bilateral value-exchange of services. The counterparty risk is managed within the
same adjudication process as credit risk. Counterparty risk is currently assessed as
low given the quality of counterparties being government entities, credit unions and
banks with high external credit ratings AA-low to AAA DBRS.

Strategic Risk
Central 1 believes that pressures on all financial institutions including credit unions,
from, among other things, tight margins and financial technology disruption
characterize the current environment. Central 1 needs to be prepared to respond to
the resulting changes and opportunities. Central 1 relies on the underlying network’s
direction, ongoing member and client engagement and a continuous strategic
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Credit Risk
Within the Treasury and Digital & Payment Services operations, Central 1 incurs credit risk through loans, payment services and the purchasing of credit instruments.
Central 1’s policies establish the parameters within which the organization manages its credit risk. These policies are implemented through a number of key business
procedures. Together, the policies and procedures form a framework that includes:
•• Application of safe and sound, stringent lending and/or funding criteria to all credit exposures prior to their acquisition
•• Clearly defined management and policy limits on the amount, types, and concentrations of credit risk
•• Regular evaluation and assessment of existing credit risk exposures and allowances
•• Continuous monitoring of credit exposures so as to promptly identify deteriorating situations and take appropriate action
All potential and existing borrowers are evaluated by skilled lenders and are adjudicated by independent, highly trained credit officers. Annually, the status of each borrower
and transaction is reviewed in the same manner as a new proposal.
The exposures are concentrated in low-risk investment securities with very limited exposure to underperforming loans in the lending portfolios.
The following figure illustrates Central 1’s credit exposure and risk profile based on outstanding balances in the investment portfolios held in the MLP and WFS. WFS holds
$0.3 billion in A rated and below exposures.
Figure 19 - Credit Exposure by Portfolio and Rating
Asset Distribution
(Millions of dollars)

Investment Portfolio - (DBRS rated)
(Millions of dollars)
$8,000

MLP

Securities
6,384
Commercial Lending
628
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WFS
8,226

$0
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AA
A
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A

A
BBB
(low) (high)

BBB BBB B NR
(low) (low)

Credit risk associated with Central 1’s credit union lending portfolio has been assessed by management as low. The risk associated with the commercial loan syndication
program is currently assessed by management as low.
The following figure provides the year-end exposure in the Commercial Lending and Credit Union Lending Portfolios.
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Figure 20 – Portfolio Exposures by Risk Rating
Commercial Lending Portfolio
(Outstanding balances in millions)
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Credit Quality Performance - Commercial Lending Portfolio
No loans in the Commercial Lending Portfolio were written off in 2017. Currently there are no impaired loans in the portfolio. Watch List accounts represent 0.5 per cent of the
outstanding portfolio balance as at December 31, 2017.
The following figure provides a summary of Allowances for Credit Losses for Commercial Lending.
Figure 21 – Allowances for Credit Losses – Commercial Lending
Collective and Specific Allowance vs Outstanding Balance (in %)
Collective Allowance
Specific Allowance

0.02%

0.00%
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Credit Quality Performance - Credit Union Lending Portfolio
No loans in the Credit Union Lending Portfolio were written off in 2017. Currently,
there are no impaired loan facilities in the Credit Union Lending Portfolio. While
there are no impaired facilities in the portfolio, a number of credit unions have
been placed on the Watch List. As at December 31, 2017 there were six Ontario
and three B.C. credit unions classified as Watch List, with the total balance of $7.7
million representing 0.63 per cent of the outstanding portfolio balance. The security
provided for the Watch List facilities is substantial and no losses are expected.
Credit Quality Performance - Investments Portfolio
Central 1 has an impaired investment related to an Asset-Backed Commercial Paper
exposure. Central 1 continues to receive cash flows on the underlying assets.
Specific allowances for the impaired investment as at December 31, 2017 were
$0.4 million.
As part of its ongoing risk management activities, Central 1 performs ongoing stress
tests to measure the resiliency of its credit portfolios against a range of severe
scenarios. The stress tests provide comfort that Central 1 continues to maintain
adequate capital to withstand a range of severe economic scenarios.

Insurance Risk
Central 1 is exposed to insurance risk through the activities of its subsidiary,
CUPP Services Ltd. Central 1 manages its exposure to insurance risk by imposing
underwriting limits and undertaking robust monitoring.

Central 1’s WFS business line provides capital markets products and services
to Class A, B and C members. Product offerings include current accounts, term
deposits, credit union lending, commercial lending, access to securitization vehicles,
foreign exchange services, and derivatives. WFS is funded through members’
discretionary deposits and capital markets under Central 1’s commercial paper and
medium-term note programs.
Central 1 provides payment clearing and settlement services to Class A, B and C
members. Central 1 manages the Group Clearer function on behalf of the credit
union network nationally (excluding Quebec) and is a direct clearer through the
Payments Canada network. Central 1 provides access to global correspondent banks
for the credit union network to settle foreign currency payments. These activities
directly expose Central 1 to credit and liquidity risk from other direct participants in
the payments network. The credit and liquidity risk of these core banking functions
are managed within WFS.
Central 1 has established a comprehensive liquidity risk framework that is comprised of:
•• A robust risk governance framework
•• Investment strategies focused on maintaining sufficient unencumbered
highly liquid assets to meet cash flow requirements in normal and stressed
conditions
•• Access to diversified funding sources – member deposits and capital markets
•• Monitoring of credit union network liquidity, performance and financial health

Liquidity Risk

•• An enterprise Contingency Funding Plan (CFP)

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet cash flow obligations in a timely
manner, because Central 1 is either unable to sell securities at a desired market
price or unable to secure the funds needed to meet its obligations when due.
Liquidity events can be caused by an internal mismatch between the cash flows of
Central 1’s assets and liabilities, external idiosyncratic or systemic market and credit
events or unexpected changes in the liquidity needs of Central 1’s members. Sound
liquidity management by Central 1 ensures the safety of credit union members’
deposits and the health of credit union network.

•• Frequent measurement of portfolio liquidity

Central 1’s mandate includes the management of credit union members’ access to
liquidity in B.C. and Ontario. Credit unions are required to hold (by regulation in B.C.
and by contractual agreement in Ontario) their core liquidity reserves in the MLP.
Board, management and regulatory guidelines ensure that deposits are supported
by highly liquid assets. These assets are held to provide liquidity to credit unions in
the event of a liquidity crisis.

Investment Strategies
Central 1 invests in a sufficient quantity of highly liquid assets to ensure that it can
meet the deposit withdrawal and borrowing requirements of its member in normal
and stressed market environments. Central 1 views the following assets as highly
liquid and includes them in management’s assessment of portfolio liquidity:
1. G
 OC securities, GOC guaranteed securities (including NHA MBS and CMB),
Canadian provincial and municipal governments securities and other high
quality government assets meeting OSFI’s definition of HQLA.
2. O
 ther securities eligible to be pledged to the BOC in the form of financial
institution and investment grade corporate debt (collectively other BOC
Standing Liquidity Fund (SLF) eligible assets).
3. U
 SD denominated variants of the securities identified in groups (1) and (2)
above.
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MLP deposits are backed entirely by assets in one of the three categories above.
USD denominated debt is matched against the USD denominated deposits to
ensure that exposure to foreign currency market risk is mitigated. MLP assets
are not currently used to meet derivative and clearing and settlement collateral
requirements; consequently, the portfolio is 100 per cent unencumbered.

Contingency Funding Plan
Central 1 provides financial stewardship of the liquidity deposits of the B.C. and
Ontario credit union networks. Accordingly, it is imperative that Central 1 maintain
members’ trust and confidence by ensuring the existence of an appropriate plan to
provide the credit union network with access to funding during a liquidity crisis.

WFS liquidity management is more complex than for MLP and, consequently, it is
subject to a more rigorous measurement and monitoring regime. A portion of WFS
liabilities is invested in HQLA as defined above, sufficient to ensure the portfolio’s
liquidity objectives are met. These liabilities are also invested in credit union
and commercial loans and residential mortgages. As part of its normal business
operations, Central 1 makes commitments to grant loans to credit unions and
commercial borrowers, enters into derivatives and securities lending transactions,
and is a participant in the national clearing and settlements network. Central 1
encumbers a portion of WFS’ highly liquid assets to support these activities. Asset
encumbrances are closely monitored, limited to 20.0 per cent of the portfolio and
excluded from liquidity measures as they are not available to support payment
obligations.

Given that a Central 1 liquidity crisis would likely be the result of a liquidity event
that flows through the credit union network, Central 1 continually monitors the
network and its environment for indicators of impending stress. Although there is a
low probability of a significant liquidity crisis occurring, Central 1 monitors the risk
and has implemented a CFP should such a crisis occur.

Diversification of Funding
Central 1’s liquidity management framework is designed to ensure that reliable
and cost-effective funding sources are available to satisfy current and prospective
commitments of Central 1 and its member credit unions. Diversification of
funding sources provides flexibility and minimizes concentration risk. It is a crucial
component of Central 1’s overall liquidity management strategy.
The MLP is funded primarily through Class A member statutory (for B.C.) or
contractual (for Ontario) deposits.
WFS is funded through a combination of Class A, B and C member deposits and
capital markets borrowing. Central 1 regularly issues commercial paper and mediumterm notes in the capital markets. Central 1 also issues subordinated debt. Regular
participation in these markets and the maintenance of a strong external credit rating
is critical for ensuring that capital markets access is maintained. Central 1 funds a
portion of its purchases of residential mortgages and credit union NHA MBS through
the NHA MBS and CMB mortgage securitization programs.
Credit Union Network Health Analysis
Central 1’s liquidity is directly affected by the liquidity of the B.C. and Ontario credit
union networks and the liquidity of its Class B and C members. Central 1 closely
monitors credit unions’ financial positions for any indication of negative liquidity
trends. Utilization of lending facilities, liquidity ratios, deposit levels, economic
conditions, and use of capital market and other funding sources are among the
items regularly monitored.

Risk Monitoring
Central 1 monitors its asset and liability positions, encumbrances, commitments,
cash flows and funding to better understand its liquidity capacity and its sensitivity
to changing market conditions. Central 1 includes the following types of assets in its
liquidity measures (including Liquidity Coverage Ratios) as highly liquid assets:
•• HQLA 1. Assets issued by the GOC, provincial governments and securities
secured by GOC as defined by OSFI
•• HQLA 2. Investment grade corporate, covered debt and residential mortgagebacked securities (RMBS) as defined by OSFI
•• Other SLF Eligible. Securities eligible to be pledged to the BOC in the form of
financial institution and investment grade corporate debt (collectively other
BOC SLF eligible assets) not included in HQLA 1 or 2; and USD denominated
variants of the securities identified in groups above (per agreement with
FICOM)
In the MLP investment strategy, limits and regulations ensure that MLP deposits
are entirely covered by HQLA 1, HQLA 2 and Other SLF Eligible assets. Note that
the nominal amount of other assets relates to tax and other accounting based
non-marketable assets. Since the entire portfolio is highly liquid and eligible to
be pledged to the BOC SLF, management is confident that the portfolio can be
converted to cash through sale, repurchase agreement or pledging to the BOC to
meet member needs in a liquidity stress event.
The majority of assets in the WFS is highly liquid and can be readily sold or pledged
to the BOC to generate cash to support member deposit withdrawals or the
drawdown of committed loan facilities in both normal and stressed markets. While
WFS holds other less liquid assets, the quantity of highly liquid assets is greater than
the level of funding provided by member deposits.
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The following figure illustrates the relationship between assets and liabilities.
Figure 22 – Asset and Liability Allocations
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The Maturity Gap provides a picture of the mismatch between the contractual maturity of Central 1’s asset and liabilities. These gaps, even under normal market conditions,
must be closed by Central 1 receiving additional funding or liquidating assets. Under normal market conditions, the MLP maturity gaps are generally funded by members
rolling over or renewing their mandatory or contractual deposits as, typically, credit union deposits are growing. The maturity gaps reported for WFS are within normal levels.
The following figure shows the Maturity Gap for MLP and WFS.
Figure 23 - Asset and Liability Allocations
WFS Maturity Gap Report
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The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) measures whether Central 1 has sufficient unencumbered highly liquid assets to cover its cash flow obligations over a 30-day horizon
under a stressed deposit withdrawal scenario. For the MLP, management currently assumes a 100 per cent drawdown of member deposits. For WFS, the standard OSFI deposit
drawdown assumptions are used. Targets for MLP and WFS are set at 100 per cent for the LCR.
The following table shows that the LCR remains stable for both MLP and WFS on a quarter-over-quarter basis, and above the 100 per cent target set for the WFS. LCR for
WFS was 174.7 per cent while MLP was 105.7 per cent for the quarter ended December 31, 2017. The ratios for both WFS and MLP show a satisfying level of liquid assets are
maintained for adequate coverage of the short-term cash outflows.
Figure 24 – Liquidity Coverage Ratio
Liquidity coverage ratio
Mandatory Liquidity Pool
Wholesale Financial Services
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Net Cumulative Cash Flow (NCCF) measures whether assets are of sufficient quality and quantity to support a prolonged drawdown of deposits and drawdown of committed
lending facilities with limited access to capital market funding. Central 1 assesses NCCF measures under three scenarios:
•• OSFI Scenario. OSFI guidelines for the NCCF test presumes that all assets are liquidated in week one and tests whether the cash generated is sufficient to fund
obligations for 12 months
•• Central 1’s Base Case Scenario. The base case assumes no deposit withdrawal and the renewal of all maturing loans and debt issuances.
•• Central 1’s Severe Stress Scenario. The stress scenario assumes that the largest B.C. and Ontario credit unions withdraw all deposits and draw down on committed
loan facilities. The scenario assumes no access to capital markets and that funding is obtained by gradual liquidation of assets.
The following figure illustrates WFS’ ability to meet deposits withdrawals under three scenarios. A non-negative cash flow in each period indicates a positive outcome of the test.
Figure 25 - Net Cumulative Cashflow
Net Cumulative Cash Flow
Wholesale Financial Services
OSFI
C1 Base Case
C1 Stress

CAD Billions

5
4
3
2
1

0

Week 1

Week 2

Week 3

Week 4

Month 2

Month 3

Month 4 to 6

Month 7 to 12

The following figure illustrates WFS portfolios’ ability to cover undrawn lending commitments under the base case (business as usual) and a severe stress scenario. Under the
base scenario, undrawn lending commitments can be met with the sale of assets. In the severe stress scenario, lending commitments can be covered from asset sales through
month three, but access to capital markets would be required to cover 100 per cent of undrawn commitments in months four through 12.
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Figure 26 – Undrawn Commitment Coverage
WFS Undrawn Commitment Coverage
Central 1 Stress Scenario
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Remaining Eligible Unencumbered Liquid Assets

Remaining Access to Market issuance
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Month
7-12
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FICOM performed a Supervisory Review of Central 1’s Liquidity Management in 2016. Amongst a few recommendations, Central 1 has augmented its existing stress tests to
include the following scenarios:
•• Default of the largest non-credit union system and non-governmental counterparty
•• Drawdown of committed facilities and deposits of the largest and three largest credit unions
The stress testing assesses the adequate stock of unencumbered liquid assets to meet Central 1’s liquidity needs for 30 calendar days under different liquidity stress scenarios
(LCR Based). Central 1 has met the expectations of these stress test consistently throughout 2017.

Market Risk
The level of market risk to which Central 1 is exposed varies depending on market conditions, future price and market movements and the composition of Central 1’s
investment, lending and derivative portfolios.
Central 1 manages its exposure to market risk through a range of governance and management processes. Central 1’s policies detail the measurement of market risk and
establish exposure limits in keeping with Central 1’s overall risk appetite. Central 1 independently monitors exposure against limits, investigates any breaches and reports them
at the appropriate level for review and action. This management framework is complemented by a series of rigorous stress test scenarios that are run on a regular basis.
Central 1 will not incur market risk for speculative purposes or in pursuit of returns beyond those required to reasonably fulfill its primary mandate of safeguarding network
liquidity.
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Value-at-Risk
Central 1 regularly monitors its exposure to market risk. Central 1 has established separate market risk appetite limits for the MLP and WFS. The current limits approved by the
Board are set at 10 bps or 0.10 percent of MLP asset market value and 11 bps or 0.11 percent of WFS asset market value. As of quarter end, the limits were $8.4 million for
MLP and $9.0 million for WFS. Central 1 complied with MLP and WFS limits during fourth quarter.
Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements provides additional information on the fair value of financial assets and liabilities compared to their carrying value.
The following tables summarizes Central 1’s VaR for MLP and WFS.
Figure 27 - VaR by Risk Type
Mandatory Liquidity Pool
2017
Millions of dollars
Interest Rate VaR
Credit Spread VaR
Foreign Exchange VaR
Diversification1
Total VaR

Q4 2017
$

$

5.1
4.8
0.1
(4.2)
5.8

Q3 2017
$

$

4.5
5.0
0.1
(3.9)
5.7

Q4 2016
$

$

7.0
3.1
0.8
(4.6)
6.3

Average
$

6.2
3.9
0.1
nm
6.2

$

High
$

10.3
5.1
0.8
nm
10.0

$

Low
$

3.7
2.0
0.0
nm
4.7

$

Wholesale Financial Services
2017
Millions of dollars
Interest Rate VaR
Credit Spread VaR
Foreign Exchange VaR
Diversification1
Total VaR

Q4 2017
$

$

1.6
1.3
2.1
(2.4)
2.6

Q3 2017
$

$

1.9
1.3
2.2
(2.2)
3.2

Q4 2016
$

$

5.5
1.8
2.9
(4.5)
5.7

Average
$

$

3.2
1.5
2.0
nm
4.0

High
$

$

5.9
2.1
3.4
nm
7.1

Low
$

$

Total VaR is less than the sum of Risk Factors’ VaR as a result of diversification and offsetting risk factors.

1

nm - Not meaningful to calculation
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Figure 28 - Daily 99% VaR by Business Line
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There was a breach on the market risk limit in MLP on July 19, 2017. Specifically, the reported exposure of $9.96 million exceeded the previous VaR limit of $9.86 million.
This was deemed to be a technical breach and modified VaR calculations and limits were introduced on July 20, 2017 to address the issues. The new VaR methodology more
accurately represents risk exposure.
Stress Testing
VaR Stress Testing allows us to test the performance of the portfolio in different market environments. Stress tests are measured using a 10-day 99 per cent VaR.
Stress tests are conducted over three historical periods:
•• Pre-Lehman Crisis (October 2006 through December 2007) – widening in short-term spreads and increased volatility in the USD-CAD spot rate
•• Lehman Crisis (January 2008 through May 2009) – widening of short-term, corporate, MBS and other yields with high volatility in the USD-CAD rate
•• European Crisis (November 2010 through December 2013) – rising short-term spreads and USD-CAD rate volatility
The MLP portfolio is most exposed to market events similar to the Lehman Crisis. This crisis is characterized by the widening of spreads between corporate and government
bonds, high volatility in the USD-CAD spot rate and negative real Fed funds rate.
The WFS portfolio is most exposed to market events similar to the Pre-Lehman Crisis. This period is characterized by moderate increases in corporate and bank spreads,
declining sovereign and swap rates, and an appreciating Canadian dollar.
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The following figure illustrates the stress tests as at December 31, 2017.
Figure 29 - VaR Stress Test
Mandatory Liquidity
Pool

December 31, 2017 (Millions of dollars)
10 Day VaR
Pre-Lehman Crisis (Oct 2006 - Dec 2007)
Lehman Crisis (Jan 2008 - May 2009)
European Crisis (Nov 2010 - Dec 2013)

$
$
$
$

11.2
13.0
25.7
21.1

Wholesale Financial
Services
$
$
$
$

7.1
11.7
10.9
14.8

Direction and Sources of Interest Rate Risk
Central 1 uses a number of secondary market risk measures to help understand the direction and sources of interest rate risk in the MLP and WFS portfolios. DV01 measures
the sensitivity of the portfolio to one bp increase in interest rates.
Foreign Exchange Rate Exposure
Central 1 has assets and liabilities denominated in several major currencies and buys foreign currencies from, and sells these currencies to its member credit unions. The risk
associated with changing foreign currency values is managed by applying limits on the amounts (short or long positions) that can be maintained in the various currencies,
utilizing derivative exchange contracts to lessen the impact of on-balance sheet positions and through VaR management limits. Exposure is concentrated in USD and only a
relatively small amount is held in other major currencies.
The following table provides the Foreign Exchange Position as at December 31, 2017.
Figure 30 - Foreign Exchange Position
Balance Sheet in
Native Currency

Currency (Millions of dollars)
USD

$

(116.8)

Off-Balance Sheet
Items - FX Forwards
$

133.9

Net Position in
Native Currency
$

17.1

BOC Closing Rate
$

1.2538

CAD Equivalent
$

21.4

Note 33 to the Consolidated Financial Statements provides additional information regarding Central 1’s foreign currency exposure.

Operational Risk
Operational risk is measured by referring to organizational and industry loss events combined with estimates of frequency from the historical record and key risk drivers. While
the financial impact associated with operational risk can be significant, it is equally important to recognize the less identifiable and quantifiable non-financial impacts. Real
or perceived changes in an institution’s credibility can damage its reputation, image, and stakeholder confidence, thereby negatively affecting the institution’s results in the
future.
Given the high volume of transactions Central 1 processes on behalf of its members and external organizations, shortcomings in its internal processes could lead to financial
and reputational damage. Furthermore, although Central 1 has contingency and business continuity plans, natural disasters, power or telecommunications disruptions, acts
of terrorism, physical or electronic break-ins or other events could adversely impact Central 1’s ability to provide services to its members, damage Central 1’s reputation or
otherwise adversely impact Central 1’s ability to conduct business.
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Central 1 manages this type of risk through implementing policies and associated
procedures that are fundamental to its operating infrastructure. Elements include:
•• Developing and maintaining a comprehensive system of internal controls
encompassing segregation of functional activities, managerial reporting and
delegation of authority
•• Continuous monitoring, evaluation, and improvement of Central 1’s
operational practices
•• Selection and training of highly qualified staff, supported by policies that
provide for skills upgrading, clear authorization levels and adherence to an
employee code of conduct
•• Maintaining a comprehensive portfolio of insurance to reduce the impact of
any potential losses
•• Contingency business resumption plans for activation in response to systems
failure or catastrophic events, including off-site data storage and back-up
processing capabilities for all critical operations
As well as having the above measures in place, Central 1’s policies provide for
regular, ongoing review of its practices and procedures by internal audit teams,
technology systems security personnel and management personnel. External
resources, when required, also supplement the internal reviews. In addition, both
provincial and federal regulatory agencies undertake periodic reviews of Central 1’s
operations and contingency plans.
Central 1 continues to experience increasing exposure to technological risk and
has implemented real-time intrusion detection monitoring of its remote banking
applications and uses an external agency to continuously monitor security
performance. Central 1 continues to invest in the infrastructure to successfully
defend against a variety of cyber-attacks on behalf of member credit unions,
reducing their exposure and the risk of significant negative effects.

Reputation
Central 1 recognizes that its reputation is among its most important assets, and
considers reputational impact in all of its business and planning practices. Integrity
and ethical conduct are core values for Central 1, and these are fostered at the most
fundamental levels of the organization through the adherence of each employee and
contractor to Central 1’s Code of Conduct. In addition to the key principles listed in
the Corporate Risk Management Policy (the Policy), the following specific principles
govern Central 1’s management of its reputation:
•• Central 1 will maintain the highest degree of integrity and ethical conduct
at all times. Everything Central 1 does and every decision it makes will be
guided by principles of honesty, integrity, respect and ethical standards.

•• Central 1 will avoid activities that may harm either Central 1’s reputation or
the reputation of the credit union network.
•• Central 1 will consider the reputational impact on Central 1 of all business
activities that it undertakes.

Emerging Risks
Emerging risks are risks that are newly developing or rapidly changing. They are
difficult to quantify and may have a major impact on Central 1. They are investigated
because of the substantial potential impact on Central 1’s business.
Central 1 identifies and assesses emerging risks in various ways, including at the
strategic planning and business unit levels. These include risk oversight committee
discussions and regular risk reviews to identify, assess and ensure that management
is forward-looking in its treatment of emerging risks. Emerging risks are quantified
using established techniques where possible or qualitatively assessed on the basis
of impact and likelihood.

Accounting and Control Matters
Central 1’s 2017 annual Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared
using the same accounting policies as set out in Note 3 to those statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS,
management must exercise judgements and make estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of accounting policies and the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities, net income and related disclosures. The most significant areas for
which management must make subjective or complex estimates and judgements
include financial instruments measured at fair value, allowance for credit losses,
income taxes and pension and post-retirement benefits. Actual results could differ
materially from those estimates. Note 4 to Central 1’s 2017 annual Consolidated
Financial Statements provides additional details regarding estimates and
judgements used by management in preparing these statements.

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
In July 2014, International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued the complete
version of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which will replace IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 is effective for Central 1 for the
annual periods beginning on January 1, 2018 and is to be applied retrospectively
with some exemptions. As permitted, Central 1 will not restate the comparative
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period financial statements, but instead recognize the transition impact through
adjustments to the opening balances of retained earnings and accumulated other
comprehensive income as at January 1, 2018.
Implementation approach
Central 1’s implementation approach is based on five work streams including
Scoping, Analysis, Development, Testing, and Go-live. Central 1’s IFRS 9 project
has focused on developing accounting policies, assessing business models for
the classification and measurement of financial instruments, and developing and
validating impairment models to support the IFRS 9 impairment conclusions.
Classification and measurement
Under IFRS 9, financial assets will be classified as amortized cost, fair value through
profit or loss (FVTPL), or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
based on the business model for managing assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial asset.
Upon transition, the business model assessment will be based on the facts and
circumstances as at January 1, 2018. Debt instruments that have contractual cash
flows representing solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) and are managed
within a business model that is held-to-collect, are classified as amortized cost.
Debt instruments that meet the SPPI test and are managed within a business model
that is held-to-collect and for sale, are classified as FVOCI with changes in fair value
recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI) until the asset is derecognized,
upon which the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified to
profit or loss. All other debt instruments will be classified and measured as FVTPL.
Equity instruments would generally be measured at FVTPL unless an irrevocable
election is made to classify these instruments at FVOCI which will result in change
in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI) with no subsequent
impact to profit or loss upon the sale of the instruments.
The classification and measurement of financial liabilities remain essentially
unchanged under IFRS 9 except for financial liabilities designated as FVTPL. Once
the designation is made, changes in the fair value attributable to an entity’s own
credit risk should generally be recognized in other comprehensive income without
subsequent reclassification in profit or loss.
Impairment
IFRS 9 introduces a new expected credit loss (ECL) model applicable for all debt
instruments financial assets classified as amortized cost or FVOCI, as well as
certain off-balance sheet loan commitments and financial guarantees. Compared
to the current incurred loss model under IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition

and Measurement, the new ECL will result in an allowance for credit losses being
recorded regardless of whether there has been an actual loss event. For financial
assets that are credit impaired or have experienced a significant increase in credit
risk, the loss allowance is recognized based on expected credit losses that result
from possible default events over the expected lifetime (lifetime ECL). The loss
allowance for all other financial assets are recognized based on the expected credit
losses that result from possible default events within twelve months of the reporting
date (twelve months ECL).
The definition of credit impaired is similar to an incurred credit loss under IAS 39.
The determination of ECL requires consideration of past events, current conditions
and forward-looking information.
Hedge accounting
IFRS 9 also introduces new hedge accounting rules that align hedge accounting
more closely with risk management and expands the scope of hedged items and
risks eligible for hedge accounting. IFRS 9 includes an accounting policy choice
which permits the application of existing rules under IAS 39 for hedge accounting.
Central 1 has elected to retain the hedge accounting requirements under IAS 39.
However, Central 1 will implement the revised hedge accounting disclosures that
are required by the IFRS 9 related amendments to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments:
Disclosures, in its 2018 consolidated financial statements.
Transition
Based on December 31, 2017 data and current implementation status, Central
1 expects the adoption of IFRS 9 will lead to a reclassification impact in equity
between retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income as at
January 1, 2018 due to the classification and measurement requirements and
the own credit risk assessment. The estimate of the impact of applying the new
impairment model for financial assets is not significant. Central 1 will continue
to validate and refine its impairment models and the process controls related to
classification and measurement as required under IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
which will replace the current revenue recognition standards IAS 18, Revenue,
and related interpretations. In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS
15, clarifying some requirements and providing additional transition relief at the
date of initial application. The standard introduces a single comprehensive model
to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and applies to all
contracts with customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of other
IFRS standards such as leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments.
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Therefore, the adoption of IFRS 15 will not impact certain revenue streams of
Central 1, including interest income, interest expense, gain (loss) on disposal of
financial instruments and change in fair value of financial instruments.
IFRS 15 is effective for Central 1 for the annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2018. As permitted, Central 1 will not restate the comparative period financial
statements, but instead recognize the transition impact through an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings as at January 1, 2018. Central 1 has
established a project to determine the impact of IFRS 15. Central 1’s implementation
approach consists of performing a detailed assessment of the significant revenue
contracts through applying a five-step model which includes:
•• Identifying the contract,
•• Identifying the performance obligations within the contract,
•• Determining the transaction price,
•• Allocating the price to the performance obligations in the contract, and
•• Recognizing revenue.
Central 1 is continuing to review its revenue contracts that fall within the scope of
IFRS 15 and to assess the impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements, including
the additional disclosure requirements. Based on December 31, 2017 data and
current implementation status, the standard is not expected to have a material
impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance
that all relevant information is gathered and reported on a timely basis to senior
management, so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public
disclosure. As at the end of the year covered by this MD&A, management evaluated
Central 1’s disclosure controls and procedures as required by Canadian securities
laws.
Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that the disclosure controls
and procedures were effective in providing reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed in Central 1’s filings, as such term is defined under the
Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of
Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings, is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified by those laws, and that material
information is accumulated and communicated to management as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Internal Controls and Procedures
Central 1 evaluated the design of its internal controls and procedures over financial
reporting as defined under National Instrument 52-109 for the year ended
December 31, 2017. Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that the
design of its internal monitoring controls and procedures over financial reporting
was effective.

IFRS 16 - Leases
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases, which will replace IAS 17, Leases,
and related interpretations. IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease
accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset representing
its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to
make lease payments. There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and
leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standard,
and lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.
IFRS 16 has a mandatory effective date for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. The standard may be adopted retrospectively by applying the
new lease definition to all contracts, or as of the application date by adjusting
the retained earnings at that date and applying the new definition only to new
contracts. Central 1 is not able to determine the impact of IFRS 16 on Central 1’s
Consolidated Financial Statements at this time.
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Transactions with Related Parties
In the normal course of business, Central 1 grants loans to its key management personnel under the same terms as those offered to any other employees. Key management
personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Central 1, which include Central 1’s Executive
Management and Vice-Presidents. As of December 31, 2017, these loans totaled $364 thousand.
Details of Central 1’s investments in subsidiaries, affiliates and the compensation of key management personnel and the Board are disclosed in Note 35 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements as at December 31, 2017.

Credit Ratings
Central 1’s debt securities are rated by DBRS and S&P.
Figure 31 – Credit Ratings

Instrument rating
Senior debt
Subordinated debt
Short-term debt
Issuer rating
Rating outlook

DBRS

S&P

A (high)
A
R-1 (middle)

A–
BBB+
A–2

Stable

Stable
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Five Year Summary – Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Thousands of dollars)
Assets
Cash
Deposits with regulated financial institutions
Trading assets
Reinvestment assets under the Canada Mortgage Bond Program
Derivative assets
Loans
Investment securities
Secured loans to members
Current tax assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Investments in affiliates
Settlements in-transit
Other assets
Total Assets

2017

$

$

Liabilities
Deposits designated as trading
Obligations related to securities sold short
Derivative liabilities
Debt securities issued
Deposits
Obligations under the Canada Mortgage Bond Program
Subordinated liabilities
Provisions
Securities under repurchase agreements
Deferred tax liabilities
Settlements in-transit
Other liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Reserves
Total equity attributable to members of Central 1
Non-controlling interest
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

550,763
5,975
8,889,745

545,247
101,839
2,162,059
5,518,174
–
7,027
21,122
34,665
14,615
143,642
44,134
29,893
18,068,900

2016

$

$

487,128
5,885
8,772,130
360,570
81,807
1,453,802
5,621,749
–
8,020
18,022
25,147
5,171
130,700
327,062
16,826
17,314,019

2015

$

$

106,834
6,104
6,765,557
165,146
116,631
1,490,839
5,680,158
–
397
18,807
19,897
11,924
125,767
427,167
13,790
14,949,018

$

$

2014

2013

145,203
6,198
5,778,553

74,153
7,132
4,376,856

65,518
42,162
1,047,637
5,475,562
–
3,175
18,388
13,246
10,342
122,390
308,449
16,057
13,052,880

306,914
29,383
1,157,972
5,553,354
229,620
4,338
16,111
12,198
6,371
120,107
280,976
18,957
12,194,442

$

8,561,503
95,503
83,933
2,178,650
3,436,892
1,190,108
421,765
1,854
500,472
23,000
389,814
66,285
16,949,779

8,659,505
74,100
85,660
1,490,730
3,250,470
1,236,058
421,406
1,688
298,416
9,146
643,602
58,363
16,229,144

7,546,745
29,415
130,805
1,075,344
3,250,036
989,611
218,247
1,882
221,211
7,407
432,913
56,382
13,959,998

5,483,413
181,534
104,174
1,568,840
3,448,098
595,151
217,581
2,958
105,698
5,971
344,569
70,050
12,128,037

3,332,189
66,704
150,645
1,097,509
5,167,617
831,762
169,139
3,991
106,706
4,699
329,398
57,745
11,318,104

428,143
72,897
584,971
19,072
3,950
1,109,033
10,088
1,119,121
18,068,900

416,996
87,901
552,782
13,119
4,034
1,074,832
10,043
1,084,875
17,314,019

370,996
87,901
506,979
9,231
3,954
979,061
9,959
989,020
14,949,018

333,118
87,901
467,072
23,099
3,751
914,941
9,902
924,843
13,052,880

307,185
87,901
433,171
35,078
3,130
866,465
9,873
876,338
12,194,442

$

$

$

$
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Five Year Summary – Consolidated Statements of Profit
(Thousands of dollars)
Interest income
Securities
Deposits with regulated financial institutions
Loans
Reinvestment assets under the Canadian Mortgage Bond Program

2017

$

Interest expense
Debt securities issued
Deposits
Obligations under the Canadian Mortgage Bond Program
Subordinated liabilities

Interest margin
Gains (loss) on disposal of financial instruments
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Net financial income
Provision for (recovery) for credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits
Premises and equipment
Other administrative expenses

Profit before income taxes
Income taxes
Profit for the year

$

208,050
164
37,487
8,167
253,868

2016

$

170,947
100
29,530
5,896
206,473

2015

$

155,253
115
20,955
1,880
178,203

2014

$

162,635
130
24,730
6,076
193,571

2013

$

159,427
295
29,917
43,817
233,456

31,490
138,038
18,681
12,470
200,679

15,594
117,848
17,859
7,564
158,865

18,301
114,429
14,065
6,260
153,055

22,752
119,355
14,950
8,610
165,667

18,159
122,729
52,726
6,542
200,156

53,189
(34,630)
54,886
73,445
(120)
73,565
149,889
223,454

47,608
8,174
11,747
67,529
86
67,443
140,499
207,942

25,148
2,111
22,809
50,068
(86)
50,154
140,706
190,860

27,904
7,227
37,224
72,355
(15)
72,370
119,745
192,115

33,300
26,152
29,290
88,742
(1,203)
89,945
115,829
205,774

76,156
9,073
79,260
164,489

74,175
7,300
60,122
141,597

69,527
7,048
52,972
129,547

70,126
8,830
50,525
129,481

64,729
8,624
53,423
126,776

58,965
10,321

66,345
9,305

61,313
8,963

62,634
9,044

78,998
10,548

48,644

$

57,040

$

52,350

$

53,590

$

68,450
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Statistical (Millions of dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Average Assets
Average cash, securities and deposits with regulated financial institutions
Average loans
Average debt securities issued
Average subordinated liabilities

2017
$

As a Percent of Average Assets
Average cash & securities and deposits with regulated FI’s
Average loans
Average debt securities issued
Average subordinated liabilities

17,851.2
14,708.3
1,928.6
1,723.0
422.1

82.4
10.8
9.7
2.4

Yields / Costs
Cash, securities and deposits with regulated financial institutions
Loans
Debt securities issued

2016
$

%
%
%
%

2015

15,739.6
13,332.9
1,482.0
1,242.2
261.0

84.7
9.4
7.9
1.7

$

%
%
%
%

2014

14,042.1
12,243.4
1,027.8
1,319.8
218.0

87.2
7.3
9.4
1.6

$

%
%
%
%

2013

12,947.6
10,843.1
1,062.3
1,337.7
280.1

83.7
8.2
10.3
2.2

$

13,180.0
9,907.5
1,310.4
1,021.3
168.9

%
%
%
%

75.2
9.9
7.7
1.3

%
%
%
%

1.4 %
1.9 %
1.7 %

1.3 %
2.0 %
1.2 %

1.3 %
2.0 %
1.3 %

1.5 %
2.3 %
1.6 %

1.6
2.3
1.6

%
%
%

Returns on Average
Assets
Share capital
Equity

0.3 %
11.4 %
4.4 %

0.4 %
14.9 %
5.6 %

0.4 %
15.2 %
5.5 %

0.4 %
17.0 %
5.9 %

0.5
23.3
8.2

%
%
%

Returns on Average
Assets (before taxes and dividends)
Share capital (before taxes and dividends)
Equity (before taxes and dividends)

0.3 %
13.9 %
5.3 %

0.4 %
17.4 %
6.5 %

0.4 %
17.8 %
6.5 %

0.5 %
19.9 %
6.9 %

0.6
26.9
9.5

%
%
%

5.4 %
15.1
4.3
1.7
11,785.7
1,723.0
600.7
424.9
1,111.7
23.1

3.3 %
15.0
3.6
1.1
11,103.8
1,242.2
259.1
382.0
1,023.2
13.6

3.9 %
14.1
4.2
1.0
9,768.4
1,319.7
215.1
345.0
949.1
14.4

6.7 %
13.1
7.1
1.4
8,770.2
1,356.3
126.8
314.7
901.9
22.4

4.6
12.9
4.8
1.4
8,682.1
1,021.3
143.9
294.2
835.7
14.0

%

Dividends as % year-end capital
Debt/equity ratio
Dividends per share - Class A (cents)
Dividends per share - Class B and C (cents)
Average deposits
Average debt securities issued
Average repurchase agreements
Average share capital
Average equity
Dividends

$

$

$

$

$
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Glossary of Financial Terms
Asset-Backed Commercial Paper is a short-term investment with a maturity that
is typically less than 180 days. The commercial paper is backed by physical assets
such as trade receivables and is generally used for short-term financing needs.
Basis Point (bps) is one one-hundredth of a percentage point.
Borrowing Multiple is the ratio of Central 1’s total borrowings to regulatory capital.
Capital Base includes Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital, net of certain deductions.
Capital Ratio is the ratio of risk-adjusted assets to capital as defined by provincial
legislation. The provincial legislation closely approximates that applied to other
financial institutions by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions.
Commitments to extend credit are amounts in undrawn credit facilities and
unutilized lending arrangements that have been authorized to Central 1’s members.
Credit Spread is the difference between the yield of a given debt security and the
yield of a risk-free government bond with similar maturity.
Derivatives are contracts which require little or no initial investment and where
payments between parties are “derived” from movements in interest or foreign
exchange rates, indices, equities or commodity prices. Derivatives allow for the
transfer, modification or reduction of current or expected risks from changes in
rates and prices.
Earnings Per Share (EPS) is calculated by dividing profit by the average number of
member common shares outstanding.
Fair Value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm’s
length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no
compulsion to act.
Group Clearer is the arrangement whereby Central 1 is appointed as the group clearing
member of the Payments Canada that, on its own behalf and on behalf of the clearing
Centrals, exchanges payment items and effects clearing and settlement into the
Payments Canada system.
Hedging is a risk management technique used to neutralize or manage interest rate,
foreign currency, equity, commodity or credit exposures arising from normal business
activities.

Interest Margin is the difference between the amounts of interest earned on
interest bearing assets less the amounts of interest paid on liabilities that have
interest charges associated with them and include both on- and-off-balance sheet
financial instruments.
Liquidity is the ability to meet debt obligations, guarantees and commitments
as they become due through the use of cash or the conversion of assets that are
readily convertible to cash.
Mark-to-Market represents the valuation of securities and derivatives at market rates
as of the balance sheet date, where required by accounting rules.
Net Income is a performance measure used to describe the B.C. and Ontario credit
union networks. It is the source of retained earnings and is equal to net operating
income after income taxes, but before dividends, patronage refunds, charitable
donations, capital gains/extraordinary items and other comprehensive income.
Net Financial Income consists of interest and dividend income earned on financial
assets, plus realized and unrealized gains or losses on financial instruments, and less
interest expense paid on financial liabilities.
Operating Income (Loss) is other income less operating expenses. Central 1 typically
records an operating loss as the administration costs of earning financial income are
included in this calculation, but the revenue is not.
Productivity Ratio is the ratio of operating expenses to the sum of net financial
income and other income.
Productivity Ratio – Non-Financial is the ratio of operating expenses to other
income.
Provision for Credit Losses is a charge to income that represents an amount deemed
adequate by management to fully provide for impairment in loans and acceptances
and other credit instruments, given the composition of the portfolios, the probability
of default, the economic environment and the allowance for credit losses already
established.
Return on Average Equity is calculated as profit for the year, as a percentage of
average member shareholders’ equity. Member shareholders’ equity consists of
share capital, contributed surplus, accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),
retained earnings and reserves.
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Securities Acquired under Reverse Repurchase Agreements are instruments
supported by the pledge of collateral, which arise from transactions that involve the
borrowing or purchasing of securities.
Securities Sold under Repurchase Agreements are low-cost, low-risk liabilities,
supported by collateral, which arise from transactions that involve the lending or
selling of securities.
Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange a series of
cash flows with counterparties generally exchanging fixed and floating rate interest
payments based on a notional value.
Swap Spread is the difference between the fixed rate paid on a given swap and the
yield of a risk-free government bond with similar maturity.
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The management of Central 1 Credit Union (Central 1) is responsible for the
integrity, objectivity, reliability and fair presentation of the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. These consolidated financial statements were
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board.

statements and recommends them to the Board of Directors for approval. Other key
responsibilities of the Committee include reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness
of internal controls, the performance of Central 1’s internal audit function and
external auditors, and the compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
affecting financial reporting.

These consolidated financial statements contain items that reflect the best
estimates and judgments of the expected effects of current events and transactions
with appropriate consideration to materiality. The financial information presented
elsewhere in this Annual Report is consistent with the information in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Financial Institutions Commission of British Columbia conduct examinations
and inquiries into Central 1’s business and affairs as deemed necessary to satisfy
themselves that the provisions of the appropriate legislation are being duly observed
and that Central 1 is in sound financial condition.

In meeting our responsibility for the integrity, objectivity, and reliability of financial
information presented, Central 1 designed and maintained a system of accounting,
internal controls and supporting procedures to provide reasonable assurance
that financial records are complete, reliable, and accurate and that assets are
safeguarded. The procedures include training and selection of qualified staff,
and the establishment of an organizational structure that provides a well-defined
division of responsibilities and accountability for performance. In addition, the
systems include policies and standards of business conduct that are communicated
throughout the organization to prevent conflicts of interest and unauthorized
disclosure of information.
The Board of Directors, acting through its Audit and Finance Committee (the
Committee), oversees management’s responsibilities for the financial reporting
and internal control systems. The Committee reviews the consolidated financial

KPMG LLP, the independent auditors appointed by the members, has performed an
independent audit on the consolidated financial statements and issued their report,
which follows. The auditors have full and complete access to, and meet periodically
with, the Committee to discuss their audit and matters arising therefrom.

Mark Blucher
			D. Blue
President & Chief Executive Officer		
Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members of Central 1 Credit Union
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Central 1
Credit Union, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the consolidated statements of profit,
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended,
and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the

Central 1 Credit Union Annual Report 2017 | 67

entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Central 1 Credit Union as at
December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
February 23, 2018
Vancouver, Canada
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As at December 31

(Thousands of dollars)
Assets
Cash
Deposits with regulated financial institutions
Trading assets
Reinvestment assets under the Canada Mortgage Bond Program
Derivative assets
Loans
Investment securities
Current tax assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Investments in affiliates
Settlements in-transit
Other assets

Liabilities
Deposits designated as trading
Obligations related to securities sold short
Derivative liabilities
Debt securities issued
Deposits
Obligations under the Canada Mortgage Bond Program
Subordinated liabilities
Securities under repurchase agreements
Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Settlements in-transit
Other liabilities

Equity
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Reserves
Total equity attributable to members of Central 1
Non-controlling interest

Guarantees, commitments, and contingencies
Commitments under leasing agreements

Notes

(5)

December 31, 2017

$

(6)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(6)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)

(14)
(15)
(7)
(16)
(14)
(16)
(17)
(16)
(18)
(11)

$

$

(20)

(21)

(29)
(30)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

550,763
5,975
8,889,745
545,247
101,839
2,162,059
5,518,174
7,027
21,122
34,665
14,615
143,642
44,134
29,893
18,068,900

8,561,503
95,503
83,933
2,178,650
3,436,892
1,190,108
421,765
500,472
1,854
23,000
389,814
66,285
16,949,779

December 31, 2016

$

$

$

428,143
72,897
584,971
19,072
3,950
1,109,033
10,088
$

1,119,121
18,068,900

487,128
5,885
8,772,130
360,570
81,807
1,453,802
5,621,749
8,020
18,022
25,147
5,171
130,700
327,062
16,826
17,314,019

8,659,505
74,100
85,660
1,490,730
3,250,470
1,236,058
421,406
298,416
1,688
9,146
643,602
58,363
16,229,144

December 31, 2015

$

$

$

416,996
87,901
552,782
13,119
4,034
1,074,832
10,043
$

1,084,875
17,314,019

106,834
6,104
6,765,557
165,146
116,631
1,490,839
5,680,158
397
18,807
19,897
11,924
125,767
427,167
13,790
14,949,018

7,546,745
29,415
130,805
1,075,344
3,250,036
989,611
218,247
221,211
1,882
7,407
432,913
56,382
13,959,998

370,996
87,901
506,979
9,231
3,954
979,061
9,959
$

989,020
14,949,018

Approved by the Directors:

Rick Hoevenaars
Chairperson

Robert Wellstood
Chairperson
Audit and Finance Committee
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2017
(Thousands of dollars)

Notes

Interest income
Securities
Deposits with regulated financial institutions
Loans
Reinvestment assets under the Canada Mortgage Bond Program

December 31, 2017

$

Interest expense
Debt securities issued
Deposits
Obligations under the Canada Mortgage Bond Program
Subordinated liabilities

Interest margin
Gain (loss) on disposal of financial instruments
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Net financial income
Provision for (recovery of) credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits
Premises and equipment
Other administrative expenses

Profit before income taxes
Income taxes
Profit for the year

(22)
(23)
(8)
(24)

(27)
(25)

(26)

$

208,050
164
37,487
8,167
253,868

December 31, 2016

$

170,947
100
29,530
5,896
206,473

December 31, 2015

$

155,253
115
20,955
1,880
178,203

31,490
138,038
18,681
12,470
200,679

15,594
117,848
17,859
7,564
158,865

18,301
114,429
14,065
6,260
153,055

53,189
(34,630)
54,886
73,445
(120)
73,565
149,889
223,454

47,608
8,174
11,747
67,529
86
67,443
140,499
207,942

25,148
2,111
22,809
50,068
(86)
50,154
140,706
190,860

76,156
9,073
79,260
164,489

74,175
7,300
60,122
141,597

69,527
7,048
52,972
129,547

58,965
10,321
48,644

66,345
9,305
57,040

61,313
8,963
52,350

$

$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the Years Ended December 31
(Thousands of dollars)
Profit for the year

December 31, 2017
$

48,644

December 31, 2016
$

57,040

December 31, 2015
$

52,350

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Fair value reserves (available-for-sale financial assets)
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets1

13,064

9,082

(4,344)

Reclassification of realized gains on available-for-sale financial assets to profit or loss2

(7,218)

(4,706)

(13,912)

Share of the other comprehensive income (loss) of affiliates accounted for using the equity method3

(1,246)

337

775

4,600

4,713

(17,481)

1,353

(825)

3,613

5,953

3,888

(13,868)

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Net actuarial gain (loss) on employee benefit plans4
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Comprehensive income, net of tax

$

54,597

$

60,928

$

38,482

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets

$

2,752

$

2,055

$

(850)

Reclassification of realized gains on available-for-sale financial assets to profit or loss

$

(1,521)

$

(1,066)

$

(2,728)

Share of the other comprehensive income (loss) of affiliates accounted for using the equity method

$

(15)

$

14

$

33

$

535

$

(276)

$

910

Income tax (recoveries) on items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
1

2

3

Income tax (recovery) on an item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
4

Net actuarial gain (loss) on employee benefit plans

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
Attributable to equity members

Share
Capital

(Thousands of dollars)
Balance at January 1, 2017

$

416,996

Contributed
Surplus
$

87,901

Fair
Value and
Affiliates
Reserves

Retained
Earnings
$

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year

552,782

$

16,280

Employee
Benefits
Reserve
$

(3,161)

Equity
Attributable
to Members

Other
Reserves
$

4,034

$

48,599

1,074,832

$

48,599

NonControlling
Interest

Total
Equity

10,043

$ 1,084,875

45

48,644

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Fair value reserve (available-forsale financial assets)
Share of the other comprehensive
loss of affiliates accounted for
using the equity method
Employee benefits reserve
Total comprehensive income

–

–

48,599

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Dividends to members
Related tax savings
Class “E” share reacquisitions
Related tax savings

(2)

Net Classes “A”, “B” and “C”
shares issued

(15,004)

Profit attributable to:

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:

5,846

5,846

(1,246)

(1,246)

(1,246)

1,353
1,353

4,600

1,353
54,552

–

(23,129)
4,024

(23,129)
4,024

2,611

(15,006)
2,611

(15,006)
2,611

11,149

11,149

–

–

84

$

11,147
428,143

$

(15,004)
72,897

$

1,353
54,597

45

(23,129)
4,024

11,149

Transfer from reserves
Total contributions from and
distributions to owners
Balance at December 31, 2017

5,846

(16,410)
584,971

(84)

$

Members of Central 1
Non-controlling interest

$

Members of Central 1
Non-controlling interest

$

$

$

–
20,880
2017
48,599
45
48,644

54,552
45
54,597

$

$
$

$
$

–
(1,808)
2016
56,956
84
57,040

60,844
84
60,928

$

$
$

$
$

(84)
3,950

$

(20,351)
1,109,033

$

–
10,088

$

(20,351)
1,119,121

2015
52,289
61
52,350

38,421
61
38,482

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
Jump to table of contents

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Central 1 Credit Union Annual Report 2017 | 72

For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
Attributable to equity members

Share
Capital

(Thousands of dollars)
Balance at January 1, 2016

$

370,996

Contributed
Surplus
$

87,901

Fair
Value and
Affiliates
Reserves

Retained
Earnings
$

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year

506,979

$

11,567

Employee
Benefits
Reserve
$

(2,336)

Equity
Attributable
to Members

Other
Reserves
$

3,954

$

56,956

979,061

NonControlling
Interest
$

56,956

9,959

84

Total
Equity
$

989,020

57,040

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Fair value reserve (available-forsale financial assets)
Share of the other comprehensive
income of affiliates accounted for
using the equity method
Employee benefits reserve
Total comprehensive income

–

–

56,956

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Dividends to members
Related tax savings
Net Classes “A”, “B” and “C”
shares issued

4,376

4,376

337

337

337

(825)
(825)

4,713

(825)
60,844

–

(13,580)
2,507

46,000

Transfer to reserves
Total contributions from and
distributions to owners
Balance at December 31, 2016

4,376

(80)

$

46,000
416,996

$

–
87,901

$

(11,153)
552,782

80

$

–
16,280

$

–
(3,161)

$

80
4,034

$

84

(825)
60,928

(13,580)
2,507

(13,580)
2,507

46,000

46,000

–

–

34,927
1,074,832

$

–
10,043

34,927
$ 1,084,875
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
Attributable to equity members

Share
Capital

(Thousands of dollars)
Balance at January 1, 2015

$

333,118

Contributed
Surplus
$

87,901

Fair
Value and
Affiliates
Reserves

Retained
Earnings
$

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year

467,072

$

29,048

Employee
Benefits
Reserve
$

(5,949)

Equity
Attributable
to Members

Other
Reserves
$

3,751

$

52,289

914,941

NonControlling
Interest
$

52,289

9,902

Total
Equity
$

61

924,843

52,350

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Fair value reserve (available-forsale financial assets)
Share of the other comprehensive
income of affiliates accounted for
using the equity method
Employee benefits reserve
Total comprehensive income

–

–

52,289

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Dividends to members
Related tax savings
Class “E” share redemptions
Related tax savings
Net Classes “A”, “B” and “C”
shares issued

(18,256)

(18,256)

(18,256)

775

775

775

3,613
3,613

(17,481)

3,613
38,421

–

(14,428)
2,365

(14,428)
2,365

(14,428)
2,365

(138)
22

(138)
22

(138)
22

37,878

37,878

37,878

Preferred shares redeemed by
subsidiary

–

Transfer to reserves
Total contributions from and
distributions to owners
Balance at December 31, 2015

(203)

$

37,878
370,996

$

–
87,901

$

3,613
38,482

61

(12,382)
506,979

203

$

–
11,567

$

–
(2,336)

$

203
3,954

(4)

(4)

–

$

25,699
979,061

–

$

(4)
9,959

$

25,695
989,020
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For the Years Ended December 31
(Thousands of dollars)

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Interest margin
Gain (loss) on disposal of financial instruments
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Income tax expense
Provision for (recovery of) credit losses
Other items, net

December 31, 2017

$

48,644

December 31, 2016

$

57,040

December 31, 2015

$

52,350

Interest received
Interest paid
Income tax paid
Net cash from (used in) operating activities

7,411
(53,189)
34,630
(54,886)
10,321
(120)
(21,412)
(28,601)
(194,603)
29,141
(712,772)
(30,411)
23,315
184,244
(21,055)
(750,742)
248,399
(191,430)
(90)
(693,863)

5,626
(47,608)
(8,174)
(11,747)
9,305
86
(7,408)
(2,880)
(2,031,860)
310,794
36,685
1,148,888
46,105
121
(11,651)
(503,798)
206,071
(158,816)
(6,679)
(463,222)

4,632
(25,148)
(2,111)
(22,809)
8,963
(86)
(4,217)
11,574
(938,459)
(30,374)
(442,724)
2,044,198
(157,180)
(194,083)
(37,364)
255,588
173,533
(167,638)
(1,251)
260,232

Cash flows from investing activities
Change in deposits with regulated financial institutions
Change in reinvestment assets under the Canada Morgtage Bond Program
Change in investment securities
Change in property and equipment
Change in intangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities

(31)
(188,411)
120,914
(5,994)
(13,928)
(87,450)

213
(194,709)
68,529
(1,706)
(8,277)
(135,950)

83
(98,576)
(212,636)
(1,166)
(8,505)
(320,800)

693,689
(28,176)
–
201,872
(18,580)
11,147
(15,004)
844,948
63,635
487,128
550,763

414,959
252,755
203,000
77,180
(14,428)
46,000
–
979,466
380,294
106,834
487,128

(492,229)
383,471
–
115,527
(22,448)
37,878
–
22,199
(38,369)
145,203
106,834

Change in trading assets
Change in settlements in-transit
Change in loans
Change in deposits designated as trading
Change in obligations related to securities sold short
Change in deposits
Change in derivative instruments

Cash flows from financing activities
Change in debt securities issued
Change in obligations under the Canada Morgtage Bond Program
Change in subordinated liabilities
Change in securities under repurchase agreements
Dividends paid
Issuance of shares
Change in contributed surplus
Net cash from financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash – beginning of year
Cash – end of year

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

(19)
(19)
(19)
(19)
(19)

$

$

$
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1. General information
Central 1 Credit Union (Central 1) is domiciled in Canada with a registered office
located at 1441 Creekside Drive, Vancouver, British Columbia V6J 4S7, Canada.
Central 1 is governed by the Credit Union Incorporation Act (British Columbia). These
Consolidated Financial Statements cover Central 1 and its subsidiaries.
Central 1 is the primary liquidity manager, payments processor and trade association
for credit unions in British Columbia and its member credit unions in Ontario. The
performance of the British Columbia credit union network and that of Central 1’s
member credit unions in Ontario (collectively referred to herein as the Ontario
credit union network) plays an integral part in determining the results of Central 1’s
operations and its financial position.

2. Basis of presentation
(a) Statement of compliance
These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
The policies set out below have been consistently applied to all the periods
presented and by all subsidiaries included in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Consolidated Financial Statements were authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors on February 23, 2018.

(b) Basis of measurement
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis except for the following:

•• The assets and liabilities for defined benefit obligations are recognized as the
present value of the benefit obligation less the net total of the plan assets,
plus unrecognized actuarial gains, less unrecognized actuarial past service
costs and unrecognized actuarial losses.
•• Recognized financial assets and financial liabilities designated as hedged
items in qualifying fair value hedge relationships are adjusted for changes in
fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
These Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is
Central 1’s functional currency.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements
In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS,
management must exercise judgements and make estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of accounting policies and the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities, net income and related disclosures. The most significant areas for which
management must make subjective or complex estimates and judgements include
financial instruments measured at fair value, designating financial instruments
in qualifying hedge relationships, allowance for credit losses, income taxes and
pension and post-retirement benefits. Description of these estimates
and judgements are provided in Note 4. Actual results may differ materially from
those estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised
and in any future periods affected.

•• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.
•• Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) are
measured at fair value.
•• Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.
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3. Accounting policies
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these Consolidated
Financial Statements are summarized below.

(a) Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the assets, liabilities, results of
operations and cash flows of Central 1 and its subsidiaries: 0789376 B.C. Ltd.,
Central Financial Corporation (1989) Ltd., Central 1 Trust Company, C.U. Financial
Services Ltd., Central Data Systems Ltd., Credit Union Advantage Insurance
Brokerage Ltd., CUPP Services Ltd., Inovera Solutions Inc., Landmark Credit Limited,
and Stabilization Fund Corporation. These subsidiaries are entities where Central 1
exercises control through its ownership of the majority of the voting shares.
Management must exercise judgements in determining whether Central 1 must
consolidate an entity. An entity is consolidated if Central 1 concludes that it controls
the entity. The following circumstances may indicate a relationship in which, in
substance, Central 1 controls and therefore consolidates the entity:
•• Central 1 has power over the entity whereby Central 1 has the ability to direct
the relevant activities (i.e., the activities that affect the entity’s returns).
•• Central 1 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity.
•• Central 1 has the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the amount
of the entity’s returns.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial
Statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared using uniform
accounting policies across all subsidiaries for like transactions and other events in
similar circumstances. All inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated
on consolidation.
Non-controlling interest
Credit unions of British Columbia participate in insurance programs offered by CUPP
Services Ltd. (CUPP) and hold preferred shares of CUPP. Central 1 owns 100 per cent
voting rights of CUPP and six per cent non-voting rights with the non-controlling
interest (NCI) owning the remaining 94 per cent non-voting rights. NCI is presented
as a separate component of equity in the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position, which represents the equity interests of credit unions of British Columbia,

other than Central 1, in CUPP. The net profit attributable to non-controlling interest
in CUPP is presented separately in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Equity.
Affiliates
Affiliates are entities over which Central 1 has significant influence and are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity.
Central 1’s investments in affiliates are initially accounted for at acquisition cost and
subsequently increased or decreased to recognize Central 1’s share of the affiliates’
profit or loss, other comprehensive income, and the receipt of any dividends.
Further information regarding Central 1’s subsidiaries and affiliates is contained in
Note 12 and Note 35.

(b) Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the spot
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Subsequently, monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into Canadian dollars
at the spot exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured in terms of historical cost
are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are measured at fair value are translated into Canadian dollars using the spot
exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined.
Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Profit. Foreign currency translation gains and losses on
available-for-sale investment securities that are denominated in foreign currencies
are also included in the Consolidated Statements of Profit.

(c) Financial assets and liabilities
Recognition
Central 1 initially recognizes financial assets on the date on which they are acquired
and recognizes financial liabilities on the date on which they are issued. Regular
way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date at
which Central 1 commits to purchase or sell the assets. A financial asset or liability is
measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to its acquisition or issuance.
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Classification
All financial assets and liabilities must be classified based on their characteristics,
management’s intention, or management’s choice of category in certain
circumstances. When initially recognized, all financial assets are classified as
FVTPL, available-for-sale, loans and receivables, or held-to-maturity, while all
financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL or as other financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position when, and only when, Central 1 has a
legal right to set off the recognized amounts and it intends to either settle on a net
basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Where a transfer
of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition, Central 1 does not offset the
transferred asset and the associated liability.

Classification of Central 1’s financial assets and liabilities are described in Notes 3(d)
to 3(j) and 3(p).

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS,
or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions.

Fair value measurement
Note 31 contains information on the measurement of financial assets and liabilities
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position at fair value.

Identification and measurement of impairment
At each reporting date, Central 1 assesses whether there is objective evidence that
financial assets not carried at FVTPL are impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset(s), and that the loss event has
an impact on the future cash flows of the assets that can be estimated reliably.

Derecognition
Central 1 derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash
flows of the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the right to receive the
contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. When Central 1 neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership related
to a financial asset, it derecognizes the financial asset that it no longer controls.
In transactions which Central 1 neither retains nor transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset but it retains control over the
asset, Central 1 continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement in that asset, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to
changes in the value of the transferred asset. Any rights and obligations retained
following the asset transfer are recognized as a separate asset or liability in the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying value of
the asset and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss
that has been recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized as profit or
loss.
Where Central 1 enters into a transaction whereby it transfers assets but retains all
or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, the transferred assets are not
derecognized. Transfers of assets where Central 1 retains all or substantially all risks
and rewards include, for example, securities lending and repurchase transactions.
Central 1 derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant
financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by the borrower
or indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, and the disappearance
of an active market for the security. It may also include other observable data
related to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of
borrowers or issuers in the group or economic conditions that correlate with defaults
in the group.
Central 1 considers evidence of impairment for loans and investment securities
at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant loans
and investment securities are assessed for specific impairment. All individually
significant loans and investment securities not found to be specifically impaired are
then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet
identified. Loans and investment securities that are not individually significant are
collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and investment
securities with similar characteristics.
In assessing collective impairment, Central 1 uses statistical modelling of historical
trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss
incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic
and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less
than suggested by historical modelling. Default rates, loss rates and the expected
timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to
ensure that they remain appropriate.
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Impairment losses on assets carried at amortized cost are measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest
rate. Impairment losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Profit
and reflected in an allowance account. Interest on impaired assets continues to
be recognized through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event
causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss.

(e) Deposits with regulated financial institutions

Central 1 writes off loans and investment securities when they are determined to
be uncollectible. Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are
recognized by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity
to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive
income to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of
any principal repayment and amortization, and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognized in profit or loss. Changes in impairment
provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest
income.

Trading assets at FVTPL
Trading assets are those assets that Central 1 acquires or incurs principally for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, or holds as part of a portfolio
that is managed for short-term profit or position-taking.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt
security increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is
reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognized in profit or loss. However,
any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an available-for-sale equity security is
recognized in other comprehensive income.
Designation at fair value through profit or loss
Central 1 has designated financial certain assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL in
the following circumstances:
•• The asset or liability is managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair
value basis.
•• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise.
•• The asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

(d) Cash
Cash includes unrestricted cash balances held with financial institutions. Cash is
carried at amortized cost in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

Deposits with regulated financial institutions are classified as loans and receivables
and initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs.
Subsequently, these deposits are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. Interest income earned is included in the Consolidated Statements
of Profit using the accrual basis of accounting.

(f) Securities

Trading assets at FVTPL are initially recognized and subsequently also measured
at fair value in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, with transaction
costs recognized directly in the Consolidated Statements of Profit. All changes in
fair value and associated interest income as well as realized gains or losses are
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Profit.
Trading assets at FVTPL are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition,
except that non-derivative trading assets, other than those designated at FVTPL
upon initial recognition, may be reclassified out of the FVTPL (i.e. trading) category
if they are no longer held for the purpose of being sold or repurchased in the near
term and the following conditions are met:
•• If the financial asset would have met the definition of loans and receivables,
it may be reclassified if Central 1 has the intention and ability to hold the
financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
•• If the financial asset would not have met the definition of loans and
receivables, it may be reclassified out of the trading category only in rare
circumstances.
Investment securities
Investment securities are non-derivative financial assets that are classified as
available-for-sale. These securities are initially and subsequently measured at fair
value plus incremental direct transaction costs.
Certain equity securities that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market and for which a reliable valuation cannot be obtained are carried at cost.
The existence of restrictions placed on Central 1’s ability to transfer or sell these
investments severely limits the size of the available market. In the absence of
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purchases or sales of these securities between arm’s length parties, Central 1 will
continue to carry these investments at the value determined by reference to the
most recent transaction which meets such criteria.

(h) Derivative instruments

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
Foreign exchange gains or losses on available-for-sale debt security investments are
recognized in profit or loss.

Derivatives may be embedded in other contractual arrangements (a ‘host contract’).
Central 1 accounts for an embedded derivative separately from the host contract
when the host contract is not itself carried at FVTPL, the terms of the embedded
derivative meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in a separate
contract, and the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are
not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract.
Separate embedded derivatives are accounted for depending on their classification
and are presented in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position together
with their host contract.

Other fair value changes are recognized, net of applicable income taxes, in the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income until the investment is sold
or impaired, whereupon the cumulative gains and losses previously recognized in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment.
A non-derivative financial asset may be reclassified from the available-for-sale
category to the loans and receivables category if it would otherwise have met the
definition of loans and receivables and if Central 1 has the intention and ability to
hold that financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

(g) Securitizations under the Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB) Program
Central 1’s securitization activity primarily involves indirect securitizations whereby
Central 1 facilitates the transfers of National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed
Securities (NHA MBS) by its member credit unions by acting as a swap counterparty
with Canada Housing Trust (CHT) and through the provision of administrative
services. In such instances, indirect securitization transactions are off balance sheet
and Central 1 records administration fees as other income when earned but Central
1 does not acquire an interest in the underlying mortgages.
Central 1 also participates in indirect securitization activities whereby Central 1 acts
as a swap counterparty with CHT and receives a fee from its member credit unions
for managing reinvestment assets.
Central 1 may also participate in direct securitizations by acquiring an interest in thirdparty MBS or insured mortgage pools from its member credit unions and subsequently
transferring the associated MBS securities to CHT under the CMB Program.
Mortgages transferred to CHT continue to be recognized in Central 1’s Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position as, in the opinion of Central 1’s management, these
transactions do not result in the transfer of substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the underlying assets. Consideration received from CHT as a result of
these transactions is recognized in Central 1’s Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position as secured borrowing.

Derivative instruments are measured at fair value in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

Derivatives held for risk management purposes and hedge accounting
For risk management purposes, Central 1 designates certain derivatives to hedge
fair value risk on select commercial loans and medium-term notes as hedging
instruments in qualifying hedging relationships. Central 1 has not entered into any
cash flow hedges at this time.
Hedge accounting is applied to financial assets and financial liabilities only when all
of the following conditions are met:
•• At the inception of the hedge, there is formal designation and documentation
of the hedging relationship and Central 1’s risk management objective
and strategy for undertaking the hedge. That documentation shall include
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the
nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging
instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the
hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.
•• The hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes
in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk, consistently with
the originally documented risk management strategy for that particular
hedging relationship.
•• For cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction that is the subject of the hedge
must be highly probable and must present an exposure to variations in cash
flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.
•• The effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured (i.e. the fair value
or cash flows of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk and
the fair value of the hedging instrument can be reliably measured).
•• The hedge is assessed on an ongoing basis and determined to have been
highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which the
hedge was designated.
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(i) Loans
Loans are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market and that Central 1 does not intend to sell immediately or in the
short term.
With the exception of a single portfolio of commercial loans, which are measured at
FVTPL, all loans are classified as loans and receivables and initially measured at fair
value plus incremental direct transaction costs on the trade date in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position. They are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, net of allowances for credit losses and
any unearned interest. Interest income is recognized using the effective interest
method, loan origination fees and other fees received and paid are recorded in
interest income over the term of the loans.

(j) S ecurities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and
sold under repurchase agreements
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements consist of the purchase
of the security with a commitment by Central 1 to resell to the original seller
on a specified date at a specified price. Financial assets acquired under reverse
repurchase agreements, other than those acquired in securitization transactions,
are classified as loans and receivable in the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position. The difference between the cost of the purchase and predetermined
proceeds to be received on a resale agreement is recorded in interest income.
A repurchase agreement consists of the sale of a security with a commitment
by Central 1 to repurchase the security on a specified date at a specified price.
Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements are recorded
at amortized cost in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The
difference between the proceeds received on the sale of the security and the
amount that Central 1 agrees to repay under the repurchase agreement is recorded
in interest expense.

(k) Property and equipment
Items of property and equipment, except for land, are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Land is recorded
at cost net of any impairment losses. Purchased software that is integral to the
functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct
labour, and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working
condition for their intended use. Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when

it is probable that the future economic benefits of the expenditure will flow to
Central 1. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.
When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives,
they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and
equipment. The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is
determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of
the item of property and equipment, and is recognized net within other income in
the Consolidated Statements of Profit.
Depreciation is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Profit on a straightline basis over the estimated useful life of each part of an item of property and
equipment, since this most closely reflects the pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets under finance leases are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. Land is not
depreciated.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods of significant
items of property and equipment are as follows:
Buildings

50 years

Computer hardware

3 to 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

3 to 10 years

Leaseholds

Lesser of the useful life of the
leasehold or the term of the lease

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

(l) Investment property
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital
appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes. When
the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment,
its carrying value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent
accounting.
Items of investment property are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When parts of an item of investment
property have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major
components) of investment property.
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Depreciation is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Profit on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of investment property.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are 50 years.

and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated
to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each
reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Other leases are operating leases which are not recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position. Payments made under operating leases are
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Profit on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of
the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

(m) Intangible assets
Software acquired by Central 1 is classified as an intangible asset and is measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Expenditure on internally developed software is recognized as an asset when
Central 1 is able to demonstrate its intention and ability to complete the
development and use the software in a manner that will generate future economic
benefits, and can reliably measure the costs to complete the development.
The capitalized costs of internally developed software include all costs directly
attributable to developing the software and capitalized borrowing costs. Internally
developed software is stated at capitalized cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment.
Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the
future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other
expenditure is expensed as incurred.
Depreciation is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Profit on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of the software, from the date that it is available
for use, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the
future economic benefits embodied in the asset. The estimated useful lives for the
current and comparative periods are three to ten years.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each
reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(n) Leases
Central 1 as lessee
Assets held by Central 1 under leases which transfer to Central 1 substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial
recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted at the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if practicable, or else at Central 1’s incremental
borrowing rate. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Minimum lease
payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense

Central 1 as lessor
Leasing agreements whereby Central 1 earns rental income on premises classified
as investment property are classified as operating leases. Central 1 recognizes
rental income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease inducements
are recognized as an integral part of the total lease income, over the term of the
lease.

(o) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of Central 1’s non-financial assets, other than investment
property and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing the value
in use, the estimated future cash flows associated with the asset are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset is
reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimate used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment was recognized. In this
case, the impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation, if no previous impairment loss had been recognized.

(p) Financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are those liabilities that Central 1 designates upon initial
recognition. This designation is permitted when doing so results in more relevant
information because either it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency, or a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis and information
about the group is provided internally to key management personnel.
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Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially recognized and subsequently also measured
at fair value in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, with transaction
costs recognized directly in the Consolidated Statements of Profit. All changes in
fair value and associated interest income as well as realized gains or losses are
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Profit.
Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities are classified as other
financial liabilities. They are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

(q) Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, Central 1 has a present legal
or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
The provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.
Central 1, in consultation with its actuaries, maintains a provision for unpaid claims,
including adjustment expenses, which is discounted and represents the estimated
amounts required to settle all outstanding and unreported claims incurred at the
end of the reporting period. The initial estimate of unpaid claims is prepared on
an undiscounted basis using assumptions, historical trends, and data available on
individual claims to determine an expected Net Loss Ratio. Net Loss Ratio is the
ratio of claims incurred during a specified period to the premiums earned during that
period. The discounted provision for unpaid claims incorporates assumptions about
projected cash flows and provisions for adverse deviations.

Through its subsidiary CUPP, Central 1 provides insurance related services to its
members. CUPP is incorporated under the laws of British Columbia and is subject to
the Insurance (Captive Company) Act of British Columbia.
CUPP provides the following insurance to its shareholders:
•• Professional liability insurance, including directors’ and officers’, corporate
errors and omissions, privacy, and employment practices liability insurance.
•• Property and casualty insurance, including property, boiler and machinery,
and loan impairment insurance.
Insurance premiums earned are included in other income and accounted for in the
period in which the contract is entered into. Premiums are earned as revenue on a
time proportionate basis over the term of the insurance coverage.
A provision for unearned premiums is included in other liabilities and represents the
portion of premiums written relating to periods of insurance coverage subsequent to
the reporting period.
Central 1 is exposed to insurance risk through the activities of CUPP. Insurance risk is
the potential for financial loss or loss to Central 1’s reputation resulting from inability
to fully meet the obligations arising from offering insurance. This can result from
higher than expected claims frequency, claim amounts and administration costs.
Central 1 monitors its exposure to insurance risk by imposing underwriting limits and
robust monitoring.

(s) Financial guarantees

Differences between the estimated cost and subsequent settlement of claims
are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Profit in the year in which they
are settled or in which the provision for claims outstanding is re-estimated. The
provision for unpaid claims is subject to measurement uncertainty.

Financial guarantees are contracts that require Central 1 to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Liabilities arising from financial guarantees are recognized initially at their fair
value, and the initial fair value is amortized over the life of the related guarantee.
The liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this amortized amount and
the present value of any expected payment when a payment under the guarantee
becomes probable.

(r) Insurance contracts

(t) Income taxes

Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk at
the inception of the contract. Insurance risk is transferred when one party agrees
to compensate another party (the policyholder) if a specified uncertain future event
(other than a change in a financial variable) adversely affects the policyholder.
Any contracts not meeting the definition of an insurance contract are classified as
investment contracts or service contracts, as appropriate.

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. Current tax and
deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to
items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Current tax is the enacted tax payable or receivable on the taxable income for the
year, using the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and
any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years.
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Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following
temporary differences:
•• the initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss; and
•• temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the
temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset only if:
•• there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against
current tax assets;
•• they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxable entity; or
•• they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on different tax
entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realized. In determining the amount of current and
deferred tax, Central 1 takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and
makes judgements, estimates and assumptions to assess whether additional taxes
and interest may be due.

(u) Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive
obligation to pay further amounts if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior
reporting periods. Obligations for defined contribution pension plans are determined
by the amounts to be contributed and recognized as expense in profit or loss when
they are due in respect of service rendered before the end of the reporting period.
Central 1 participates in a multi-employer defined benefit plan in which plan assets

and liabilities are pooled and actuary does not determine an individual employer’s
own unfunded liability. Each member credit union is exposed to the actuarial risks
of the other employers with the result that, in management’s opinion, there is no
reasonable way to allocate any defined benefit obligations. This plan is therefore
accounted for on a defined contribution basis.
Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined
contribution plan. Central 1’s net obligation in respect of defined benefits plans
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting
period less the fair value of plan assets. It is calculated periodically by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined
benefit obligation is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for service in the current
and prior periods and discounting that benefit to determine its present value using
market yields at the end of the reporting period on high-quality corporate bonds.
Central 1 recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial
assumptions and experience adjustments immediately in the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income and all expenses related to defined benefit
plans immediately in the Consolidated Statements of Profit.
When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit
relating to past service by employees is recognized in the Consolidated Statements
of Profit on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become
vested. To the extent that benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognized
immediately in the Consolidated Statements of Profit.
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis
and are expensed as the related service is provided.
A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term
incentive plans if Central 1 has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can
be estimated reliably.

(v) Reserves
Through Stabilization Fund Corporation (SFC), Central 1 maintains the Credit Union
Deductible Fund and the Stabilization Fund on behalf of its member credit unions in
Ontario.
The Credit Union Deductible Fund, which is funded primarily by assessments
to credit unions, represents the excess of revenue over expense related to the
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provision of insurance services. The Stabilization Fund represents an endowment
in support of loss prevention activities which is restricted to programs that are
considered loss preventative in nature.

(w) Revenue recognition

•• Impairment charges on available-for-sale investment securities that have
been reclassified from other comprehensive income.
•• The effective and ineffective portion of fair value changes in qualifying
hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of interest rate risk.

Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense, other than that earned or incurred on trading assets
and financial liabilities at FVTPL, are recognized in profit or loss using the effective
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying
amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest
rate, Central 1 estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument, but without considering future credit losses. The calculation
of the effective interest rate also includes all fees and amounts paid or received
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a
financial asset or liability.

Other income
Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest
rate on a financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective
interest rate.

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of trading assets or issuance of
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognized in profit or loss at the time of acquisition
or issuance. Central 1 records interest income and expense on trading assets and
financial liabilities at FVTPL based on the contractual terms of the instrument.

(x) Operating segments

Interest income and expense presented in the Consolidated Statements of Profit
include:
•• Interest income and expense on financial assets and liabilities measured at
amortized cost calculated on an effective interest basis.
•• Interest income on available-for-sale investment securities calculated on an
effective interest basis.
•• Interest income and expense on financial assets and liabilities measured at
FVTPL based on the contractual terms of the instrument.
Changes in fair value of financial instruments
Changes in fair value of financial instruments included in the Consolidated
Statements of Profit include:
•• Fair value changes on derivatives.
•• Fair value changes on loans at FVTPL.
•• Fair value changes on trading assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL.
•• Fair value changes on financial assets and liabilities under the
CMB Program.

Membership dues and provincial advertising assessments are received from Central
1’s member credit unions and are recognized in income as earned. Fees earned by
Digital & Payment Services, Wholesale Financial Services (WFS) and Other services
are recorded in other income when Central 1 has rendered the related services and
is entitled to receive income.
Dividends from equity instruments are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of
Profit when Central 1’s right to receive payment is established.

Central 1’s operations and activities are organized around a number of key
operating segments in accordance with the aggregation criteria and quantitative
thresholds under IFRS 8, Operating Segments. Management regularly monitors these
segments’ operating results for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment results include items that are
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis. Unallocated items including adjustments and other management
reclassification, corporate taxes and residual unallocated revenue and expenses are
included in “Other” segment. Further information is included in Note 28.

(y) New amendments to accounting standards adopted
Effective January 1, 2017, Central 1 has adopted the following amendments issued
by the IASB:
Amendments to IAS 7: Statement of Cash Flows
In January 2016, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows,
to improve information provided to users of financial statements about an entity’s
financing activities. This amendment requires specific disclosures for movements in
liabilities arising from financing activities on the Statement of Cash Flows in order
to improve presentation and disclosure in financial statement. This amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. As a result of
adopting this amendment, Central 1 has added an additional disclosure as described
in Note 19.
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Amendments to IAS 12: Income Taxes
In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes, to clarify
the requirements for recognizing deferred tax assets on unrealized losses. The
amendments clarify that the existence of a deductible temporary difference
depends solely on a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset and its tax base
at the end of the reporting period, and is not affected by possible future changes in
the carrying amount or expected manner of recovery of the asset. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. The adoption
of the amendments did not have a significant impact on Central 1’s Consolidated
Financial Statements.

(z) New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
In July 2014, International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued the complete
version of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which will replace IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 is effective for Central 1 for the
annual periods beginning on January 1, 2018 and is to be applied retrospectively
with some exemptions. As permitted, Central 1 will not restate the comparative
period financial statements, but instead recognize the transition impact through
adjustments to the opening balances of retained earnings and accumulated other
comprehensive income as at January 1, 2018.
Implementation approach
Central 1’s implementation approach is based on five work streams including
Scoping, Analysis, Development, Testing, and Go-live. Central 1’s IFRS 9 project
has focused on developing accounting policies, assessing business models for
the classification and measurement of financial instruments, and developing and
validating impairment models to support the IFRS 9 impairment conclusions.
Classification and measurement
Under IFRS 9, financial assets will be classified as amortized cost, fair value through
profit or loss (FVTPL), or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
based on the business model for managing assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial asset.
Upon transition, the business model assessment will be based on the facts and
circumstances as at January 1, 2018. Debt instruments that have contractual cash
flows representing solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) and are managed
within a business model that is held-to-collect, are classified as amortized cost.
Debt instruments that meet the SPPI test and are managed within a business model
that is held-to-collect and for sale, are classified as FVOCI with changes in fair value

recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI) until the asset is derecognized,
upon which the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified to
profit or loss. All other debt instruments will be classified and measured as FVTPL.
Equity instruments would generally be measured at FVTPL unless an irrevocable
election is made to classify these instruments at FVOCI which will result in change
in fair value recognized in OCI with no subsequent impact to profit or loss upon the
sale of the instruments.
The classification and measurement of financial liabilities remain essentially
unchanged under IFRS 9 except for financial liabilities designated as FVTPL. Once
the designation is made, changes in the fair value attributable to an entity’s own
credit risk should generally be recognized in other comprehensive income without
subsequent reclassification in profit or loss.
Impairment
IFRS 9 introduces a new expected credit loss (ECL) model applicable for all debt
instruments financial assets classified as amortized cost or FVOCI, as well as
certain off-balance sheet loan commitments and financial guarantees. Compared
to the current incurred loss model under IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement, the new ECL will result in an allowance for credit losses being
recorded regardless of whether there has been an actual loss event. For financial
assets that are credit impaired or have experienced a significant increase in credit
risk, the loss allowance is recognized based on expected credit losses that result
from possible default events over the expected lifetime (lifetime ECL). The loss
allowance for all other financial assets are recognized based on the expected credit
losses that result from possible default events within twelve months of the reporting
date (twelve months ECL).
The definition of credit impaired is similar to an incurred credit loss under IAS 39.
The determination of ECL requires consideration of past events, current conditions
and forward-looking information.
Hedge accounting
IFRS 9 also introduces new hedge accounting rules that align hedge accounting
more closely with risk management and expands the scope of hedged items and
risks eligible for hedge accounting. IFRS 9 includes an accounting policy choice
which permits the application of existing rules under IAS 39 for hedge accounting.
Central 1 has elected to retain the hedge accounting requirements under IAS 39.
However, Central 1 will implement the revised hedge accounting disclosures that
are required by the IFRS 9 related amendments to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments:
Disclosures, in its 2018 consolidated financial statements.
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Transition
Based on December 31, 2017 data and current implementation status, Central 1
expects the adoption of IFRS 9 will lead to a reclassification impact in equity
between retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income as at
January 1, 2018 due to the classification and measurement requirements and
the own credit risk assessment. The estimate of the impact of applying the new
impairment model for financial assets is not significant. Central 1 will continue
to validate and refine its impairment models and the process controls related to
classification and measurement as required under IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
which will replace the current revenue recognition standards IAS 18, Revenue,
and related interpretations. In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS
15, clarifying some requirements and providing additional transition relief at the
date of initial application. The standard introduces a single comprehensive model
to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and applies to all
contracts with customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of other
IFRS standards such as leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments.
Therefore, the adoption of IFRS 15 will not impact certain revenue streams of
Central 1, including interest income, interest expense, gain (loss) on disposal of
financial instruments and change in fair value of financial instruments.
IFRS 15 is effective for Central 1 for the annual periods beginning on January 1,
2018. As permitted, Central 1 will not restate the comparative period financial
statements, but instead recognize any transition impact through an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings as at January 1, 2018. Central 1 has
established a project to determine the impact of IFRS 15. Central 1’s implementation
approach consists of performing a detailed assessment of the significant revenue
contracts through applying a five-step model which includes:
•• Identifying the contract,
•• Identifying the performance obligations within the contract,
•• Determining the transaction price,
•• Allocating the price to the performance obligations in the contract, and
•• Recognizing revenue.
Central 1 is continuing to review its revenue contracts that fall within the scope of
IFRS 15 and to assess the impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements, including
the additional disclosure requirements. Based on December 31, 2017 data and
current implementation status, the standard is not expected to have a material
impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

IFRS 16 - Leases
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases, which will replace IAS 17, Leases,
and related interpretations. IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease
accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset representing
its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to
make lease payments. There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and
leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standard,
and lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.
IFRS 16 has a mandatory effective date for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. The standard may be adopted retrospectively by applying the
new lease definition to all contracts, or as of the application date by adjusting
the retained earnings at that date and applying the new definition only to new
contracts. Central 1 is not able to determine the impact of IFRS 16 on Central 1’s
Consolidated Financial Statements at this time.

4. Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with
IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Judgement, estimates and assumptions are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Information about estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of resulting
in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities during the
years presented is disclosed as follows:
(a) Allowance for credit losses
The specific counterparty component of the total allowances for impairment
applies to financial assets evaluated individually for impairment and is based
upon management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that
are expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes
judgements about the counterparty’s financial situation and the net realizable value
of any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its merits, and the
workout strategy and estimate of cash flows considered recoverable are reviewed
and approved by management. Collectively assessed impairment allowances
cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of loans and advances with similar credit
risk characteristics when there is objective evidence to suggest that they contain
impaired loans, but the individual impaired items cannot yet be identified.
Jump to table of contents

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Central 1 Credit Union Annual Report 2017 | 88

Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

In assessing the need for collective loss allowances, management considers factors
such as credit quality, portfolio size, concentrations and economic factors. In
order to estimate the required allowance, assumptions are made to define the way
inherent losses are modelled and to determine the required input parameters, based
on historical experience and current economic conditions. The accuracy of the
allowances depends on the estimates of future cash flows for specific counterparty
allowances and the model assumptions and parameters used in determining
collective allowances.
(b) Determining fair value
The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities requires the
exercise of judgement by management. The determination of fair value of financial
assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market price requires the use
of valuation techniques. For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have
little price transparency, fair value is less objective and requires varying degrees
of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors,
pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument. See Note 31
for further discussion.
(c) Income taxes
Central 1 computes an income tax provision in each of the jurisdictions in which it
operates. However, the actual amounts of income tax expense only become final
upon filing and acceptance of the tax return by the relevant authorities, which
occurs subsequent to the issuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax
assets based on an assessment of the ability to use the underlying future tax
deductions, before they expire, against future taxable income. The assessment
is based upon enacted tax acts and estimates of future taxable income. To the
extent estimates differ from the final tax provision, earnings would be affected in a
subsequent period.
At the end of every reporting period, the income tax provision is based on an
estimate of projected annual earnings by jurisdiction. The estimated average annual
effective income tax rates are re-estimated at each reporting date, based on fullyear projections of earnings by jurisdiction. To the extent that forecasts differ from
actual results, adjustments are recorded in subsequent periods.
(d) Post-employment benefits
Central 1 sponsors defined benefit plans providing pension and other postretirement benefits to employees. The expense and obligations associated with
employee future benefits are calculated by actuaries using assumptions such as
the expected return on assets available to fund pension obligations, the discount

rate to measure obligations, the expected mortality, the expected rate of future
compensation and the expected healthcare cost trend rate. If actual experience
differs from the assumptions used, the difference is recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the
most significant effects on the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Financial
statements is disclosed as follows:
(a) Securitizations
In applying its policies on securitized financial assets, Central 1 has considered both
the degree of transfer of risks and rewards on assets transferred to another entity
and the degree of control exercised by Central 1 over the other entity:
•• When Central 1, in substance, controls the entity to which financial assets
have been transferred, the entity is included in these Consolidated Financial
Statements and the transferred assets are recognized in Central 1’s
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
•• When Central 1 transfers financial assets to an unconsolidated entity and it
retains substantially all the risk and rewards relating to the transferred assets,
the transferred assets are recognized in Central 1’s Consolidated Statements
of Financial Position.
•• When Central 1 transfers substantially all the risks and rewards relating to
the transferred financial assets to an unconsolidated entity, the assets are
derecognized from Central 1’s Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
•• When Central 1 neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards relating to a transferred financial asset and it retains control of the
transferred asset, Central 1 continues to recognize the transferred financial
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in that transferred financial
asset.
Details of Central 1’s securitization activities are given in Notes 6 and 16.
(b) Determining if control exists over an investee
Under IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, an entity must determine whether
or not it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the investees and has the ability to affect those returns through its powers over
the investees. This requires the entity to use judgement to assess the nature of the
operations of the investee, the degree to which it is able to direct those operations
and the level of exposure that it has to the variable returns of the investees.
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5. Cash
(Thousands of dollars)
With Bank of Canada
With other regulated financial institutions

December 31, 2017
$
$

471,889
78,874
550,763

December 31, 2016
$

407,354
79,774
487,128

$

December 31, 2015
$
$

15,481
91,353
106,834

6. Securities
Trading assets
Total trading assets included in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Government and government guaranteed securities
Corporate and major financial institution securities AA1 or greater
Other
Fair value
Amortized cost

December 31, 2017
$

$
$

6,000,006
1,492,034
1,397,705
8,889,745
8,943,209

December 31, 2016
$

6,182,090
2,203,441
386,599
8,772,130
8,766,263

$
$

December 31, 2015
$

$
$

4,579,399
1,847,895
338,263
6,765,557
6,713,809

The credit ratings are provided by Dominion Bond Rating Services (DBRS).

1

Investment securities
Total investment securities classified as available-for-sale included in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Fair Value
Government and government guaranteed securities
Corporate and major financial institution securities AA1 or greater
Other
Fair value
Cost
Other
Total investment securities

December 31, 2017

$

December 31, 2016

$

$

4,476,928
283,169
725,957
5,486,054

$
$

32,120
5,518,174

December 31, 2015

$

$

3,917,866
1,457,717
214,046
5,589,629

$

3,663,936
1,605,733
378,369
5,648,038

$
$

32,120
5,621,749

$
$

32,120
5,680,158

The credit ratings are provided by DBRS.

1

The above table includes $32.1 million of equity investment securities that are measured at cost and for which disclosure of fair value is not provided because the fair value
cannot be reliably measured. There have been no changes in this amount in the periods presented.
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Reinvestment assets under the Canada Mortgage Bond Program
As principal payments on the underlying securitized assets are received, Central 1 is required to reinvest the proceeds on behalf of Canada Housing Trust (CHT). These
reinvestment assets are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position at fair value, except for those classified as loans and receivables, which are
recognized at amortized cost. The following table provides a breakdown of these reinvestment assets:
(Thousands of dollars)

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

Classified as FVTPL
Government and government guaranteed securities
Amortized cost

$
$

409,571
411,283

$
$

284,856
283,135

$
$

101,919
101,022

Classified as available-for-sale
Government and government guaranteed securities
Amortized cost

$
$

135,448
135,425

$
$

75,714
75,344

$
$

63,227
62,522

Classified as loans and receivables
Assets acquired under reverse repurchase agreements

$

228

$

–

$

–

Total reinvestment assets under the CMB Program

$

545,247

$

360,570

$

165,146

7. Derivative instruments
The following tables summarize the fair value and the notional amounts by term to maturity of derivative assets and liabilities:
Notional amount by term to maturity

(Thousands of dollars)
December 31, 2017
Interest rate contracts
Bond forwards
Futures contracts
Swap contracts
Options purchased
Options written

Foreign exchange contracts
Forward contracts
Other
Equity index-linked options
Total fair value before adjustment
Adjustment for offsetting
Fair value

1 year or less

$

96,700
65,000
5,662,141
10,000
10,000
5,843,841

1 to 5 years

$

–
–
24,027,668
–
–
24,027,668

Fair value

Over 5 years

$

–
–
602,877
–
–
602,877

Total

$

96,700
65,000
30,292,686
10,000
10,000
30,474,386

Asset

$

74
11
153,555
309
–
153,949

Liability

$

234
122
135,897
–
304
136,557

247,369

–

–

247,369

2,984

2,477

54,545

177,199

–

231,744

11,370
168,303
(66,464)
101,839

11,363
150,397
(66,464)
83,933

$

$

The amounts that have been pledged and received as collateral were $19.8 million and $12.4 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2017.
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Notional amount by term to maturity

(Thousands of dollars)
December 31, 2016
Interest rate contracts
Bond forwards
Futures contracts
Swap contracts

1 year or less

$

Foreign exchange contracts
Forward contracts
Other
Equity index-linked options
Total fair value before adjustment
Adjustment for offsetting
Fair value

79,500
432,750
3,720,886
4,233,136

1 to 5 years

$

–
–
25,335,611
25,335,611

Fair value

Over 5 years

$

–
–
622,791
622,791

Total

$

79,500
432,750
29,679,288
30,191,538

Asset

$

427
52
161,698
162,177

Liability

$

455
44
165,727
166,226

152,435

–

–

152,435

1,205

1,009

61,738

191,925

–

253,663

13,560
176,942
(95,135)
81,807

13,560
180,795
(95,135)
85,660

$

$

The amounts that had been pledged and received as collateral were $9.1 million and $23.5 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2016.
Notional amount by term to maturity

(Thousands of dollars)
December 31, 2015
Interest rate contracts
Bond forwards
Futures contracts
Swap contracts

Foreign exchange contracts
Forward contracts
Other
Equity index-linked options
Total fair value before adjustment
Adjustment for offsetting
Fair value

1 year or less

$

–
205,000
4,867,985
5,072,985

1 to 5 years

$

83,600
–
19,557,494
19,641,094

Fair value

Over 5 years

$

–
–
1,664,861
1,664,861

Total

$

83,600
205,000
26,090,340
26,378,940

Asset

$

299
118
238,348
238,765

Liability

$

147
137
252,275
252,559

269,368

–

–

269,368

5,105

5,485

79,163

199,710

–

278,873

8,287
252,157
(135,526)
116,631

8,287
266,331
(135,526)
130,805

$

$

The amounts that had been pledged and received as collateral were $17.8 million and $38.5 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2015.
All derivatives are traded over-the-counter except for futures contracts which are exchange traded.
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Hedge accounting
Central 1 uses swap contracts to hedge its exposure to changes in the fair values of selected commercial loans and selected medium-term notes, both of which are at risk of
changes in market interest rates. The critical terms of the interest rate swaps are matched to these specific commercial loans and medium-term notes at inception. Central 1
has elected to adopt hedge accounting in respect of the swap contracts and the hedged items.
The fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges were as follows:
December 31, 2017
(Thousands of dollars)
Swap contracts

Asset
$

–

December 31, 2016

Liability
$

3,156

Asset
$

1,614

December 31, 2015

Liability
$

–

Asset
$

421

Liability
$

–

Hedging instruments are recorded at fair value, and the commercial loans and medium-term notes that are part of a hedging relationship are adjusted for the changes in value
of the risk being hedged (fair value hedge adjustment). To the extent that the change in the fair value of the derivative does not offset changes in the fair value of the hedged
item (hedge ineffectiveness), the net amount is recorded directly in the Consolidated Statements of Profit.
The following table presents the impact of fair value hedges on profit:
(Thousands of dollars)
Change in fair value on hedging derivatives
Fair value hedge adjustment on loans/medium-term notes
Hedge ineffectiveness recorded in profit

December 31, 2017
$
$

(4,770)
4,800
30

December 31, 2016
$
$

1,193
(1,280)
(87)

December 31, 2015
$
$

421
(332)
89
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8. Loans
(Thousands of dollars)

December 31, 2017

Amortized cost
Due on demand
Credit unions
Commercial and others

$

157,564
1,406
158,970

Term
Credit unions
Commercial and others
Reverse repurchase agreements
Officers and employees
Residential mortgages

624,717
622,392
591,944
7,937
139,870
1,986,860
2,145,830
2,671
8,897
2,157,398
(527)
2,156,871
(6,261)
2,150,610

Accrued interest
Premium
Allowance for credit losses
Amortized cost
Fair value hedge adjustment1
Carrying value

$

Fair value through profit or loss
Term
Commercial and others
Accrued interest
Premium
Amortized cost
Fair value
Total loans
1

$

11,225
35
104
11,364
11,449
2,162,059

$
$
$

December 31, 2016

$

December 31, 2015

31,544
3,716
35,260

$

297,984
609,357
316,362
8,771
161,557
1,394,031
1,429,291
2,146
11,990
1,443,427
(518)
1,442,909
(1,232)
1,441,677

$

$

767,800
531,388
48,880
9,441
97,995
1,455,504
1,475,057
1,285
14,998
1,491,340
(501)
1,490,839
–
1,490,839

$

11,582
36
128
11,746
12,125
1,453,802

$
$
$

16,290
3,263
19,553

$

–
–
–
–
–
1,490,839

$
$
$

Central 1 enters into fair value hedges to hedge the risks caused by changes in interest rates. See Note 7 for detailed information on hedge accounting.

Loans to officers and employees bear interest at rates varying from 2.49% to 2.75%.
The activities in the allowance for credit losses during the year and the resulting balances were as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Balance at beginning of year
Net write-off (recovery) during the year
Provision for (recovery of) credit losses
Balance at end of year

Specific Allowance
$

$

339
(4)
–
335

Collective Allowance
$

$

179
133
(120)
192

December 31, 2017
$

$

518
129
(120)
527

December 31, 2016
$

$

501
(69)
86
518

December 31, 2015
$

$

664
(77)
(86)
501
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9. Property and equipment
(Thousands of dollars)
Cost
Balance at January 1, 2017
Acquisitions
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2017
Balance at January 1, 2016
Acquisitions
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2016
Balance at January 1, 2015
Acquisitions
Transfers (see Note 13)
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2015
Depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2017
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2017

Land and Building

$

$
$

$
$

$

$

17,133
–
–
17,133
15,344
–
1,789
–
17,133

$

$
$

$
$

$

9,595
594
–
10,189

$

9,001
594
–
9,595

$

$

$

8,541
460
–
9,001

$
$
$

6,944
7,538
8,132

$

Balance at January 1, 2016
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2016

$

Balance at January 1, 2015
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2015

$

Carrying value
Balance as at December 31, 2017
Balance as at December 31, 2016
Balance as at December 31, 2015

17,133
–
–
17,133

IT Equipment

$

14,185
2,162
(282)
16,065
14,900
736
(1,451)
14,185
15,352
434
–
(886)
14,900

Fixtures

$

$
$

$
$

$

10,202
1,073
(282)
10,993

$

10,779
795
(1,372)
10,202

$

$

$

10,748
907
(876)
10,779

$
$
$

5,072
3,983
4,121

$

$

14,767
3,885
(212)
18,440
13,993
1,128
(354)
14,767
13,623
742
–
(372)
13,993

Total

$

$
$

$
$

$

46,085
6,047
(494)
51,638
46,026
1,864
(1,805)
46,085
44,319
1,176
1,789
(1,258)
46,026

8,266
1,227
(159)
9,334

$

7,439
1,102
(275)
8,266

$

$

$

6,642
1,169
(372)
7,439

$

25,931
2,536
(1,248)
27,219

$
$
$

9,106
6,501
6,554

$
$
$

21,122
18,022
18,807

$

$

$

$

28,063
2,894
(441)
30,516
27,219
2,491
(1,647)
28,063
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10. Intangible assets
(Thousands of dollars)
Cost
Balance at January 1, 2017
Acquisitions
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2017
Balance at January 1, 2016
Acquisitions
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2016
Balance at January 1, 2015
Acquisitions
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2015
Depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2017
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2017
Balance at January 1, 2016
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2016
Balance at January 1, 2015
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2015
Carrying value
Balance as at December 31, 2017
Balance as at December 31, 2016
Balance as at December 31, 2015

Internally Developed
Software

External Software

$

$
$

$
$

$

$

$
$

$
$

25,854
8,035
(32)
33,857
23,404
2,743
(293)
25,854

$

$
$

$

16,445
7,000
(41)
23,404

$

9,204
3,607
(32)
12,779

$

6,990
2,493
(279)
9,204

$

5,492
1,549
(51)
6,990

$
$
$

21,078
16,650
16,414

$

$
$

$
$

Total

9,854
5,893
–
15,747

$

4,305
5,549
–
9,854

$

$

$

2,810
1,495
–
4,305

$

1,357
803
–
2,160

$

822
535
–
1,357

$

$
$

$
$

35,708
13,928
(32)
49,604
27,709
8,292
(293)
35,708
19,255
8,495
(41)
27,709

10,561
4,410
(32)
14,939
7,812
3,028
(279)
10,561

$

517
305
–
822

$

6,009
1,854
(51)
7,812

$
$
$

13,587
8,497
3,483

$
$
$

34,665
25,147
19,897
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11. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
(Thousands of dollars)

December 31, 2017

Deferred tax assets
Financial instruments
Employee future benefits
Equity interest in affiliates
Unused tax losses
Other

$

$

Deferred tax liabilities
Financial instruments
Property and equipment
Employee future benefits
Equity interest in affiliates

$

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

$

December 31, 2016

(842)
3,803
874
11,059
(279)
14,615

$

13,698
6,697
447
2,158
23,000
(8,385)

$

$

$

December 31, 2015

(838)
5,302
874
–
(167)
5,171

$

730
6,079
633
1,704
9,146
(3,975)

$

$

$

5,808
4,881
874
–
361
11,924

730
4,890
725
1,062
7,407
4,517

Changes in deferred tax balances during the year ended December 31, 2017 were as follows:
Balance as at
January 1, 2017

(Thousands of dollars)
Deferred tax assets
Financial instruments
Employee future benefits
Equity interest in affiliates
Unused tax losses
Other
Deferred tax liabilities
Financial instruments
Property and equipment
Employee future benefits
Equity interest in affiliates
Net deferred tax liabilities

$

$

(838)
5,302
874
–
(167)
5,171

Recognized in profit
or loss

$

$

(4)
(1,145)
–
12,609
(112)
11,348

Recognized in other
comprehensive income

$

$

–
(354)
–
(1,550)
–
(1,904)

Balance as at
December 31, 2017

$

$

(842)
3,803
874
11,059
(279)
14,615

$

730
6,079
633
1,704
9,146

$

12,968
618
(38)
509
14,057

$

–
–
(148)
(55)
(203)

$

13,698
6,697
447
2,158
23,000

$

(3,975)

$

(2,709)

$

(1,701)

$

(8,385)
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Changes in deferred tax balances during the year ended December 31, 2016 were as follows:
Balance as at
January 1, 2016

(Thousands of dollars)
Deferred tax assets
Financial instruments
Employee future benefits
Equity interest in affiliates
Other
Deferred tax liabilities
Financial instruments
Property and equipment
Employee future benefits
Equity interest in affiliates
Net deferred tax liabilities

$

$
$

$

Recognized in profit
or loss

5,808
4,881
874
361
11,924

$

730
4,890
725
1,062
7,407
4,517

$

$

$

Recognized in other
comprehensive income

(6,646)
115
–
(700)
(7,231)

$

–
1,189
(121)
628
1,696
(8,927)

$

$

$

Balance as at
December 31, 2016

–
306
–
172
478

$

–
–
29
14
43
435

$

$

$

(838)
5,302
874
(167)
5,171
730
6,079
633
1,704
9,146
(3,975)

Changes in deferred tax balances during the year ended December 31, 2015 were as follows:
Balance as at
January 1, 2015

(Thousands of dollars)
Deferred tax assets
Financial instruments
Employee future benefits
Equity interest in affiliates
Other
Deferred tax liabilities
Financial instruments
Property and equipment
Employee future benefits
Equity interest in affiliates
Net deferred tax assets

$

$
$

$

Recognized in profit
or loss

3,741
5,288
874
439
10,342

$

730
3,848
677
716
5,971
4,371

$

$

$

Recognized in other
comprehensive income

2,067
481
–
(78)
2,470

$

–
1,042
29
290
1,361
1,109

$

$

$

Balance as at
December 31, 2015

–
(888)
–
–
(888)

$

–
–
19
56
75
(963)

$

$

$

5,808
4,881
874
361
11,924
730
4,890
725
1,062
7,407
4,517
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12. Investments in affiliates
The carrying value of Central 1’s investments in affiliates is as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Credential Financial Inc.
Credit Union Central of Canada
The CUMIS Group Limited
Northwest & Ethical Investments L.P.
189286 Canada Inc.

December 31, 2017
$

$

6,058
–
135,198
1,168
1,218
143,642

December 31, 2016
$

$

3,060
–
126,271
–
1,369
130,700

December 31, 2015
$

$

2,279
1,025
122,463
–
–
125,767

Investments in Credential Financial Inc. (CFI) and Northwest & Ethical Investments L.P. were classified as held for sale as at December 31, 2017 to reflect the proposed
transaction as disclosed in Note 36.

13. Other assets
(Thousands of dollars)
Investment property
Prepaid expenses
Post-employment benefits (see Note 27)
Accounts receivable and other

December 31, 2017
S

S

1,216
9,956
3,085
15,636
29,893

December 31, 2016
$

$

1,323
6,334
2,624
6,545
16,826

December 31, 2015
$

$

1,431
4,581
3,306
4,472
13,790

Investment Property
(Thousands of dollars)
Carrying value, beginning balance
Transfers (see Note 9)
Depreciation
Carrying value, ending balance
Fair value

December 31, 2017
$

S

1,323
–
(107)
1,216
1,916

December 31, 2016
$

$

1,431
–
(108)
1,323
1,989

December 31, 2015
$

$

3,462
(1,789)
(242)
1,431
1,883

The fair value of Central 1’s investment property has been arrived at based on the internal and external market information of similar properties at the end of each reporting
period.
Central 1 earns rental income on its investment property. The terms of existing lease agreements range between one and ten years. The lessees do not have an option to
purchase the property on the expiry of the lease period.

Jump to table of contents

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Central 1 Credit Union Annual Report 2017 | 99

Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

14. Deposits
The contractual maturity dates of deposits designated as trading are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Amounts
Due within three months
Due after three months and within one year
Due after one year and within five years
Due after five years
Accrued interest
Amortized cost
Fair value

December 31, 2017

$

$
$

1,788,615
1,704,206
5,103,429
350
8,596,600
44,622
8,641,222
8,561,503

December 31, 2016

$

$
$

2,045,759
1,224,746
5,355,907
600
8,627,012
37,386
8,664,398
8,659,505

December 31, 2015

$

$
$

1,987,607
1,620,371
3,858,176
11,970
7,478,124
33,641
7,511,765
7,546,745

Deposits held at amortized cost are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Amounts
Due on demand
Due within three months
Due after three months and within one year
Due after one year and within five years

December 31, 2017

$

Due after five years
Accrued interest
Amortized cost

1,577,881
79,739
805,077
968,315

December 31, 2016

$

–
3,431,012
$

5,880
3,436,892

1,577,567
207,585
612,645
845,647

December 31, 2015

$

–
3,243,444
$

7,026
3,250,470

1,371,545
431,726
922,457
510,816
1,000
3,237,544

$

12,492
3,250,036

15. Obligations related to securities sold short
(Thousands of dollars)
Amortized cost
Fair value

December 31, 2017
$
$

95,819
95,503

December 31, 2016
$
$

74,532
74,100

December 31, 2015
$
$

29,350
29,415
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16. Funding transactions
Debt securities issued
(Thousands of dollars)
Amounts
Due within three months
Due after three months and within one year
Due after one year and within five years
Accrued interest
Amortized cost
Fair value hedge adjustment1
Amortized cost

December 31, 2017

$

$

805,034
481,473
896,469
2,182,976
5,209
2,188,185
(9,535)
2,178,650

December 31, 2016

$

$

725,288
314,674
449,325
1,489,287
1,443
1,490,730
–
1,490,730

December 31, 2015

$

$

320,863
454,004
299,461
1,074,328
1,016
1,075,344
–
1,075,344

Central 1 enters into fair value hedges to hedge the risk caused by changes in interest rates. See Note 7 for detailed information on hedge accounting.

1

Central 1 has established $200.0 million of unsecured credit facilities with various financial institutions. The unsecured facilities rank equally with the outstanding notes and
deposits. As at December 31, 2017, December 31, 2016, and December 31, 2015, the amounts outstanding were $117.4 million, $81.9 million and $60.6 million, respectively.
Central 1 was authorized to issue up to $1.0 billion in short-term commercial paper and up to $1.5 billion in other borrowings which includes Central 1’s medium-term note
facility in 2017. As at December 31, 2017, a par value of $837.8 million was borrowed under the short-term commercial paper facility (December 31, 2016 - $740.7 million,
December 31, 2015 - $476.0 million) and a par value of $1,350.0 million was borrowed under the medium-term note facility (December 31, 2016 - $750.0 million, December
31, 2015 - $600.0 million). In January 2018, Central 1 has been authorized to issue other borrowings up to $1.7 billion, up from $1.5 billion in 2017.
On November 16, 2016, Central 1 issued $450.0 million principal amount of Series 13 medium-term floating rate notes due November 21, 2018. The notes bear interest
at 3-month Canadian Dollar Offering Rate (CDOR) plus 62 basis points payable quarterly on the 21st of February, May, August, and November of each year, commencing
February 21, 2018.
On March 9, 2017, Central 1 issued $400.0 million principal amount of Series 14 medium-term fixed rate notes due March 16, 2020. The notes bear interest at a fixed rate of
1.87%, payable semi-annually on the 16th of March and September of each year, commencing September 16, 2017.
On November 1, 2017, Central 1 issued $500.0 million principal amount of Series 15 medium-term fixed rate notes due November 7, 2022. The notes bear interest at a fixed
rate of 2.60%, payable semi-annually on the 7th of May and November of each year, commencing May 7, 2018.
On January 31, 2018, Central 1 issued $350.0 million principal amount of Series 16 medium-term floating rate notes due February 5, 2021. The notes bear interest at 3-month
CDOR plus 35 basis points payable and reset quarterly on the 5th of February, May, August, and November of each year, commencing May 5, 2018. The notes issued on
January 31, 2018 were not included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2017.
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Obligations under the CMB Program
Central 1 has recognized its obligations to CHT under the CMB Program at fair value in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The contractual maturity dates of
these obligations are indicated below.
(Thousands of dollars)
Amounts
Due within one year
Due after one year and within five years
Accrued interest
Amortized cost
Fair value

December 31, 2017

$

$
$

213,156
982,886
1,196,042
966
1,197,008
1,190,108

December 31, 2016

$

$
$

182,814
1,041,201
1,224,015
1,231
1,225,246
1,236,058

December 31, 2015

$

$
$

–
970,329
970,329
733
971,062
989,611

The underlying assets which are designated to offset these obligations are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Fair value
Total reinvestment assets under the CMB Program (see Note 6)
Assets recognized as securities
Fair value
Amortized cost
Assets recognized in loans
Total underlying assets designated

December 31, 2017

$

December 31, 2016

$

$

545,247
519,193
1,064,440

$
$

130,933
1,195,373

December 31, 2015

$

360,570 $
755,787
1,116,357 $

165,146
822,051
987,197

$
$

121,132 $
1,237,489 $

–
987,197

Securities under repurchase agreements
Securities under repurchase agreements are classified as other financial liabilities and recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position at amortized cost.
The following table summarizes the amount of securities under repurchase agreements outstanding at each period end:
(Thousands of dollars)
Amounts under the CMB Program
Other
Amortized cost

December 31, 2017
$
$

500,472
–
500,472

December 31, 2016
$
$

298,416
–
298,416

December 31, 2015
$
$

170,325
50,886
221,211
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17. Subordinated liabilities
The following table summarizes the amount of subordinated liabilities outstanding at each year ended:
(Thousands of dollars)
Series 3
Series 4
Series 5
Series 6
Principal amount
Discount
Accrued interest
Amortized cost

December 31, 2017
$

$

–
200,000
21,000
200,000
421,000
(1,646)
2,411
421,765

December 31, 2016
$

$

_
200,000
21,000
200,000
421,000
(1,997)
2,403
421,406

December 31, 2015
$

$

18,000
200,000
–
–
218,000
(824)
1,071
218,247

On July 6, 2011, Central 1 issued $18.0 million principal amount of Series 3 subordinated notes due July 6, 2021. The notes bore interest at a floating rate based on 90day Bankers’ Acceptance plus 10 basis points, payable quarterly until July 6, 2016, and Central 1 had the option to redeem the outstanding notes in whole or in part on or
after July 6, 2016, subject to regulatory approval. Central 1 received regulatory approval and exercised the option to fully redeem $18.0 million of Tier 2 qualifying Series 3
subordinated debt on July 6, 2016. This redemption was replaced by $21.0 million of new Tier 2 qualifying Series 5 subordinated debt further discussed below.
On April 25, 2014, Central 1 issued $200.0 million principal amount of Series 4 subordinated notes due April 25, 2024. The notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 2.89%,
payable semi-annually, until, but excluding April 25, 2019, and thereafter at a floating rate based on 90-day Bankers’ Acceptance plus 81 basis points, payable quarterly.
Central 1 has the option to redeem the notes on or after April 25, 2019, subject to regulatory approval.
On July 6, 2016, Central 1 issued $21.0 million principal amount of Series 5 subordinated notes due July 6, 2026. The notes bear interest at a floating rate based on 90-day
Bankers’ Acceptance plus 10 basis points, payable quarterly until July 6, 2021, and Central 1 has the option to redeem the outstanding notes in whole or in part on or after
July 6, 2021, subject to regulatory approval.
On October 14, 2016, Central 1 issued $200.0 million principal amount of Series 6 subordinated notes due October 14, 2026. The notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.06%,
payable semi-annually, until, but excluding October 14, 2021, and thereafter at a floating rate based on 90-day Bankers’ Acceptance plus 198 basis points, payable quarterly.
Central 1 has the option to redeem the notes on or after October 14, 2021, subject to regulatory approval.
The notes are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position at amortized cost.
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18. Provisions
Central 1 maintains provisions for unpaid insurance claims as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)

December 31, 2017

Balance at beginning of year
Claims incurred
Claims paid
Balance at end of year

$

1,688
1,025
(859)
1,854

$

December 31, 2016
$

1,882
828
(1,022)
1,688

$

December 31, 2015
$

2,958
204
(1,280)
1,882

$

As at year-end, the impact of a 1.0% increase in the expected net loss ratio would have less than a 1.0% impact on Central 1’s profit for the year and Central 1’s equity as at
year-end.

19. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The following table summarizes the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017:
Non-cash changes
(Thousands of dollars)
Debt securities issued
Obligations under the CMB Program
Subordinated liabilities
Securities under repurchase agreements
Dividends payable

December 31, 2016
$

$

1,490,730
1,236,058
421,406
298,416
13,580
3,460,190

Cash flow changes
$

$

693,689
(28,176)
–
201,872
(18,580)
848,805

Fair value changes
$

$

–
(17,712)
–
–
–
(17,712)

Other
$

$

December 31, 2017

(5,769)
(62)
359
184
23,129
17,841

$

$

2,178,650
1,190,108
421,765
500,472
18,129
4,309,124

20. Other liabilities
(Thousands of dollars)
Post-employment benefits (see Note 27)
Short-term employee benefits
Dividends payable (see Note 21)
Unearned insurance premiums
Accounts payable and other

December 31, 2017
$

$

22,503
6,548
18,129
1,138
17,967
66,285

December 31, 2016
$

$

23,625
7,416
13,580
1,325
12,417
58,363

December 31, 2015
$

$

22,828
5,449
14,428
1,343
12,334
56,382
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21. Share capital
Central 1 may issue an unlimited number of Class “A”, “B”, “C”, “D”, and “E” shares and may, at its option and with the approval of the Board of Directors, redeem its shares.
There are no restrictions on the number of shares that may be held by a member shareholder. The holders of each class of share are entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time. The Class “A”, “B”, “C”, and “D” shares have a par value of $1 per share, and the Class E shares have a par value of $0.01 per share and a redemption value of
$100 per share.
The allocation of Class A shares is based on the assets of each credit union in proportion to the combined assets of the British Columbia credit union network and the Ontario
credit union network. This allocation is adjusted periodically to reflect changes in credit union assets. On matters concerning Central 1’s role as a trade association, Class A
members are entitled to one vote for every 100 of their members. Each Class B or C shareholder has one vote on certain issues.
Central 1 may issue an unlimited number of Class F shares and may redeem its shares at its option with the approval of the Board of Directors. The shares will be issued to
Class A members in proportion to their share of mandatory deposits with Central 1. The holders of these shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time.
The shares have a par value of $1 per share.
In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Central 1, the holders of Class F shares will be entitled to receive a pro rata distribution from the available property
and assets of Central 1 contained in or designated by the Board of Directors to be a part of the Mandatory Liquidity Pool (MLP) together with all declared and unpaid
dividends. Any surplus, after the distribution to the holders of Class F shares, shall be distributed rateably and proportionally among the holders of Class A, B, C, D, and E
shares according to the number of shares held at that time. The amount paid to a member in respect of each Class E share held by that member shall not exceed $100 per
Class E share.
The numbers of shares issued are as follows:
(Thousands of shares)
Class A – credit unions
Balance at beginning of year
Issued during the year
Redeemed during the year
Balance at end of year
Class B – co-operatives
Balance at beginning and end of year
Class C – other
Balance at beginning and end of year
Class E – credit unions
Balance at beginning of year
Redeemed during the year
Balance at end of year
Class E – treasury shares
Balance at beginning of year
Reaquired during the year
Balance at end of year

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

416,952
41,149
(30,000)
428,101

370,952
46,000
–
416,952

333,074
38,000
(122)
370,952

5

5

5

7

7

7

3,157
(106)
3,051

3,157
–
3,157

3,158
(1)
3,157

–
44
44

–
–
–

–
–
–
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The amounts outstanding are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Outstanding $1 par value shares
Class A – credit unions
Class B – cooperatives
Class C – other
Outstanding $0.01 par value shares
Class E – credit unions

December 31, 2017

$

$

428,101
5
7
30
428,143

December 31, 2016

$

$

416,952
5
7
32
416,996

December 31, 2015

$

$

370,952
5
7
32
370,996

There were no Class F shares issued or outstanding as of December 31, 2017.
The dividend amounts are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Dividend payable, balance at beginning of year
Declared during the year
Paid during the year
Dividend payable, balance at end of year

December 31, 2017
$

$

13,580
23,129
(18,580)
18,129

December 31, 2016
$

$

14,428
13,580
(14,428)
13,580

December 31, 2015
$

$

22,448
14,428
(22,448)
14,428

22. Gain (loss) on disposal of financial instruments
The components of gain on disposal of financial instruments are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Net gain (loss) on disposal of trading assets
Net gain on disposal of investment securities
Net loss on disposal of obligations under the CMB Program
Net loss on disposal of derivative instruments
Net loss on disposal of deposits
Net gain (loss) on disposal of obligations related to securities sold short

December 31, 2017
$

$

(21,323)
8,739
–
(20,744)
(3,326)
2,024
(34,630)

December 31, 2016
$

$

19,955
5,773
(1,320)
(11,406)
(5,778)
950
8,174

December 31, 2015
$

$

33,188
16,639
(115)
(36,636)
(4,344)
(6,621)
2,111
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23. Change in fair value of financial instruments
(Thousands of dollars)
Trading assets
Loans
Activities under the CMB Program
Reinvestment assets
Derivative instruments
Obligations under the CMB Program
Derivative instruments
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Deposits designated as trading
Obligations related to securities sold short

December 31, 2017
$

$

(59,328)
(294)

December 31, 2016
$

(45,879)
379

December 31, 2015
$

8,645
–

(3,432)
3,379
17,712
22,139

827
(542)
7,737
8,857

535
5,433
(10,650)
30,523

74,827
(117)
54,886

39,873
495
11,747

(12,531)
854
22,809

$

$

24. Other income
(Thousands of dollars)
Mandatory Liquidity Pool
Wholesale Financial Services
Lending fees
Securitization fees
Foreign exchange income
Other
Digital & Payment Services
Payment processing and other fees
Digital banking fees
Dues Funded Activities
Other
Equity interest in affiliates
Income from investees
Litigation settlement
Other

December 31, 2017
$

$

(381)

December 31, 2016
$

(32)

December 31, 2015
$

8

6,364
7,380
5,871
7,365

5,630
6,928
6,041
7,585

4,690
5,004
5,892
8,001

53,721
31,772
11,787

53,002
30,509
12,009

50,613
28,837
13,414

14,409
3,741
1,135
6,725
149,889

7,965
4,957
–
5,905
140,499

6,666
4,120
7,735
5,726
140,706

$

$

During 2015, an agreement was reached to settle a legal action brought by Central 1 and other claimants. Central 1 received $1.1 million as the final settlement of this
litigation in 2017.
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25. Other administrative expenses
(Thousands of dollars)
Cost of sales and services
Cost of payments processing
Management information systems
Professional fees
Membership dues
Business development projects
Other

December 31, 2017
$

$

13,893
17,613
13,925
22,671
6,292
1,156
3,710
79,260

December 31, 2016
$

$

13,918
15,541
9,500
10,455
5,535
1,603
3,570
60,122

December 31, 2015
$

$

15,326
15,341
6,913
5,433
5,001
1,246
3,712
52,972

26. Provision for income taxes
Income taxes reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Provision for income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Profit
Income tax benefit related to dividends accrued and reacquisition of Class E shares

December 31, 2017
$
$

10,321
(6,635)
3,686

December 31, 2016
$
$

9,305
(2,507)
6,798

December 31, 2015
$
$

8.963
(2,387)
6,576

Components of income taxes recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Profit are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Current income taxes
Deferred income taxes (recoveries)

December 31, 2017
$
$

7,612
2,709
10,321

December 31, 2016
$
$

378
8,927
9,305

December 31, 2015
$
$

10,072
(1,109)
8,963

Central 1’s effective tax rate differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the federal and provincial statutory rates of 26.1% (December 31, 2016 - 26.1%,
December 31, 2015 - 26.1%).
The federal deduction available to credit unions which provides access to a lower income tax rate for income that is not eligible for the small business deduction has been
phased out completely in 2017. The impact of phasing out the deduction will be partially mitigated by the availability of a general rate reduction. The B.C. credit union
deduction has been fully re-established in October 2017 and is effective for 2017.
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December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

%
26.1
(8.7)
–
(2.9)
(0.3)
3.3
17.5

%
26.1
(7.6)
(1.5)
(1.9)
(0.7)
(0.4)
14.0

%
26.1
(9.8)
(0.5)
(1.3)
–
0.1
14.6

Combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rates
Credit union deduction
Tax credits
Rate differential on equity interests in affiliates
Change in estimated future tax rates on deferred tax balances
Other
Total

27. Post-employment benefits
Central 1 provides various registered retirement plans for employees including defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans. A non-registered supplemental pension
plan is also provided to eligible employees whose registered pension plan benefits are limited by the Income Tax Act. In addition to providing retirement plans, Central 1 also
funds a non-pension retiree benefits plan for eligible employees.

(a) Defined benefit plans
Subject to eligibility requirements, employees of Central 1 may be eligible to participate in one of the following defined benefit plans.
•• The defined benefit plan under the B.C. Credit Union Employees’ Pension Plan, which is a multi-employer plan governed by a Board of Trustees; and
•• The single-employer defined benefit plan administered by Central 1 for certain Ontario-based employees.
The defined benefit pension plans are contributory and provide pension benefits based on the employee’s years of service and average earnings for a limited period prior
to retirement. The plan is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan governed by a 12-member Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees is responsible for
overseeing the management of the plan, including investment of the assets and administration of the benefits. Central 1 is one of several employers participating in the 1.75%
Division of the B.C. Credit Union Employees’ Pension Plan.
Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the multi-employer plan, the adequacy of the funding level, and to determine the
present value of accrued pension benefits and recommended plan contributions based on projections of the employees’ average compensation levels at retirement. The most
recent actuarial valuation for the multi-employer plan, which was conducted as at December 31, 2015, indicated a going concern unfunded liability in the 1.75% Division of
$25.1 million (December 31, 2012 - $32.3 million) and a solvency deficiency of $123.0 million (December 31, 2012 - $129.9 million). The deficit is targeted to be financed
over time through increased contributions. The recommended minimum required employer contributions to the 1.75% Division has increased from 14.8% as of October 1,
2013 to 15.05% starting from January 1, 2017.
As this is a multi-employer plan, the assets and liabilities are pooled and the actuary does not determine an individual employer’s own unfunded liability. It is not possible to
determine the portion of the deficit related to Central 1.
The next actuarial valuation for the multi-employer plan should be performed no later than as at December 31, 2018 with results available in 2019.
The defined benefit pension option under the B.C. Credit Union Employees’ Pension Plan is subject to the provisions under Pension Benefits Standards Act (the Act) regulated
by Financial Institution Commission of British Columbia (FICOM). The Act prescribes that, with respect to a solvency deficiency, amortization payments must be made over a
period not exceeding five years from the review date that established the solvency deficiency.
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On October 24, 2016, FICOM amended its regulations to implement two new solvency funding relief measures for pension plans with a defined benefit component:
•• Solvency deficiency payments may be made over a ten-year period commencing on the review date, rather than the regular five-year amortization period.
•• All existing solvency deficiencies may be consolidated into one new solvency deficiency as at the review date.
The single-employer plan is registered under the Ontario Pension Benefits Act and administered by Central 1 which is responsible over matters affecting the benefit
entitlements earned by plan members and beneficiaries. As at December 31, 2016, the actuary reported that the single-employer plan had an excess of plan assets over
actuarial liabilities for accrued pension benefits of $3.9 million. The solvency valuation indicated that the value of assets exceeds the actuarial liabilities by $1.6 million.
Since both the going-concern excess surplus and the solvency surplus exceed the estimated employer normal cost contributions payable, Central 1 is prohibited from making
contributions under the defined benefit component under the defined benefit component until the date of the next valuation. The next actuarial valuation is expected to be
performed no later than as at December 31, 2019.
Details of the single-employer defined benefit plan, as determined by the plan actuary as at year-end are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Net defined benefit asset
Defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year
Current service costs
Employee contributions
Interest cost on accrued benefit obligation
Past service cost (including curtailment)
Benefit payments
Actuarial loss
Defined benefit obligation, end of year
Fair value of plan assets
Plan assets, beginning of year
Employee contributions
Interest income on plan assets
Excess (shortfall) of actual returns on plan assets, excluding interest income
Benefit payments
Administration costs (other than costs from managing plan assets)
Plan assets, end of year
Expense recognized in profit or loss
Current service costs
Administration costs (other than costs from managing plan assets)
Past service cost (including curtailment)
Interest cost on accrued benefit obligation
Interest income on plan assets

December 31, 2017
$
$

$

$

$

$

$

$

(13,914)
16,999
3,085

December 31, 2015

December 31, 2016
$
$

(13,423)
(176)
(55)
(501)
–
599
(358)
(13,914)

$

16,047
55
592
969
(599)
(65)
16,999

$

176
65
–
501
(592)
150

$

$

$

$

(13,423)
16,047
2,624

$
$

(12,799)
(179)
(60)
(510)
–
555
(430)
(13,423)

$

16,105
60
634
(148)
(555)
(49)
16,047

$

179
49
–
510
(634)
104

$

$

$

$

(12,799)
16,105
3,306

(11,805)
(198)
(68)
(472)
(814)
558
–
(12,799)

15,091
68
594
961
(558)
(51)
16,105

198
51
814
472
(594)
941
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(Thousands of dollars)
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI)
Actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit obligation
Actuarial gain (loss) on plan assets

December 31, 2017

$

(358)
969
611

$

December 31, 2015

December 31, 2016

$

(430)
(148)
(578)

$

$
$

–
961
961

Actuarial assumptions used to determine defined benefit expense:
Weighted average discount rate on benefit obligation
Weighted average salary escalation
Expected return on plan assets

3.75%
2.85%
3.50%

4.00%
3.00%
3.75%

4.00%
3.00%
4.00%

Actuarial assumptions used to determine accumulated benefit obligation:
Weighted average discount rate on benefit obligation
Weighted average salary escalation
Expected return on plan assets

3.50%
2.85%
3.75%

3.75%
3.00%
3.75%

4.00%
3.00%
4.00%

Sensitivity of assumptions
Key economic assumptions used in measuring the accumulated benefit obligations and related expenses for the defined benefit option are outlined in the table below. The
sensitivity analysis provided is hypothetical as changes in assumptions may not be linear and the sensitivities in each key variable have been calculated independently of the
other key variables.
Accumulated benefit
obligation

(Thousands of dollars)
Assumed discount rate
Impact of 1% increase
Impact of 1% decrease
Weighted average salary escalation
Impact of 1% increase
Impact of 1% decrease

2017 expense

$
$

1,675
(2,070)

$
$

20
(20)

$
$

(377)
334

$
$

28
(25)

(b) Defined contribution plans
Subject to eligibility requirements, employees of Central 1 may be eligible to participate in one of the following defined contribution plans.
•• The money purchase option under the B.C. Credit Union Employees’ Pension Plan, which is a multi-employer plan governed by a Board of Trustees;
•• The single-employer money purchase option administered by Central 1 operated for Ontario employees; and
•• The group registered retirement savings plan under the B.C. Central 1 Retirement Savings Plan (group RRSP).
Contributions for defined contribution plan and expense for group RRSP included in the Consolidated Statements of Profit were $2.4 million (December 31, 2016 - $2.2 million;
December 31, 2015 - $2.0 million).
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(c) Retiree non-pension benefits
In addition to the base retirement plans, Central 1 provides post-retirement benefits consisting of extended health, Medical Services Plan, dental and life insurance premiums
to employees that qualify.
Details of the unfunded non-pension retirement benefit program, as determined by the program actuary as at year-end, are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Defined benefit obligation
Net defined benefit liability
Defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year
Current service costs
Interest cost on accrued benefit obligation
Benefit payments
Actuarial liability experience gain (loss)
Actuarial liability financial assumptions loss
Defined benefit obligation, end of year
Expense recognized in profit or loss
Current service costs
Interest cost on accrued benefit obligation

Amounts recognized in OCI
Actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit obligation

Actuarial assumptions used to determine retiree non-pension benefit expense:
Weighted average discount rate on benefit obligation
Actuarial assumptions used to determine accumulated benefit obligation:
Weighted average discount rate on benefit obligation
Health care cost trend assumptions:
Health care cost trend rate on benefit obligation
Ultimate trend rate on benefit obligation
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2015

December 31, 2016

$
$

(17,413)
(17,413)

$
$

(18,397)
(18,397)

$
$

(17,369)
(17,369)

$

(18,397)
(294)
(732)
544
2,657
(1,191)
(17,413)

$

(17,369)
(329)
(695)
418
(398)
(24)
(18,397)

$

(18,990)
(533)
(740)
381
2,530
(17)
(17,369)

$

$
$

294
732
1,026

$

1,466

$

$

$

$

329
695
1,024

$
$

533
740
1,273

$

(422)

$

2,513

3.50%

4.00%

4.00%

3.50%

4.00%

4.00%

8.00%
5.00%
2024

8.00%
5.00%
2023

8.00%
5.00%
2022
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Sensitivity of assumptions
Key economic assumptions used in measuring the accumulated benefit obligations and related expenses for non-pension retiree benefits are outlined in the table below. The
sensitivity analysis provided is hypothetical as changes in assumptions may not be linear and the sensitivities in each key variable have been calculated independently of the
other key variables.
Accumulated benefit
obligation

(Thousands of dollars)
Assumed discount rate
Impact of 1% increase
Impact of 1% decrease
Assumed overall health care cost trend rate
Impact of 1% increase
Impact of 1% decrease

2017 expense

$
$

(1,883)
2,402

$
$

12
(15)

$
$

(253)
222

$
$

5
(10)

(d) Non-registered supplemental pension plan
Central 1 also offers supplemental pension retirement benefits to employees who qualify.
Details of the unfunded supplemental pension plan, as determined by the plan actuary as at year-end, are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Net defined benefit liability
Defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year
Current service costs
Interest cost on accrued benefit obligation
Benefit payments
Actuarial gain (loss)
Defined benefit obligation, end of year
Expense recognized in profit or loss
Current service costs
Interest cost on accrued benefit obligation

Amounts recognized in OCI
Actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit obligation
Prior year adjustment

December 31, 2017
$
$

$

$

$
$

$
$

(5,273)
183
(5,090)

$

(5,362)
(77)
(206)
561
(189)
(5,273)

$

77
206
283

$

(189)
–
(189)

December 31, 2015

December 31, 2016

$

$

$

$
$

(5,362)
134
(5,228)

$

(5,560)
(92)
(213)
605
(102)
(5,362)

$

92
213
305

$

(102)
–
(102)

$

$

$

$
$

(5,560)
101
(5,459)

(6,769)
(149)
(241)
550
1,049
(5,560)

149
241
390

437
612
1,049
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Actuarial assumptions used to determine retiree non-pension benefit expense:
Weighted average salary escalation
Weighted average discount rate on benefit obligation

3.00%
3.50%

3.00%
4.00%

3.00%
4.00%

Actuarial assumptions used to determine accumulated benefit obligation:
Weighted average salary escalation
Weighted average discount rate on benefit obligation

3.00%
3.50%

3.00%
4.00%

3.00%
4.00%

Sensitivity of assumptions
(Thousands of dollars)
Assumed discount rate
Impact of 1% increase
Impact of 1% decrease

Accumulated benefit obligation
$
$

(445)
537

(e) Risks
The defined benefit plans and other post-employment plans expose Central 1 to a number of risks. The pension obligation is mainly impacted by the changes to the discount
rate, longevity of plan members and future inflation levels. The pension plan assets are subject to market risk resulting from changes in interest rate, foreign exchange rates
and credit and swap spreads.

28. Segment information
For management reporting purposes, Central 1’s operations and activities are organized around three key business segments: MLP, Wholesale Financial Services (WFS), and
Digital & Payment Services. In addition, Central 1 offers a variety of additional services that are funded by membership dues. All other activities or transactions are reported
in “Other”.
A description of each business segment is as follows:

Mandatory Liquidity Pool
The MLP is responsible for providing extraordinary liquidity to the credit union networks in the event of a liquidity crisis. The MLP is funded by the mandatory deposits of, and
associated capital from, member credit unions, either by liquidity lock-in agreement or by statute. Central 1 manages the MLP within the regulatory constraints and leverages
its economies of scale to reduce costs associated with the MLP. Assets held in the MLP remain highly liquid in order to ensure immediate access to funds. Members receive
interest on their deposits and dividends on Class A shares which in aggregate equals to the return on the liquidity portfolio after expenses.

Wholesale Financial Services
WFS supports the structural and tactical liquidity needs of member credit unions in pursuit of regular, day-to-day business objectives. The segment is funded by Class A
members’ non-mandatory deposits augmented by capital market funding and deposits from non-Class A members.
WFS fosters the credit union network’s growth through supporting the financial needs of member credit unions. Many of the products and services that this business segment
provides, including credit union lending and access to securitization vehicles, allows members to take advantage of Central 1’s strong financial ratings, industry expertise
and access to the capital markets for short-term and long-term funding. WFS also supports the short-term liquidity requirement for the Digital & Payment Services segment.
Central 1 provides foreign exchange services, derivative capabilities and other ancillary treasury services under the WFS segment.
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The WFS segment includes the Group Clearer settlement operations function as
Central 1 is a Group Clearer under the rules of Payments Canada, a Large Value
Transfer System (LVTS) participant, and acts as the credit union networks’ financial
institution connection to the Canadian payments system.
With a focus on expanding our markets, solidifying our funding and providing
holistic and proactive solutions to our members and clients, Central 1 reorganized
its Trade Services functions in September 2017 and moved a number of functions
into WFS, including risk solutions and product compliance & design. Comparative
information has been restated to reflect this change.

Digital & Payment Services
Digital & Payment Services develops and operates innovative digital banking
technologies and payment processing transactions for member credit unions,
financial institutions and other corporate clients. This segment offers MemberDirect®
services, a multi-platform solution that allows member credit unions to offer a
variety of digital banking services to their individual customers through their online
banking platform. The products and services offered through MemberDirect®
help credit unions attract new members, deepen their relationships with existing
members and support them in delivering high quality member services.
Payments operations encompass processing paper items and electronic transactions
such as automated funds transfer and bill payments on behalf of member credit
unions. The payment processing solutions under the PaymentStreamTM brand
are secure and reliable tools that allow financial and corporate-sector clients to
complete a variety of digital, paper and remittance transactions. They also provide
cash management services, including automated funds transfers, bill payments and
wire transfers.

Dues Funded Activities
As a trade association, Central 1’s services to its members include operational
support, marketing, economics, market research and creative services,
communications, strategic and people solutions tailored to the needs of member
credit unions. These value-added services give member credit unions access to a
wealth of expertise, while remaining affordable through economies of scale.

Other
Other segment comprises enterprise level activities which are not allocated
to the three core business segments and dues funded activities, including the
costs of implementing strategic initiatives and exploring strategic alternatives to
enhance the ability to support credit unions in the future. The costs of Corporate

Support functions are also included in Other and are attributed to business lines
as appropriate. Central 1’s investments in equity shares of network-related entities
other than the wholly owned subsidiaries as described in Note 35, together with
consolidation adjustments, corporate level tax items and other assets and liabilities
not allocated to the three core business segments and dues funded activities, are
also included in the Other segment.

Management reporting framework
Central 1’s management reporting framework is intended to measure the
performance of each business segment as if it were a stand-alone business and
reflects the way the business segments are managed. This approach is intended
to ensure that the business segments’ results reflect all relevant revenue and
expenses associated with the conduct of their businesses. Management regularly
monitors these segments’ results for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. These items do not impact the
consolidated results.
The expenses in each business segment may include cost of services incurred
directly as well as attributed corporate costs. For costs not directly attributable
to one of the business segments, a management reporting framework that uses
assumptions, estimates and judgements for allocating overhead costs and indirect
expenses to each of the business segments is used. The management reporting
framework assists in the attribution of capital and the transfer pricing of funds to
the business segments in a manner that fairly and consistently measures and aligns
the economic costs with the underlying benefits and risks of that specific business
segment. Central 1’s capital plan allows for tactical capital allocations within all
segments. Central 1 does not have any inter-segment revenue between business
segments. Income tax provision or recovery is generally applied to each segment
based on a statutory tax rate and may be adjusted for items and activities unique to
each segment. All other corporate level activities that are not allocated to the three
core business segments and dues funded activities are reported under the Other
segment.
Basis of presentation
The accounting policies used to prepare these segments are consistent with those
followed in the preparation of Central 1’s Consolidated Financial Statements as
described in Note 3.
Periodically, certain business lines and units are transferred among business
segments to closely align Central 1’s organizational structure with its strategic
priorities. Results for prior periods are restated to conform to the current period
presentation.
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Results by segment
The following table summarizes the segment results for the year ended December 31, 2017:

(Thousands of dollars)
Net financial income (expense), including recovery of credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Profit (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (recoveries)
Profit (loss) for the period
Total assets at December 31, 2017
Total liabilities at December 31, 2017
Total equity attributable to members of Central 1 at December 31, 2017
Non-controlling interest at December 31, 2017
Total equity at December 31, 2017

Wholesale
Financial
Services

Mandatory
Liquidity Pool
$

$
$
$
$
$

26,555 $
(381)
26,174
8,045
18,129
3,154
14,975 $
8,600,303
8,078,455
521,848
–
521,848

$
$
$
$

51,536
26,980
78,516
25,971
52,545
10,006
42,539
9,178,135
8,731,281
436,766
10,088
446,854

Digital &
Payment
Services
$

$
$
$
$
$

(292)
85,493
85,201
84,763
438
71
367
21,496
(1,108)
22,604
–
22,604

Dues Funded
Activities
$

$
$
$
$
$

–
11,787
11,787
11,240
547
88
459
–
(459)
459
–
459

Other
$

$
$
$
$
$

(4,234)
26,010
21,776
34,470
(12,694)
(2,998)
(9,696)
268,966
141,610
127,356
–
127,356

Total
$

$
$
$
$
$

73,565
149,889
223,454
164,489
58,965
10,321
48,644
18,068,900
16,949,779
1,109,033
10,088
1,119,121

The following table summarizes the segment results for the year ended December 31, 2016:

Mandatory
Liquidity Pool

(Thousands of dollars)
Net financial income (expense), including recovery of credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Profit (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (recoveries)
Profit (loss) for the period

$

Total assets at December 31, 2016
Total liabilities at December 31, 2016
Total equity attributable to members of Central 1 at December 31, 2016
Non-controlling interest at December 31, 2016
Total equity at December 31, 2016

Wholesale
Financial
Services

Digital &
Payment
Services

21,159 $
(32)
21,127
7,547
13,580
2,507
11,073 $

50,719
26,184
76,903
25,586
51,317
9,465
41,852

$

$
$
$

8,251,282 $
7,746,384 $
504,898 $
–

8,817,909
8,327,314
480,552
10,043

$

504,898 $

490,595

$

Dues Funded
Activities

(255)
83,511
83,256
74,452
8,804
1,625
7,179

$

$
$
$

10,480
(11,758)
22,238
–

$

22,238

$

Other

–
12,010
12,010
12,396
(386)
(71)
(315)

$

$
$
$

–
315
(315)
–

$

(315)

$

Total

(4,180)
18,826
14,646
21,616
(6,970)
(4,221)
(2,749)

$

$
$
$

234,348
166,889
67,459
–

$
$
$

17,314,019
16,229,144
1,074,832
10,043

$

67,459

$

1,084,875

$

$

67,443
140,499
207,942
141,597
66,345
9,305
57,040
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The following table summarizes the segment results for the year ended December 31, 2015:
Wholesale
Financial
Services

Mandatory
Liquidity Pool

(Thousands of dollars)
Net financial income (expense), including recovery of credit losses
Other income
Net financial and other income
Operating expenses
Profit (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (recoveries)
Profit (loss) for the period

$

Total assets at December 31, 2015
Total liabilities at December 31, 2015
Total equity attributable to members of Central 1 at December 31, 2015
Non-controlling interest at December 31, 2015
Total equity at December 31, 2015

$
$
$

$

$

21,405 $
8
21,413
6,985
14,428
2,365
12,063 $
7,536,163
7,081,608
454,555
–
454,555

$
$
$
$

Digital &
Payment
Services

33,311
23,587
56,898
25,098
31,800
5,212
26,588

$

7,182,102
6,719,827
452,316
9,959
462,275

$
$
$

$

$

Dues Funded
Activities

(242)
79,450
79,208
70,320
8,888
1,563
7,325

$

2,208
(42,136)
44,344
–
44,344

$
$
$

$

$

Other

–
13,414
13,414
13,778
(364)
(60)
(304)

$

–
304
(304)
–
(304)

$
$
$

$

$

Total

(4,320)
24,247
19,927
13,366
6,561
(117)
6,678

$

228,545
200,395
28,150
–
28,150

$
$
$

$

$

50,154
140,706
190,860
129,547
61,313
8,963
52,350
14,949,018
13,959,998
979,061
9,959
989,020

29. Guarantees, commitments and contingencies
Central 1 is a Group Clearer under the rules of Payments Canada and acts as the credit union networks’ financial institution connection to the Canadian payments system.
Pursuant to a joint venture agreement, Central 1 provides payment services to the credit union centrals of Alberta, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan (collectively, the Prairie
Centrals). Central 1 guarantees payment of items drawn on or payable by the Prairie Centrals and their member credit unions. Each of the Prairie Centrals in return provides
Central 1 with a guarantee for those payments.
In the normal course of business, Central 1 enters into various off-balance sheet credit instruments to meet the financing, credit and liquidity requirements of its member
credit unions. These are in the form of commitments to extend credit, guarantees, standby letters of credit, and mortgage purchase commitment.
The table below presents the maximum amount of credit that Central 1 could be required to extend if commitments were to be fully utilized, and the maximum amount of
guarantees that could be in effect if the maximum authorized amount were transacted.
(Thousands of dollars)
Commitments to extend credit
Guarantees
Financial guarantees
Performance guarantees
Standby letters of credit
Mortgage purchase commitment
Future prepayment swap reinvestment commitment

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

$

4,327,871

$

4,447,323

$

3,857,075

$
$
$
$
$

367,500
810,000
187,910
–
770,314

$
$
$
$
$

390,000
440,000
173,502
–
431,516

$
$
$
$
$

347,000
340,000
145,392
16,066
–
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Amounts utilized under these agreements representing off-balance sheet amounts for commitments to extend credit, guarantees, and standby letter of credit, were $17.4
million, $455.3 million and $102.8 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016 - $13.5 million, $273.1 million and $103.0 million; December 31, 2015 $29.6 million, $313.5 million and $86.7 million).
Central 1 is also involved in legal actions in the ordinary course of business, in which the likelihood of a loss and amount of loss, if any, is not readily determinable.
In September 2016, Central 1 has made a commitment to support the capital call from CFI, an affiliate of Central 1 as disclosed in Note 35. This commitment requires Central
1 to subscribe for additional Class B shares of CFI, which will require Central 1 to contribute up to $4.7 million to be funded over the next three years, of which $1.8 million
was contributed in January 2017. Central 1 has also committed to contribute up to $2.4 million to The CUMIS Group Ltd. (CUMIS), another affiliate of Central 1 as disclosed in
Note 35. This contribution represents Central 1’s share of CUMIS subscription in Class A shares of CFI over a period of three years. As at December 31, 2017, Central 1 had not
received any request from CUMIS and CFI to make such contribution.

Pledged assets
In the normal course of business, Central 1 pledges securities and other assets as collateral. A breakdown of encumbered assets pledged as collateral is provided in the
following table. These transactions are conducted in accordance with standards terms and conditions for such transactions.
(Thousands of dollars)
Assets pledged to Bank of Canada & Direct
Clearing Organizations(1) (2)
Assets pledged in relation to:
Derivative financial instrument transactions
Securities lending
Obligations under the CMB Program
Reinvestment assets under the CMB Program
Securities under repurchase agreements

1

December 31, 2017

$

57,206

$

19,828
10,496
604,105
545,247
500,472
1,737,354

December 31, 2016

$

54,122

$

9,109
35,552
851,456
360,570
298,416
1,609,225

December 31, 2015

$

56,653

$

17,787
100,759
824,951
165,146
221,174
1,386,470

Includes assets pledged as collateral for LVTS activities.
Central 1 also acts as a Group Clearer on behalf of certain other credit union centrals. These centrals are required to pledge securities in respect of their LVTS settlements. Central 1 administers the collateral on their behalf.

2

30. Commitments under leasing agreements
Central 1 as lessee - finance leases
Finance leases relate to computer equipment with lease terms of 36 months. Central 1 has options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount upon completion of an
optional 13-month lease extension. Central 1 has the right to return leased assets at the conclusion of the lease term or continue to rent them at the same monthly rate on a
month-to-month basis. Central 1’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets.
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Future minimum lease payments are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Due within one year
Due after one year and within three years

December 31, 2017
$

837
770
1,607

$

December 31, 2016
$

702
631
1,333

$

December 31, 2015
$

581
520
1,101

$

Central 1 as lessor - operating leases
Central 1 leases office premises in two locations. Future minimum operating lease commitments are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Due within one year
Due after one year and within five years
Due after five years

December 31, 2017
$

$

1,049
3,509
1,420
5,978

December 31, 2016
$

$

994
3,438
2,130
6,562

December 31, 2015
$

$

975
3,639
2,799
7,413

Total lease payments charged to profit for the year was $0.9 million (December 31, 2016 - $0.8 million; December 31, 2015 - $0.8 million).

31. Financial instruments – Fair value
Certain financial instruments are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position at fair value. These include derivative instruments, trading assets, investment
securities, deposits designated as trading, a portfolio of commercial loans and instruments held under the CMB Program. The fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants which takes place in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions. The fair value of financial instruments is best evidenced by unadjusted quoted prices in active markets. When there is no
quoted price in an active market, valuation techniques which maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs are used to derive
the fair value.
Financial instruments are recorded at fair value upon initial recognition, which is normally equal to the fair value of the consideration given or received. Where financial
instruments are measured at fair value subsequent to initial recognition, fair value is determined as described above. The use of valuation techniques to determine the
fair value of a financial instrument requires management to make assumptions such as the amount and timing of future cash flows, discount rates, and use of appropriate
benchmarks and spreads.

Financial instruments whose carrying value approximate fair value
Fair value is assumed to be equal to the carrying value for cash, loans due on demand classified as loans and receivables and deposits due on demand classified as other
financial liabilities because of their short-term nature.

Financial instruments for which fair value is determined using valuation techniques
The fair value of fixed rate performing loans is determined by discounting contractual cash flows at market interest rates. For both loans to and deposits with members,
Central 1 discounts the expected cash flows using interest rates currently being offered on instruments with similar terms. The fair values of debt securities issued and
subordinated debt are determined by discounting remaining cash flows by reference to current market yields on similar instruments.
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Fair value of assets and liabilities classified using the fair value hierarchy
Central 1 measures fair value using the following hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:
Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly. This category includes instruments valued using: quoted
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation
techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.
Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instruments’ valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments
where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect the differences between the instruments.
Transfers into and out of Levels 1, 2, and 3 occur when there are changes to the relevant inputs which are consistent with the characteristics of the asset or liability. Transfers
are recognized at the end of the reporting period.
The following tables present the fair value of Central 1’s assets and liabilities classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy:

(Millions of dollars)
December 31, 2017
Financial assets
Cash
Deposits with regulated financial institutions
Trading assets
Reinvestment assets under the CMB Program
Derivative assets
Loans
Investment securities
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Deposits designated as trading
Obligations related to securities sold short
Derivative liabilities
Debt securities issued
Deposits
Obligations under the CMB Program
Subordinated liabilities
Securities under repurchase agreements
Total financial liabilities
1

Level 1

$

$

$

$

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–

Level 2

$

$

–
–
8,889.7
545.0
101.8
–
5,476.2
15,012.7

$

$

8,561.5
95.5
83.9
–
–
1,190.1
–
–

9,931.0

Level 3

$

$

$

$

–
–
–
–
–
11.4
9.9
21.3

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–

Amounts at
Amortized
Cost1

Amounts at
Fair Value

$

$

$

$

–
–
8,889.7
545.0
101.8
11.4
5,486.1
15,034.0

8,561.5
95.5
83.9
–
–
1,190.1
–
–

9,931.0

$

$

$

$

550.8
6.0
–
0.2
–
2,150.7
32.1
2,739.8

–
–
–
2,178.7
3,436.9
–
421.8
500.5
6,537.9

Total Carrying
Value

$

$

$

$

550.8
6.0
8,889.7
545.2
101.8
2,162.1
5,518.2
17,773.8

8,561.5
95.5
83.9
2,178.7
3,436.9
1,190.1
421.8
500.5
16,468.9

Amounts carried at amortized cost include financial instruments classified as loans and receivables or other financial liabilities.
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There were no transfers of financial instruments between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year ended December 31, 2017.

(Millions of dollars)
December 31, 2016

Level 1

Financial assets
Financial liabilities

$
$

–
–

(Millions of dollars)
December 31, 2015

Level 2
$
$

14,794.2
10,055.4

Level 1

Financial assets
Financial liabilities

$
$

–
–

$
$

22.0
-

Level 2
$
$

12,686.0
8,696.6

Amounts at
Fair Value

Level 3
$
$

14,816.2 $
10,055.4 $

Amounts at
Fair Value

Level 3
$
$

9.3
–

$
$

12,695.3 $
8,696.6 $

Amounts at
Amortized Cost1
1,966.8
5,461.0

Total Carrying
Value
$
$

Amounts at
Amortized Cost1
1,635.8
4,764.7

16,783.0
15,516.4

Total Carrying
Value
$
$

14,331.1
13,461.3

The following tables present the change in fair value for financial instruments included in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:
Fair Value at
December 31, 2016

(Millions of dollars)
Equity shares
Loans
Total financial assets

$
$

$
$

$

9.3
–
9.3

$
$

9.2
9.2

–
–
–

Disposals
$
$

Purchases
$
$

Fair Value at
December 31, 2014

(Millions of dollars)
Equity shares
Total financial assets

$

Fair Value at
December 31, 2015

(Millions of dollars)
Equity shares
Loans
Total financial assets

9.9
12.1
22.0

Purchases

2.3
59.6
61.9

–
–

$
$

Disposals
$
$

Purchases
$
$

–
(0.3)
(0.3)

(1.7)
(47.3)
(49.0)

–
–

–
–
–

$
$

$
$

–
–
–

$
$

–
–

$
$

–
(0.2)
(0.2)

$
$

0.1
0.1

9.9
11.4
21.3

Fair Value at
December 31, 2016
$
$

Changes in fair value of
assets in profit or loss

Transfers
$
$

–
(0.4)
(0.4)

Fair Value at
December 31, 2017

Changes in fair value of
assets in profit or loss

Transfers

Disposals
$
$

Changes in fair value of
assets in profit or loss

Transfers

9.9
12.1
22.0

Fair Value at
December 31, 2015
$
$

Jump to table of contents

9.3
9.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Central 1 Credit Union Annual Report 2017 | 121

Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

The following table sets out the fair values of on-balance sheet and derivative instruments of Central 1 using the valuation methods and assumptions described in Note 4. Fair
values have not been attributed to assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments, such as property and equipment.

December
31, 2017

(Millions of dollars)
Assets
Cash

$

Deposits with regulated
financial institutions

Fair Value
December
31, 2016

Carrying Value
December
31, 2015

Unrealized Gain (Loss)
December
31, 2015

December
31, 2017

550.8 $

487.1 $

106.8 $

550.8 $

487.1 $

106.8 $

December
31, 2016

December
31, 2015

– $

– $

–

6.0

5.9

6.1

6.0

5.9

6.1

–

–

–

14,407.9

14,393.9

12,445.7

14,407.9

14,393.9

12,445.7

–

–

–

Reinvestment assets under the
CMB Program
Derivative assets
Loans

545.2
101.8
2,165.3

360.6
81.8
1,455.8

165.1
116.6
1,491.1

545.2
101.8
2,162.1

360.6
81.8
1,453.8

165.1
116.6
1,490.8

–
–
3.2

–
–
2.0

–
–
0.3

Liabilities
Deposits designated as trading

8,561.5

8,659.5

7,546.8

8,561.5

8,659.5

7,546.8

–

–

–

95.5
83.9
2,176.0
3,445.0

74.1
85.7
1,492.6
3,256.0

29.4
130.8
1,076.7
3,260.4

95.5
83.9
2,178.7
3,436.9

74.1
85.7
1,490.7
3,250.5

29.4
130.8
1,075.3
3,250.0

–
–
2.7
(8.1)

–
–
(1.9)
(5.5)

–
–
(1.4)
(10.4)

1,190.1
423.3

1,236.1
421.8

989.6
221.4

1,190.1
421.8

1,236.1
421.4

989.6
218.2

–
(1.5)

–
(0.4)

–
(3.2)

500.5

298.4

221.2

500.5

298.4

221.2

2

Obligations related to securities
sold short
Derivative liabilities
Debt securities issued
Deposits
Obligations under the CMB
Program
Subordinated liabilities
Securities under repurchase
agreements
1

1

1

Total
2

December
31, 2016

Trading assets and investment
securities

1

1

December
31,2017

$

–

–

(3.7) $

(5.8) $

–
(14.7)

Where the carrying values are at cost, the fair value calculations for these instruments are based on Level 2 inputs.
Where the carrying values are at cost, the fair value calculations for these instruments are based on Level 3 inputs.
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32. F
 inancial instruments – Risk management
The nature of Central 1’s holdings of financial instruments exposes Central 1 to
credit and counterparty, liquidity and funding, and market risk.

(a) Credit and counterparty risk
Credit and counterparty risk is the risk of loss or opportunity cost resulting from the
default or failure of a borrower, endorser, guarantor, or issuer to fulfil their financial
obligations as they come due. Central 1 incurs credit and counterparty risk through
loans, payment services, and the purchasing of credit instruments, and entering
into contracts with counterparties in return for bilateral value-exchange of services.
Central 1 has direct control over the types and amounts of credit and counterparty
risk it accepts.
In managing credit and counterparty risk exposure, Central 1 establishes policies
and procedures that include:
•• application of safe and sound, stringent lending and/or funding criteria to all
credit exposures prior to their acquisition;
•• clearly defined management and policy limits on the amount, types, and
concentrations of credit risk;
•• regular evaluation and assessment of existing credit risk exposures and
allowances; and
•• continuous monitoring of credit exposures so as to promptly identify
deteriorating situations and take appropriate action.
Information regarding Central 1’s key exposure to credit and counterparty risk is
provided in Notes 6 and 8.

(b) Liquidity and funding risk
Liquidity and funding risk is the risk for Central 1 to have the potential inability
to meet cash flows obligations in a timely manner due to an inability to generate
sufficient cash from assets or funding sources. Central 1 also provides liquidity
support to the credit union network in British Columbia and Ontario and considers
the liquidity and funding risks for each of its member credit unions as part of Central
1’s risk. Sound liquidity management by Central 1 ensures the safety of credit union
members’ deposits and the health of the credit union network.
Central 1’s liquidity management framework is designed to ensure that reliable
and cost-effective funding sources are available to satisfy current and prospective
commitments of Central 1 and its member credit unions. Diversification of
funding sources provides flexibility and minimizes concentration risk. It is a crucial
component of Central 1’s overall liquidity management strategy.

Central 1 has established a comprehensive liquidity risk framework that is comprised of:
•• a robust risk governance framework;
•• investment strategies focused on maintaining sufficient unencumbered
highly liquid assets to meet cash flow requirements in normal and stressed
conditions;
•• access to diversified funding sources – member deposits and capital markets;
•• monitoring of credit union network liquidity, performance and financial
health;
•• an enterprise Contingency Funding Plan; and
•• frequent measurement of portfolio liquidity.
Information regarding Central 1’s high quality liquid securities is provided in Note 6.
Information regarding Central 1’s derivative liabilities, funding liabilities and offbalance sheet guarantees, commitments and contingencies is provided in Notes 7,
14, 15, 16, 17, and 29.

(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from unfavourable movements in interest
rates, foreign exchange rates, and asset prices/yields. The level of market risk to
which Central 1 is exposed varies depending on market conditions, future price
and market movements and the composition of Central 1’s investment, lending and
derivative portfolios.
Central 1 manages its exposure to market risk through a range of governance and
management processes. Central 1’s policies detail the measurement of market
risk and establish exposure limits in keeping with Central 1’s overall risk appetite.
Central 1 independently monitors exposure against limits, investigates any breaches
and reports them at the appropriate level for review and action. This management
framework is complemented by a series of rigorous stress test scenarios that are run
on a regular basis.
Interest rate and credit spread risk
Central 1 regularly monitors its exposure to interest rate changes in order to assess
their potential effects on financial margin. Central 1 Corporate Risk Management
Policy defines exposure limits in relation to 1-day 99% Value at Risk (VaR). VaR
provides a dollar estimate of loss due to 1-day movements in market risk factors at
the 99% level. Interest rate VaR includes movements in sovereign and swap interest
rate curves. Credit Spread VaR measures the loss associated with changes in credit
spreads within the portfolio – CMB, Provincial, Bank and Corporate spreads. Central
1’s exposure was largely due to potential movements in credit spreads, specifically
widening credit spreads.
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Foreign exchange rate risk
Central 1 has assets and liabilities denominated in several major currencies and buys foreign currencies from, and sells these currencies to its member credit unions. The risk
associated with changing foreign currency values is managed by applying limits on the amounts (short or long positions) that can be maintained in the various currencies, and
by utilizing derivative exchange contracts to lessen the impact of on-balance sheet positions and through VaR management limits.
Information regarding Central 1’s exposure to foreign currency risk is provided in Note 33.
Contractual repricing or maturity dates of financial instruments
The majority of the obligations is incurred in Central 1’s role as a liquidity manager and consists of member deposits or short- and long-term notes. Central 1 also has
contractual obligations to CHT under the CMB Program. Deposits in the mandatory liquidity pool are either required to be renewed with Central 1 by regulation or contract or
are anticipated to be re-deposited with Central 1.
The following table summarizes carrying amounts by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates for the following financial instruments:

(Millions of dollars)
Assets
Cash
Deposits with regulated financial institutions
Securities
Reinvestment assets under the CMB Program
Derivative assets
Loans
Other assets
Total
Liabilities
Deposits
Obligations related to securities sold short
Derivative liabilities
Debt securities issued
Obligations under the CMB Program
Subordinated liabilities
Securities under repurchase agreements
Other liabilities
Equity
Total
On-balance sheet gap
Off-balance sheet gap
Total Gap – December 31, 2017
Total Gap – December 31, 2016
Total Gap – December 31, 2015
1

Within
3 Months

Floating1

$

$

$

$

$
$
$

550.8
–
–
–
–
–
–
550.8

1,577.9
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
1,577.9
(1,027.1)
(1,421.6)
(2,448.7)
(668.5)
(1,146.1)

$

$

$

$

$
$
$

–
–
314.1
60.2
–
1,474.0
–
1,848.3

1,868.4
–
–
805.0
–
–
500.2
–
–
3,173.6
(1,325.3)
233.3
(1,092.0)
(1,700.6)
(60.1)

3 Months to
1 Year

$

$

$

$

$
$
$

–
3.4
1,928.1
138.9
–
188.8
–
2,259.2

2,509.3
–
–
481.6
213.2
–
–
–
–
3,204.1
(944.9)
(23.7)
(968.6)
(1,077.3)
(1,667.0)

1 Year to 5
Years

$

$

$

$

$
$
$

–
2.5
12,016.3
270.6
–
431.5
–
12,720.9

6,071.7
95.5
–
886.9
982.9
–
–
–
–
8,037.0
4,683.9
1,022.9
5,706.8
5,065.5
3,539.2

Over
5 Years

$

$

$

$

$
$
$

–
–
85.0
–
–
33.3
–
118.3

0.4
–
–
–
–
421.0
–
–
–
421.4
(303.1)
189.1
(114.0)
(428.4)
128.0

Not Rate
Sensitive

$

$

$

$

$
$
$

–
0.1
64.4
75.5
101.8
34.4
295.2
571.4

(29.3)
–
83.9
5.1
(6.0)
0.8
0.3
481.0
1,119.1
1,654.9
(1,083.5)
–
(1,083.5)
(1,190.7)
(794.0)

Total

$

$

$

$

$
$
$

550.8
6.0
14,407.9
545.2
101.8
2,162.0
295.2
18,068.9

11,998.4
95.5
83.9
2,178.6
1,190.1
421.8
500.5
481.0
1,119.1
18,068.9
–
–
–
–
–

Represents those instruments whose interest rates change immediately with a change in an underlying interest rate basis. An example would be prime rate loans.
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33. Financial instruments – Foreign currency exposure
Central 1 has various financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies. The details of Central 1’s financial instruments, which are denominated in U.S. dollars, are as
follows:
(Thousands of U.S. dollars)
Assets
Cash
Securities
Loans
Derivative assets
Other

Liabilities
Deposits
Derivatives liabilities
Other
On-balance sheet exposure
Off-balance sheet exposure

December 31, 2017

$

$

$

$

December 31, 2016

48,124
790,392
663
820
50
840,049

$

949,877
4,260
2,685
956,822
(116,773)
133,888
17,115

$

$

$

December 31, 2015

26,597
724,633
46
1,361
50
752,687

$

764,091
4,116
2,355
770,562
(17,875)
5,976
(11,899)

$

$

$

41,464
658,006
119
2,499
2,911
704,999

701,022
4,071
–
705,093
(94)
2,157
2,063

Central 1 does not have significant exposure to other foreign currencies.
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34. Capital management
Central 1’s Capital Policy ensures that each business segment has sufficient capital
to support its business activities. The objective of managing capital is to optimize
various pressures, including but not limited to the following:
•• ensuring that regulatory capital adequacy requirements are met at all times;
•• ensuring internal capital targets are not breached; and
•• earning an appropriate risk adjusted rate of return on members’ equity.

Capital management framework
The capital management framework provides the policies and processes for
defining, measuring, and allocating all types of capital across Central 1. The process
of attributing capital to business segments is linked to the budgeting process and
to the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). The budget process
establishes expected business activities over the course of the following fiscal year
and the ICAAP establishes the required amount of capital based on an internal risk
assessment. Central 1’s capital plan allows for tactical capital allocations within all
segments. Capital, other than that which is attributed to business segments, is held
in the Other segment.
On April 28, 2017 Central 1’s members approved changes to Central 1’s capital
structure and received regulatory approval by FICOM on December 5, 2017. The
changes include the creation of a new class of shares, Class F shares, which will
be the primary form of capital growth in the MLP segment. Credit unions will be
required to subscribe to Class F shares based on the deposits they place in the MLP
segment rather than their share of credit union network assets. For the details of the
upcoming capital restructuring, refer to Note 36.

Regulatory capital

In order to ensure that Central 1 maintains regulatory capital sufficient to absorb
sudden increases in borrowings or a reduction in capital due to mark-to-market
fluctuations, Central 1 sets targets for its operating borrowing multiples. Shortly
after FICOM amended the regulatory requirements for MLP and WFS, Central 1
amended its targets from no more than 15.8:1 to 16.8:1 for the MLP segment
and from no more than 13.0:1 to 14.0:1 for the WFS segment. This amendment
of capital targets allowed Central 1 to return $50.0 million in capital to its Class
A members. On September 29, 2017, Central 1 redeemed $30.0 million of Class
A shares and paid $5.0 million dividends to Class A shareholders. On October 27,
2017, Central 1 reacquired $15.0 million of Class E shares.
Provincial regulations in B.C., which apply to B.C. credit unions as well as to Central
1, use a risk-weighted approach to capital adequacy that is based on standards
issued by the Bank for International Settlements. The provincial risk weightings
generally parallel the methodology used by the OSFI to regulate Canadian chartered
banks. Provincial Legislation requires Central 1’s total capital ratio, calculated
by dividing regulatory capital by risk-weighted assets, to be no less than 8.0%.
FICOM guidance requires Central 1’s total capital ratio to be no less than 10.0%.
Additionally, Central 1 must maintain a total capital ratio of at least 10.0% to enable
member credit unions to risk-weight their deposits with Central 1 at 0.0%.
Central 1’s capital base includes Tier 1 capital in the form of share capital,
contributed surplus and retained earnings. Subject to certain conditions, Central 1
may include its subordinated debt in Tier 2B capital. In calculating Central 1’s capital
base, certain deductions are required for certain assets.
Central 1 was in compliance with all regulatory capital requirements throughout the
years ended December 31, 2017, December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

Central 1’s capital levels are regulated under provincial regulations administered
by FICOM. FICOM has also adopted the previous federal regulations administered
by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI). This regulation
requires Central 1 to maintain a borrowing multiple, the ratio of deposit liabilities
and other loans payable to total regulatory capital, of 20.0:1 or less.
FICOM requires Central 1 to maintain a federal borrowing multiple for each of the
MLP and WFS segments. Effective August 16, 2017, FICOM amended the borrowing
multiple requirements from no more than 16.0:1 to 17.0:1 for the MLP segment and
from no more than 14.0:1 to 15.0:1 for the WFS segment.
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35. Related party disclosures
Related parties of Central 1 include:
•• key management personnel and their close family members;
•• Board of Directors and their close family members;
•• entities over which Central 1 has control or significant influence; and
•• Central 1’s post-employment plans as described in Note 27.

Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Central 1, which include
Central 1’s Executive Management and Vice-Presidents.
Transactions between Central 1 and key management personnel and their close family members are as follows:
(Thousands of dollars)
Mortgage loans outstanding at end of year
Maximum mortgage loans outstanding during the year

December 31, 2017
$
$

364
377

December 31, 2016
$
$

377
389

December 31, 2015
$
$

389
692

As at December 31, 2017, the mortgage to key member of management personnel bears interest at the rate of 2.50% and is secured over properties of the borrower. No
impairment losses have been recorded against this balance during the year ended December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016 - $nil; December 31, 2015 - $nil).
The following table presents the compensation to key management personnel:
(Thousands of dollars)
Salaries and short-term employee benefits
Incentive
Post-employment benefits
Termination benefits
Other cash-based compensation

December 31, 2017
$

$

2,613
1,217
228
1,279
–
5,337

December 31, 2016
$

$

2,980
746
242
152
–
4,120

December 31, 2015
$

$

3,129
684
301
102
20
4,236

In addition to their salaries, Central 1 also provides non-cash benefits to members of key management personnel and contributes to post-employment defined plans on their
behalf.
Incentive compensation includes amounts paid in the current year reflecting achievement of performance objectives earned in the previous fiscal period.
Termination benefits represent amounts paid or payable, pursuant to contractual arrangements, to members of key management personnel who left or announced their
intention to leave Central 1 during the period.
Other cash-based compensation includes relocation costs payable per contractual terms for certain executive officers.
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Transactions with Board of Directors
The following table presents the aggregate remuneration received by Central 1’s Board of Directors:
(Thousands of dollars)
Total remuneration

December 31, 2017
$

737

December 31, 2015

December 31, 2016
$

628

$

592

Significant subsidiaries
The following table presents Central 1’s significant subsidiaries:
(% of direct ownership of common shares outstanding)

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

Central 1 Trust Company
CUPP Services Ltd.

Central 1’s other subsidiaries represent less than 1.0% of Central 1’s consolidated assets, revenue and profit before income taxes.
Transactions with subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed as related party transactions.

Investments in affiliates
Central 1 uses the equity method of accounting to record its interests in the following entities over which Central 1 has significant influence:
(% of direct ownership outstanding)

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

Credential Financial Inc.
The CUMIS Group Limited
Northwest & Ethical Investments L.P.
189286 Canada Inc.

26%
27%
26%
52%

26%
27%
26%
52%

26%
27%
26%
–%

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

21%
59%

21%
59%

21%
–%

Central 1 has indirect ownership of shares of certain affiliates through investments in other companies.

Substantial investments
Central 1 also has substantial investments in the following entities over which Central 1 does not have significant influence:
(% of direct ownership outstanding)
The Co-operators Group Limited
Canadian Credit Union Association
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36. Proposed transactions
Aviso Wealth
In December 2017, Desjardins Financial Holding Inc. (Desjardins), CUMIS and
Canada’s five provincial credit union centrals (Centrals) including Central 1
entered into a master merger agreement to merge the businesses of Credential
Financial Inc., Qtrade Canada Inc. and Northwest & Ethical Investments L.P. This
transaction, when complete, will create one of Canada’s largest independent wealth
management firms with more than 500 thousand clients across the country and
over $55.0 billion in combined client assets under administration.
The new entity, Aviso Wealth, will be jointly owned by Desjardins and a limited
partnership comprised of Centrals and CUMIS, with each holding a 50.0% stake.
Aviso Wealth will give credit unions access to a vertically integrated wealth
management organization that is owned by the network and that will focus on
meeting the expanding wealth management needs of credit union partners and their
members across Canada. The merger of these businesses will offer a significant
opportunity for credit unions to grow their wealth business and compete with other
financial institutions such as the large banks. The transaction is expected to close in
the first quarter of 2018.

Capital restructuring
As a result of members’ approval of changes to Central 1’s Rules, Class A shares
will be reduced and Class F shares will be issued to Class A members in proportion
to their portion of mandatory deposits. The remaining aggregate level of Class A
shares will be based on Central 1’s estimate of regulatory capital to support strategic
and operational initiatives over Central 1’s planning cycle, which is currently $50.0
million. The credit union members’ holding of these Class A shares will continue
to be based on their share of the network assets. On December 5, 2017, Central 1
received FICOM approval of these changes. Central 1 plans to reacquire 750
thousand of Class E shares with an aggregate value of $75.0 million, which would
reduce Central 1’s regulatory capital. This series of transactions is anticipated to be
completed by March 31, 2018.
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Corporate Information
Central 1 Credit Union (Central 1) was incorporated as B.C. Central Credit Union
on May 25, 1944. Central 1 is a central credit union governed by the Credit Union
Incorporation Act (British Columbia) (CUIA). In 1970, B.C. Central Credit Union
merged with the British Columbia Credit Union League, which, at that time, was the
service corporation and trade association for the province’s credit unions.
B.C. Central Credit Union changed its name to Credit Union Central of British
Columbia on January 1, 1996 and subsequently changed its name to Central 1
Credit Union effective June 30, 2008. Central 1 Credit Union combined businesses
with Credit Union Central of Ontario pursuant to an asset purchase transaction on
July 1, 2008 to form Central 1 Credit Union. Central 1’s Constitution and Rules can
be found on the public website, www.central1.com on the Governance & Leadership
page.

Membership in Central 1
Membership in Central 1 is restricted to credit unions incorporated in the Provinces
of British Columbia and Ontario, cooperative associations and other corporate
entities, including a number of credit unions and central credit unions incorporated
under the laws of other jurisdictions. The Rules restrict membership in Central 1 to
incorporated organizations that qualify as Class A Members, Class B Members or
Class C Members in accordance with the requirements below:
(i)	C lass A Members are: (a) credit unions incorporated under the CUIA or the
Credit Union Act (British Columbia) (CUA) or the Credit Unions and Caisses
Populaires Act, 1994 (Ontario) or under the laws of any other province or
territory and that, under those laws, are licensed or registered to carry
on business as a credit union or caisse populaire in that jurisdiction or
are incorporated as a federal credit union under the laws of Canada; or
(b) a credit union incorporated under the laws of another jurisdiction as a
central credit union or as a corporation which, in the opinion of the Board
of Directors (the Board) of Central 1, conducts its operations in a manner
similar to a central credit union incorporated under the CUIA or CUA, and
whose application for membership has been approved by the Board.
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(iii)	C lass C Members are incorporated organizations whose application for
membership has been approved by the Board as provided in the Rules,
other than a Class A Member or a Class B Member.
As of December 31, 2017, Central 1’s membership consisted of 109 Class A
members, 49 Class B members and 84 Class C members.
On February 27, 2014, the Financial Institutions Commission (FICOM) designated
Central 1 as a domestic systemically important financial institution (D-SIFI) within
the Canadian credit union network. D-SIFIs are financial institutions whose failure
could cause significant disruption to the wider financial network and economic
activity. Institutions designated as D-SIFIs are subject to additional capital and
liquidity requirements and enhanced supervision by regulatory authorities.

Credit Ratings
Central 1’s debt securities are rated by Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and Dominion Bond
Rating Service (DBRS).
DBRS

S&P

Senior Debt

A (high)

A-

Subordinated Debt

A

BBB+

Short-term Debt

R-1 (middle)

A-2

Rating Outlook

Stable

Stable

(ii)	Class B Members are cooperative associations incorporated under
the Cooperative Association Act (British Columbia) or a cooperative
incorporated under another law of the Province of British Columbia
or under the laws of another jurisdiction which, in the opinion of the
Board of Central 1, conducts its operations on a cooperative basis and is
designated as a cooperative association by the Board for the purposes of
membership in Central 1.
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Board of Directors
Central 1’s Board currently consists of 15 directors who are ultimately responsible for the stewardship of Central 1 and oversight of its risk and financial performance.

Rick Hoevenaars

Bill Kiss

Chairperson of the Board (since 2015)
Director since 2012
Currently serving a second term (2015-2018)

Vice-Chairperson of the Board (since 2016)
Director since 2013
Currently serving a second term (2016-2019)

London, Ontario

Vancouver, British Columbia

Rick has been the Executive Vice President of Finance &
Chief Financial Officer of Libro Credit Union since 1988.
He has been very involved in the industry at the board
and committee level throughout the years, having held
positions with the Credit Union Managers Association
of Ontario, Deposit Insurance Corporation of Ontario
Sound Business Practices Committee, Canadian
Credit Union Association’s Networks Task Force, and various Ontario and B.C. Central
Committees. In the community, Rick is currently a member of the University of Western
Ontario’s Audit Committee and a past member of United Way’s Poverty Impact Council.
Rick is a Chartered Professional Accountant, CPA, CGA, is a Fellow of the Credit
Union Institute of Canada (FCUIC). He also completed the Queen’s School of Business
Executive Program.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Attendance at Meetings during 2017

Bill is currently Co-Chief Executive Officer of Gulf
and Fraser Fishermen’s Credit Union (G&F Financial
Group), a position he has held since 2011. He was Chief
Financial Officer of G&F Financial Group from 1996 to
2011. Prior to joining G&F Financial Group, Bill worked
at a local chartered accounting firm for over 10 years.
He is a strong advocate for community investment and passionately believes in the
cooperative movement.
Bill is a Chartered Professional Accountant, CPA, CGA, holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Mathematics/Statistics and a Licentiate in Accounting, post graduate degree.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

22/22

Jan 1 – Dec 31

100%

1/1

Jan 1 – Apr 30

7/7

May 1 - Dec 31

0/1

Jan 1 – Apr 30

6/6

May 1 – Dec 31

Board of Directors

Attendance

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

22/22

Jan 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Conduct Review and Corporate
Governance Committee

4/4

Jan 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Human Resources Committee

7/7

Jan 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Risk Review and Investment &
Loan Committee

7/7

Jan 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Ad Hoc PayCo Committee

3/4

Mar 7 - Apr 30

Chairperson, Ad Hoc PayCo Committee

8/8

Feb 1 – Apr 30

100%

Member, CEO Search Committee

7/7

June 1 - Nov 30

Member, CEO Search Committee

7/7

June 1 – Nov 30

100%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships

Board Chairperson, Board of Directors

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
Director, Co-operators Life Insurance Company & Co-operators General Insurance Company
Director, CUCO Co-operative Association
Member of Financial Executives International’s Southwestern Ontario Chapter
Member, The University of Western Ontario’s Audit Committee

Chairperson, Audit and Finance Committee
Committee Member, Audit and Finance
Committee
Member, Risk Review and Investment &
Loan Committee
Chairperson, Risk Review and Investment &
Loan Committee

100%

86%
75%
100%

Director, CUMIS Life Insurance Company & Director, CUMIS Limited General Insurance Company
Director, Gulf and Fraser Insurance Services
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Financial Acumen, Risk
Management Expertise, Individual F.I. Liquidity, Community Engagement

Chairperson, Ontario Pension Committee
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Financial Acumen, Risk
Management, Individual F.I. Liquidity, Regulatory Expertise, Technology Business Expertise,
Community Engagement
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Bob Armstrong

Elmer Epp

Director since 2017
Currently serving a first term (2017-2019)

Director since 2013
Currently serving a second term (2016-2019)

New Westminster, British Columbia

Kamloops, British Columbia

Bob is Vice-Chairperson of the Board (and
Chairperson of the Audit and Finance Committee) of
Coast Capital Savings Credit Union. Prior to focusing
his energies on a portfolio of board and advisory
roles in the corporate and non-profit sectors,
Bob spent much of his career with Ritchie Bros.
Auctioneers, serving in senior executive positions
including Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating
Officer and Chief Strategic Development Officer.

Elmer is an associate at the law firm of Cates Ford
Epp in Kamloops, British Columbia, specializing in
corporate, commercial, business and real estate
transactions, including commercial and personal
loan transactions. Elmer has served as a director
of Interior Savings Credit Union and the former
Thompson Valley Savings Credit Union since 1996.
He has been Chairperson of the Board of Interior Savings/Thompson Valley Savings
Credit Union since 1998.

Since leaving Ritchie Bros. Auctioneers, Bob has been assisting organizations and
management teams as they deal with the challenges of growing, expanding and
innovating, with an emphasis on strategic planning and leadership development.

Elmer holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in English and an LL.B from the University
of British Columbia. He also holds a Diploma of Technology from British Columbia
Institute of Technology. He is a member of the Law Society of British Columbia and
Canadian Bar Association.

Bob is a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA, CA) and obtained his ICD.D
accreditation from the Institute of Corporate Directors.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

Board of Directors

2/4

Oct 1 – Dec 31

50%

Member, Risk Review and Investment &
Loan Committee

1/1

Nov 24 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Conduct Review and Corporate
Governance Committee

1/1

Nov 24 – Dec 31

100%

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

21/22

Jan 1 – Dec 31

95%

2/3
4/4

Jan 1 – Apr 30
May 1 – Dec 31

86%

2/2

Jan 1 – Apr 30

2/2

May 1 – Dec 31

Attendance

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Attendance at Meetings during 2017

Board of Directors
Member, Legislative Committee
Chairperson, Legislative Committee
Chairperson, Conduct Review and
Corporate Governance Committee
Member, Conduct Review and
Corporate Governance Committee

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships

Director and Vice-Chairperson, Coast Capital Savings Credit Union

Chairperson, Interior Savings Credit Union

Director, Armstrong Hospitality Group (Rocky Mountaineer)

Director, British Columbia Cooperative Association

Areas of Expertise

Areas of Expertise

Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Financial Acumen, Risk
Management Expertise, Individual FI liquidity, Technology Business Expertise, Governance
Experience, Community Engagement

Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Legal

100%
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Kerry Hadad

Angela Kaiser

Director since 2016
Currently serving a first term (2016-2019)

Director since 2015
Currently serving a first term (2015-2018)

Kitchener, Ontario

Delta, British Columbia

Kerry joined Your Neighbourhood Credit Union
(YNCU) in 2005 as Chief Executive Officer and is now
the President and CEO of YNCU (which now includes
Community First, a division of YNCU). Kerry actively
demonstrates his strong beliefs in cooperative values
as a founding member of Alliance of Large Ontario
Credit Unions (ALOCU). Prior to assuming leadership
of YNCU, Kerry held a variety of senior positions with
Alterna Savings and Credit Union, the Liquor Control Board of Ontario, Prudential
Bache Securities and Citibank. He has served the community as a coach, an
instructor of business, and on a hospital board.
Kerry holds designations as a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA), Certified
Management Accountant (CMA), and Certified Financial Services Auditor (CFSA).
He also holds a Certificate in Financial Management, and is a Member of the
Association of Accounting Technicians (MAAT).
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

21/22

Jan 1 - Dec 31

95%

7/8

Jan 1 - Dec 31

88%

Board of Directors
Audit and Finance Committee
Member, Nominations and
Elections Committee
Chairperson, Nominations and Elections

3/3

Jan 1 - Apr 30

1/1

May 1 - Dec 31

Angela owns and operates a public practice
accounting firm focusing on the financial, tax
and accounting needs of individuals and small
business corporations. She is currently a director at
Prospera Credit Union (served as Board Chairperson
from 2010-2015), and Director of Stabilization
Central Credit Union of B.C. (Board Chairperson from
2011-2016). Angela maintains a strong profile in the
local community volunteering as a Program Facilitator for Junior Achievement of
British Columbia, serving on the Delta Police Board and is the director of Finance
for not-for-profit organizations including Agape Street Ministry and Sancta Maria
House. Angela received the Significant Board Contribution 2018 Peak Award from
the Association of Women In Finance.
Angela holds a Certified Financial Planner designation, and a Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of British Columbia. She is a certified director (ICD.D)
and member of the Institute of Corporate Directors.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

22/22

Jan 1 – Dec 31

100%

7/7

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

2/2

Jan 1 – Apr 30

2/2

May 1 – Dec 31

3/3

Jan 1 – Apr 30

Board of Directors
Member, Audit and Finance Committee

100%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
Central 1 Advisory Council
Member, Board of Governors, Conestoga College Institute of Technology and Advanced Learning
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Financial Acumen,
Individual F.I. Liquidity, Regulatory Expertise, Community Engagement

Member, Conduct Review and Corporate
Governance Committee
Chairperson, Conduct Review and
Corporate Governance Committee
Member, Nominations and Elections
Committee

100%

100%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
Director, Prospera Credit Union
Director, CUPP Services Ltd.

Director, British Columbia Cooperative Association
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Financial Acumen,
Governance Experience, Regulatory Expertise, Community Engagement
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John Kortram

Joel Lalonde

Director since 2017
Currently serving a first term (2017-2018)

Director since 2017
Currently serving a first term (2017-2020)

Nelson, British Columbia

Ottawa, Ontario

John built his career in the Netherlands, holding
various Executive Director positions with
international corporations. In 2011, John immigrated
to Canada and settled in Nelson, BC where he
was a business owner in the community which
eventually led him to become a member of the
Nelson and District Credit Union Board of Directors.
As director on the board of Nelson and District
Credit Union, John has contributed to various committees and has been a member
of the Governance Committee, the Audit Committee, the Investment and Lending
Committee, the CEO Transition Committee and the Executive Committee.
John holds a Bachelor of Economics from the University of Agriculture and Science
in the Netherlands and a Master of Business Management from the University’s
Faculty of Business. He has completed all three levels of the Credit Union Director
Achievement Program and is an Accredited Canadian Credit Union Director (ACCUD).

Joel currently holds the title of President & Chief
Executive Officer at Your Credit Union, a position
he has held since 2013. He has been with Your
Credit Union since 2009. His prior role was that
of Executive Vice President. Previously, he held
a number of management positions with caisses
populaires in Ontario after his early work as an
analyst with the Deposit Insurance Corporation of Ontario (DICO).
Joel also sits as a Director of the Ontario Credit Union Foundation and of the Credit
Union Services Association (CUSA). He has both a Bachelor of Commerce and
Masters of Business Administration from the University of Ottawa.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

Board of Directors

9/9

July 15 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Conduct Review and Corporate
Governance Committee

2/2

July 15 – Dec 31

100%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
Director, Nelson and District Credit Union

Board of Directors

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

14/16

May 1 – Dec 31

87%

Member, Human Resources Committee

5/5

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Legislative Committee

4/4

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
Director, Ontario Co-operative Association
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Risk Management
Expertise, Regulatory Expertise

Delegate for Nelson and District Credit Union in partnership discussions around amalgamation
of Kootenay Peer Group credit unions.
Areas of Expertise
Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Risk Management Expertise, Governance Experience,
Human Resources Experience
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Shelley McDade

Penny-Lynn McPherson

Director since 2017
Currently serving a first term (2017-2020)

Director since 2015
Currently serving a first term (2015-2018)

Gibsons, British Columbia

Shirley, British Columbia

Shelley’s financial services career spans 35 years in
the B.C. credit union network. She is currently Chief
Executive Officer of Sunshine Coast Credit Union, a
75 year old cooperative with $580 million in assets
and more than 16,000 members.
Shelley is best known for her commitment and
passion for leveraging collaboration to create value
for members locally and across the network as a whole. A well respected leader
and advisor to a variety of community and industry groups, she also dedicates her
time to championing collaborative opportunities across the credit union network
including the Solutions Centre, Risk Management Alliance and most recently, the
Back Office Collaborative.
An accredited director through ICSA Canada, she obtained her MBA from Aspen
University in 2009.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Board of Directors

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

15/16

May 1 – Dec 31

94%

Member, Conduct Review and Corporate
Governance Committee

2/2

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Nominations and Elections
Committee

1/1

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
None
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Governance Experience,
Community Engagement

Penny-Lynn spent most of her career as VicePresident, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
for the Canadian Payments Association (now
Payments Canada), which is a member based
organization that clears and settles approximately
$197 billion of payments each day for financial
institutions, including the credit union movement.
She has over 25 years experience in payments,
clearing and settlement, ecommerce, compliance, risk management and corporate
governance. She has served on and co-chaired many payment system committees
and served as a director and vice-chair of a hospital board. She is currently
President of a local strata council.
Penny-Lynn holds a Bachelor of Arts from Carleton University, and an LL.B from the
University of Ottawa. She is a member of the Law Society of Ontario.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Board of Directors

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

21/22

Jan 1 – Dec 31

95%

Member, Risk Review and Investment
& Loan Committee

7/7

Jan 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Technology Committee

4/4

Jan 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Ad hoc PayCo

8/8

Jan 1 – Mar 30

100%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
None
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Risk Management Expertise, Liquidity Management
Expertise, Regulatory Expertise, Legal Expertise, Governance Experience
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Jan O’Brien

Rob Paterson

Director since 2017
Currently serving a first term (2017-2020)

Director since 2014
Currently serving a second term (2017-2020)

A credit union member since 1977, Jan brings
leadership and experience in financial management,
governance, labour relations and advocacy in
the community and not-for-profit sectors. She is
currently serving her third term on Vancouver City
Savings Credit Union’s Board of Directors, where Jan
served as Board Chairperson from 2014 to 2016.

Rob is currently President and Chief Executive Officer
of Alterna Savings and ALTERNA BANK, positions
he has held since April 2013. Prior to joining Alterna
Savings, Rob worked in financial services for over 25
years and has held senior executive positions within
such companies as CIBC, JP Morgan Chase, AON
Corp, and McKinsey & Company.

Victoria, British Columbia

Toronto, Ontario

After a career in journalism, that included covering city hall and labour for The
Province newspaper, Jan focused her career on labour relations. She was a vicechairperson of the BC Labour Relations Board, a vice-president of the BC Federation
of Labour; president of a local of the Communications, Energy and Paperworkers
Union representing newspaper workers; provincial director of the BC New
Democratic Party; and most recently a staff representative at the BC Government
and Service Employees’ Union.
Jan holds a Bachelor of Arts from the University of British Columbia and a Master of
Business Administration from Simon Fraser University.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Board of Directors

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

16/16

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Human Resources Committee

5/5

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Risk Review and Investment
& Loan Committee

5/6

May 1 – Jun 21

83%

Rob’s employment experience includes all aspects of retail, small business and
commercial banking. He is a pioneer of emerging payment and mobile technologies,
and has also championed innovative lending solutions.
Rob has positioned himself as a leader, and mentor, in the Fintech space and holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Western Ontario - King’s University
College.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Board of Directors

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

20/22

Jan 1 – Dec 31

91%

Chairperson, Technology Committee

4/4

Jan 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Nominations and Elections
Committee

1/1

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, Conduct Review and Corporate
Governance Committee

1/2

Jan 1 – Apr 30

50%

Member, CEO Search Committee

6/7

Jun 1 – Nov 30

86%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships

Director, Vancouver City Savings Credit Union

Director, Alterna Bank

Areas of Expertise

Director, Enactus Canada

Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Community Engagement, Governance Expertise

Advisor to SASAH at the University of Western Ontario
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Financial Acumen,
Regulatory Expertise, Technology Business Expertisee
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Blaize Horner Reich

Launi Skinner

Director since 2015
Currently serving a first term (2015-2018)

Director since 2017
Currently serving a first term (2017-2020)

Blaize is currently the RBC Professor of Technology
and Innovation at the Beedie School of Business at
Simon Fraser University (SFU). From 2014-2015, she
was the Dean of the Beedie School of Business at SFU.

Launi is the Chief Executive Officer of First West
Credit Union, one of Canada’s leading credit unions
with $10 billion in assets under administration,
240,000 members and 1,700 employees. Launi
leads visioning and strategic direction for First West
Credit Union.

Vancouver, British Columbia

Vancouver, British Columbia

Prior to SFU, she was an information technology (IT)
professional and consultant to industry in both Canada
and Asia. She is the Board Chairperson for RADIUS
and is the founding academic leader of the Business Technology Management
program, an initiative of Information Technology Association of Canada. She has
served on several corporate, industry and not for profit boards, and currently serves
on the BCAA board and the Academic Member Advisory group for the Project
Management Institute.
Blaize holds a Bachelor of Arts in Economics, Master of Science degree and a Ph.D. in
Business – Information System Strategy from the University of British Columbia. She
is a certified director (ICD.D) and an Academic Fellow of the International Consulting
Management Association.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

In the community she is a past event Chairperson for the Vancouver YWCA Women of
Distinction Awards and has received an Honorary Doctorate of Technology from BCIT.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

18/22

Jan 1 – Dec 31

82%

Member, Audit and Finance Committee

1/1

Jan 1 – Apr 30

100%

Member, Technology Committee

3/4

Jan 1 – Dec 31

75%

Member, Human Resources Committee

2/2

Jan 1 – Apr 30

Chairperson, Human Resources
Committee

5/5

May 1 – Dec 31

Member, Ad hoc PayCo Committee

7/8

Jan 1 – Mar 31

87%

Member, CEO Search Committee

7/7

Jun 1 – Nov 30

100%

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Board of Directors

Before joining First West Credit Union, Launi served
as president of Starbucks U.S. Known for inspiring change and achieving results,
Launi has been recognized as one of Canada’s Most Powerful Women and as one
of Fortune Magazine’s 50 Most Powerful Women’s feature “Four Women to Watch.”
Launi is currently a board member for Qtrade Financial Group, Rocky Mountaineer
and Science World.

Board of Directors

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

11/16

May 1 – Dec 31

69%

Member, Audit and Finance Committee

5/7

May 1 – Dec 31

71%

Member, Human Resources Committee

4/4

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

Member, CEO Search Committee

7/7

Jun 1 – Nov 30

100%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
Director, Qtrade Financial Group
Director, Rocky Mountaineer

100%

Director, Science World
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector Experience, Profit & Loss Experience, Financial Acumen,
Governance Experience, Human Resources Experience

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
Director, British Columbia Automobile Association
Areas of Expertise
Financial Acumen, Risk Management Expertise, Regulatory Expertise, Technology
Business Expertise
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Rob Wellstood

Peterborough, Ontario
Director since 2015
Currently serving a first term (2015-2018)
Rob is currently President and Chief Executive Officer
of Kawartha Credit Union, a position he has held since
2002. He was Controller from 1993-2002. Prior to
joining Kawartha Credit Union he spent 10 years in
public practice, first working for a national Chartered
Accounting firm then in partnership in a family owned
practice, and spent two years as a commercial lender
with the Business Development Bank of Canada.
Rob has served on a number of boards in the not-for-profit and financial sectors and
industry advisory committees. He currently serves on the board of CUCO Cooperative
Association.
Rob is a Chartered General Accountant, CPA, CMA, holds a Bachelor of Mathematics
degree from the University of Waterloo.
Central 1’s Board/
Committee Memberships

Attendance at Meetings during 2017
Attendance

Term in 2017

% of Meetings
Attended

19/22

Jan 1 – Dec 31

86%

Member, Audit and Finance Committee

1/1

May 1 – Dec 31

Chairperson, Audit and Finance
Committee

7/7

Jan 1 – Apr 30

Member, Risk Review and Investment
& Loan Committee

6/6

May 1 – Dec 31

100%

Chairperson, Nominations and
Elections Committee

3/3

Jan 1 - Apr 30

100%

Board of Directors

100%

Other Current Boards/Committee Memberships
Director, CUCO Cooperative Association
Director, ABCP 2008 Limited Partnership
Areas of Expertise
Credit Union/Cooperative Sector, Profit & Loss Statement Experience, Financial Acumen,
Individual F.I. Liquidity, Regulatory Expertise, Community Engagement
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Board and Committee Meetings
Directors are expected to attend all Board and Committee meetings. While most
meetings are planned a year in advance, from time to time a Board or Committee
will schedule a special meeting at short notice resulting in some directors not being
able to attend the special meeting. Directors are encouraged to attend meetings in
person, but they may also participate by teleconference. The following tables set
out a summary of the Board and Committee meetings held during 2017.

Board/Committee
Board

Total Number
of Meetings
22

Audit and Finance Committee

8

Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee

4

Human Resources Committee

7

Legislative Committee

7

Nominations and Elections Committee

4

Risk Review and Investment & Loan Committee

7

Technology Committee

4

Ad Hoc PayCo Committee

8

CEO Search Committee

7

The table below shows the attendance record for each director as set out in their
director profiles.

Director

Committee
Meetings

Board
Meetings

Percentage of
Meetings Attended

B. Armstrong

2/2

2/4

67%

E. Epp

10/11

21/22

94%

R. Hoevenaars

33/33

22/22

100%

K. Hadad

11/12

21/22

94%

A. Kaiser

14/14

22/22

100%

B. Kiss

24/26

22/22

96%

J. Kortram

2/2

9/9

100%

J. Lalonde

14/16

9/9

92%

S. McDade

3/3

15/16

95%

P. McPherson

19/19

21/22

98%

J. O’Brien

10/11

16/16

96%

R. Paterson

12/14

20/22

89%

B. Reich

25/27

18/22

88%

L. Skinner

16/18

11/16

79%

R. Wellstood

17/17

19/22

92%
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Governance Framework
This framework provides an overview of the corporate governance structures, principles, policies and practices of the Board of Central 1, which together enable Central 1 to
meet or exceed governance expectations of the Financial Institutions Commission (FICOM), the Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) and applicable legislation.
Central 1’s Board and management are committed to leadership in corporate governance and understand that good governance is central to the efficient and effective
operation of Central 1 in a manner that ultimately enhances member value. Our corporate governance framework is subject to ongoing review, assessment and improvement.
The Board proactively adopts governance policies and practices designed to align the interests of the Board and management with those of Central 1’s members and other
stakeholders, and to promote the highest standards of ethical behaviour and risk management at every level of the organization.
As a reporting issuer in certain jurisdictions of Canada, Central 1 is required to disclose certain corporate governance practices it has adopted.

Governance Structure
The fundamental relationship among the Board, management, members, and other stakeholders is established by our governance structure, as illustrated below.

Members

Elect

Open dialogue

Regulator

Appoint

Board of
Directors

Appoints

Auditor

Audit &
Finance
Committee

Internal Audit

Risk Review
and Investment
& Loan
Committee

Human
Resources
Committee

Conduct Review
& Corporate
Governance
Committee

Nominations
& Elections
Committee

Legislative
Committee

Technology
Committee

Risk Group

Independent Oversight
Functions

President & CEO
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Board Mandate
Central 1’s Board is responsible for the overall stewardship of Central 1, on behalf of
its members. It is responsible for supervising the management of
the affairs and business of Central 1 in accordance with Central 1’s Rules,
the CUIA and the Financial Institutions Act (British Columbia) (FIA) and
other applicable legislation and regulations. The Board fulfills this responsibility both
directly and by delegating certain authority to Board committees and Central 1’s
senior management.

All meetings have scheduled in-camera sessions when members can discuss the
committee operations and responsibilities without management present.

Committees of the Board

Central 1’s management is responsible for the preparation, presentation and
integrity of Central 1’s financial statements, maintaining appropriate accounting and
financial reporting principles, policies, internal controls and procedures designed to
ensure compliance with accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations.
The external auditors are responsible for planning and carrying out, in accordance
with professional standards, an audit of Central 1’s annual financial statements
and reviews of Central 1’s quarterly financial information. The Audit and Finance
Committee’s purpose is to review the adequacy and effectiveness of these activities
and to assist the Board in its oversight of:

Directors are required to serve on committees of the Board that carry out legislated
and delegated duties. As at the date of this Annual Report, there are seven standing
committees of the Board:
•• Audit and Finance
•• Conduct Review and Corporate Governance
•• Human Resources
•• Legislative
•• Nominations and Elections
•• Risk Review and Investment & Loan
•• Technology
The Board may also create special ad hoc committees from time-to-time to perform
specific tasks on behalf of the Board. In 2017, the Board created the Ad Hoc PayCo
Committee and the CEO Search Committee. Terms of Reference for the Committees
of the Board listed above can be found on Central 1’s website (www.central1.com).
Each committee operates in accordance with Board-approved terms of reference.
A written position description is in place for the Committee Chairperson. Each
committee annually reviews its terms of reference to ensure that regulatory
requirements and best practices are reflected, and recommends any changes
to the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee, which ultimately
recommends changes to the Board. Each committee also assesses on an annual
basis its effectiveness to ensure that it has successfully fulfilled its responsibilities as
set out in its terms of reference.

Committees have the authority to engage and determine funding for any
independent counsel, consultants and advisors, as may be deemed necessary to
carry out their responsibilities.

Audit and Finance Committee

•• the integrity of Central 1’s financial statements;
•• the external auditors’ qualifications and independence;
•• the performance of Central 1’s internal audit function and external auditors;
•• the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls; and
•• Central 1’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements affecting
financial reporting.
The current members of the Audit and Finance Committee are set out in the
table below with the education and experience that is relevant to each member’s
performance of his or her responsibilities as an audit committee member. Each
member of the Audit and Finance Committee is “independent” and “financially
literate” within the meaning of the rules of the CSA relating to audit committees.

Committee members are elected annually following Central 1’s annual general
meeting. The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee recommends
directors to each of the committees. Following each meeting, the committee
Chairperson reports to the Board on the committee’s activities and makes such
recommendations as are deemed appropriate in the circumstance.
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The following table sets out the relevant education and experience of the members
of the Audit and Finance Committee.

Audit and Finance
Committee Member

Relevant
Education

Rob Wellstood
(Chairperson)

B. Math, CPA,
CMA

Kerry Hadad

Completed

Completed

The following table sets out the aggregate fees billed in each of the last three fiscal
years by Central 1’s external auditor.
2017

Relevant Experience
Current CEO, Kawartha
Credit Union. Previously was
Controller, Kawartha Credit
Union (10 years) and worked
in Public Accounting and
Commercial Lending.
Current CEO, Your
Neighbourhood Credit
Union. Previous experience
as Internal Auditor, Public
Accountant and Credit
Lender.

Angela Kaiser

B. Comm, CPA,
CGA,CFP

Completed

Current Board Member,
Prospera Credit Union. Served
as Audit Chairperson at
Prospera Credit Union and
Stabilization Central Credit
Union of B.C. Works in public
practice.

Bill Kiss

Lic.Acct.,
CPA,CGA

Completed

Current co-CEO, Gulf and
Fraser Fishermen’s Credit
Union. Previously was CFO
of G&F for 15 years. 10 years
Chartered Accounting firm
experience.

CPA, CGA

Completed

Launi Skinner

*

CPA, CMA,
CFSA, MAAT

Met 2017
requirements
for CPD*

External Auditor Service Fees

Current CEO, First West Credit
Union. Previous President,
Starbucks, U.S.

Continuing Professional Development for relevant professional designations.

Audit Fees(1)
Audit-related Fees(2)
Tax Fees(3)
All Other Fees
Aviso Wealth Fees(4)
Other Fees(5)

$

Total(6)

$

967,500
213,000
135,000

2016
$

854,600
–
2,170,100

979,600
27,700
157,290

2015
$

272,750
15,000
$

1,452,340

917,200
27,200
67,725
–
25,000

$

1,037,125

Audit Fees. Audits of Central 1 and subsidiaries, quarterly reviews of Central 1, specified procedures, and
involvement in offering memorandum related to subordinated notes.		
Audit-related Fees. Services related to adoption of new IFRS 9 standards, audit of Central 1’s Ontario
Registered Retirement Plan, and IFRS 9 Readiness for Credit Unions. Includes $187,600 in non-recurring costs
in 2017 primarily related to the National IFRS 9 Credit Union project and Central 1’s own IFRS 9 transition.
(3) 
Tax Fees. Tax advisory and compliance fees.				
(4) 
Aviso Wealth Fees. Accounting, tax, and advisory services related to the support of the merger discussions
and strategy of the Aviso Wealth transaction, which involved Desjardins, five provincial credit union centrals,
and CUMIS in the bringing together of the businesses of Qtrade, Credential, and NEI Investments. Advisory
services primarily relate to Due Diligence and Financial Advisory.
(5) 
Other fees. Advisory services primarily related to Central 1’s Economic Capital methodology and cyber
security risk/maturity assessment.
(6) 
All fees are before Canadian Public Accountability Board and administration fee charges as well as
applicable taxes.
(1) 

(2)

The Terms of Reference of the Audit and Finance Committee are attached to this
document as Appendix A. Central 1 is relying on the exemption in Section 6.1 of
National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees.
Pre-Approval of Services
The Audit and Finance Committee must pre-approve all audit and non-audit
services, including the provision of tax advice (other than de minimus non-audit
services provided to Central 1 and its subsidiaries, as defined in NI 52-110).
The Chairperson is authorized to provide such pre-approval throughout the year,
in accordance with applicable terms of reference with any such approvals being
reported to the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Audit and
Finance Committee.

Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee
The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for
ensuring performance by Central 1 of the duties required of it by the CUIA and Parts
4 and 5 of the FIA. The Committee is also responsible for advising the Board in
applying governance principles, monitoring developments in corporate governance
and adopting best practices to the needs and circumstances of Central 1.
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Human Resources Committee
The Human Resources Committee is responsible for advising the Board on
succession planning, compensation and human resources principles and on related
policies and practices. This committee provides its recommendation to the Board
for compensation of the President and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) in light of his
or her performance and Central 1’s performance. In addition, the Committee makes
recommendations on the compensation of senior management and on matters
concerning Central 1’s pension plans.

Legislative Committee
The Legislative Committee is responsible for analyzing legislative developments at
the provincial level and recommends related strategies to the Board. Its members
also advocate for legislative and regulatory change on behalf of the B.C. and
Ontario credit union networks.

Management’s Role In Board Effectiveness
There is a clear demarcation of roles and responsibilities between the Board and
senior management that fosters an environment of transparency, confidence, and
mutual trust in which the Board is able to constructively challenge and provide
guidance to management.
The CEO is appointed by the Board and is responsible for managing the day-today affairs of Central 1. The CEO’s key responsibilities involve working with the
Board to determine the strategic direction of Central 1 and providing leadership
to management in achieving strategy objectives. The CEO, together with senior
management, is accountable for implementing the Board’s decisions and is
responsible for directing and overseeing the operations of Central 1.
The Human Resources Committee annually reviews and, if appropriate, recommends
to the Board for approval, the CEO’s goals and objectives and compensation.

Nominations and Elections Committee
The Nominations and Elections Committee is responsible for overseeing the
director nomination and election process. Its responsibilities include recruiting and
recommending candidates for election to the Board. Committee members ensure
that the competencies identified in the Board-approved skills and experience matrix
are present on the Board to meet the current needs of Central 1’s governance
leadership and strategic intent.

Risk Review and Investment & Loan Committee
The Risk Review and Investment & Loan Committee is responsible for overseeing
the effective operation of all risk taking operations and risk management functions
of Central 1 and ensuring appropriate risk governance processes are executed
effectively and that investment, lending and other business operations of Central 1
are undertaken in a prudent and risk-informed manner.

Board Composition
Board Size
The Board is composed of 13 directors who are required to be officers or directors
of a Class A member and are elected or appointed by Class A members. In
addition, the Board has the discretion to appoint up to two directors to fill skills and
experience gaps on the Board, for a total of up to 15 directors.
British Columbia (8)

Ontario (5)

Other (2)
15 Directors

The Committee reviews the risk, investment and lending activities of Central 1,
the associated corporate policies and any significant and emerging events and
related action plans and recommends any improvements or changes to the Board
as deemed necessary or desirable. The Committee also monitors and oversees
compliance with anti-money laundering and counter terrorism financing legislation
and related policies.

Of the 13 directors who are elected or appointed by Class A members, eight are
elected or appointed, as the case may be, by Class A members having their head
office in B.C. The other five directors are elected or appointed, as the case may
be, by Class A members having their head office in Ontario. Despite directors
being elected or appointed on a regional basis, directors who serve on Central 1’s
Board act for the organization as a whole. In November 2015 the Central 1 Board
appointed two additional directors. Central 1’s Board is currently composed of 15
directors.

Technology Committee

Director Tenure

The Technology Committee is responsible for providing strategic risk and business
oversight to Central 1’s direct banking and payment services’ lines of business,
ensuring that network risks inherent to these business lines are managed within
both Central 1’s stated risk appetite and that of its Class A members.

Directors serve for a term of three years, unless a shorter term is provided by
the Rules or determined by the Board at the time of election or appointment in
accordance with the Rules. No director may serve more than 12 consecutive years.
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Independence
All directors are independent of management. Having an independent Board is
critical to effective oversight and good governance. Directors are asked annually
to complete an independence questionnaire about their business and any other
relationships they have with Central 1 (and its affiliates) and senior management.
To facilitate the ability of the Board to function independently of management, the
following structures and processes are in place:
•• the role of Chairperson of the Board is separate from the role of CEO;
•• there are no members of management on the Board; and
•• directors hold in-camera sessions where members of management are not
present at each Board and committee meeting
The Board has developed a written position description for the Chairperson of
the Board. The Chairperson’s duties include leading the Board in its management
and supervision of the business and affairs of Central 1, including ensuring that all
matters relating to the Board mandate are completely disclosed and discussed with
the Board. The Chairperson also leads the Board in its oversight of management.

Director Nomination and Skills and Experience Matrix
In accordance with governance best practices and regulatory requirements, the
Board, as a whole, is comprised of individuals from diverse backgrounds having
specific skills and experience that match the financial, operational and risk oversight
needs of Central 1. All directors are expected to have the personal attributes
necessary to reflect the cooperative values of Central 1 and the credit union.
Each year, the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee uses a
matrix to identify desired competencies, expertise and skills it seeks in potential
director candidates to enhance overall Board performance. Based on the priority
needs identified by the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee, the
Nominations and Elections Committee recruits and assesses director candidates to
recommend for appointment/election to the Board.

Interlocking Directorships
The credit union network consists of three tiers. The first tier consists of local credit
unions, the second tier consists of provincial central credit unions, each of which is
controlled by first tier credit unions, and the third tier consists of Canadian Credit
Union Association Cooperative (CCUA), which is owned by first tier credit unions.

Within the credit union network is a network of related corporations and subsidiaries
of B.C. and Ontario credit unions, Central 1 and CCUA. This organizational structure
results in a series of interlocking directorships and other relationships in which:
•• a
 director of Central 1 is a member of a Class A member credit union and may
be either a director or an officer of a Class A member credit union of Central 1
or may be a director or officer of:
(i) a subsidiary of Central 1; or
(ii) a
 corporation in which Central 1 or Central 1 and one or more local credit
unions have a financial or other interest; and
•• a
 senior officer of Central 1 may be a director, officer, or both, of a subsidiary
of Central 1 or a director or officer of a corporation in which Central 1 has a
financial or other interest.
The organizational structure of the credit union as explained above may contain
an inherent potential for conflicts of interest between Central 1 or a subsidiary of
Central 1 and a director or officer of Central 1 or subsidiary of Central 1. However,
there are no existing or potential conflicts of interest that are material.
The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee is required to resolve
conflicts of interest that may arise and to ensure that Central 1’s dealings with its
related parties comply with federal and provincial legislation. The Conduct Review
and Corporate Governance Committee is required to review Central 1’s conflict
of interest policies biennially. The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance
Committee undertook such a review in 2017.

Diversity
Central 1 is committed to building and sustaining a diverse and inclusive Board that
both supports Central 1’s strategy and reflects the credit union network. To support
this, the Nominations and Elections Committee will, when identifying candidates to
recommend for appointment/election to the Board:
•• consider candidates who are highly qualified based on the Board-approved
competency matrix;
•• take into account that an inclusive board of directors should reflect the
diversity of the communities that Central 1 serves;
•• conduct a search for candidates that meet the Board’s skills and diversity
criteria to help achieve its diversity aspirations.
The Board aspires towards a composition in which each gender comprises at least
one-third of the directors. Currently the board is comprised of forty per cent women
and sixty per cent men.
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Board Operations
Chair of the Board
Each year, the directors elect a Chairperson. Mr. Rick Hoevenaars is currently
Chairperson of the Board.
Board and Committee Meetings
Central 1’s directors are required to attend a number of scheduled meetings
each year. These meetings include regularly scheduled Board meetings, planning
sessions and a number of special meetings. In addition, each director is required to
serve on Board committees.
Directors are expected to attend as many meetings as possible. Directors are to
come to meetings thoroughly prepared, engage in meetings and make a sustained,
positive contribution to the success of Central 1 and the credit union network as a
whole.
In-camera Sessions
At each Board and committee meeting, the directors meet in-camera without
management present.

Compensation
The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee conducts a
periodic review, not less than every three years, of the amount and the form of
compensation of directors to provide market-competitive compensation. The
maximum annual compensation that may be paid to directors is determined by
Central 1’s Class A members, who have set it at $800,000. Compensation paid to
each director is disclosed on page 25 of this report.

Key Policies

Central 1 has established policies to ensure that a culture of integrity is maintained
throughout the organization. Some of the most important policies include:

•• Code of Conduct: The Code of Conduct (Code) outlines the standards of
conduct imposed by law, provides guidelines for honest and ethical conduct
and offers guidance to help directors recognize and deal with ethical issues
that may arise during their tenure. The Code applies to all of Central 1’s
directors, officers and employees. It is distributed to all directors, officers and
employees and is available on Central 1’s intranet site. Compliance with the
Code is a condition of employment, or term of office in the case of directors.
The Code is also available on Central 1’s website (www.central1.com). Only
in extraordinary circumstances and where it is clearly in the best interests of
Central 1, the President and CEO or the Board may waive specific provisions of
the Code. Any waiver of the Code for directors or officers of Central 1 may only
be granted by the Board, and will promptly be disclosed as required by law.

All directors, officers and salaried employees are asked to acknowledge
that they have read and understand the Code and undertake to abide by
it. In April 2017, 100 per cent of Central 1’s directors, officers and salaried
employees provided their acknowledgement and agreement to abide by the
policies.
•• Conflict of Interest Policies and Procedures: These Policies and Procedures
define conflicts of interest that may arise and how conflicts must be
disclosed and managed. Directors and executive officers must ensure
that they identify and avoid any actual, potential or perceived conflict of
interest that might influence their decisions in their capacity as directors or
executive officers of Central 1. Where the conflict can potentially interfere
with or be perceived to interfere with a director’s independent judgment, the
director must either eliminate the interest or duty giving rise to the conflict
or resign as a director of Central 1. Where a conflict of interest arises from
a transaction or proposed transaction between Central 1 or an affiliate of
Central 1, and any person (including a corporation) who is a related party of
Central 1 because of a relationship with the director, the affected director
and Central 1 shall comply with the requirements of Part 5 of the FIA, and,
whenever the director has a direct or indirect interest in the transaction, by
complying with the applicable provisions of the CUIA.
•• Ethical Reporting Policy: Employees are often the first to realize there may
be something wrong within an organization. They may not express their
concerns, however, because they feel speaking up would be disloyal. They
may also fear recrimination, harassment or victimization and feel it would
be easier to ignore the concern. This policy establishes the framework
which allows employees to report suspected wrongdoing, without fear of
recrimination.
•• Disclosure Policy: Central 1 issues timely, fair and accurate disclosure of all
material information relating to Central 1 to keep members and the public
informed about its affairs. Respecting its Disclosure Policy is critical to
maintaining integrity, and each director, executive officer and employee has
an obligation to make sure they conduct themselves according to the policy
and its objectives.

Sustainability Initiatives
As a co-operative organization we believe in People Helping People. Central 1
supports initiatives that contribute to the sustainability of its communities, and the
environment.
Environmental Stewardship
Central 1 is an environmentally conscious organization that has a recycling program
and composts to ensure we help reduce our environmental footprint.
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Volunteerism
Central 1’s Community Impact Initiative is designed to support efforts to volunteer
for causes employees are passionate about in the community. The program
incorporates access to a Community Impact Fund and paid time off to support
volunteer efforts.

Member Communication and Engagement
Central 1’s Board of Directors and management provides regular communication to
Central 1’s members through a variety of channels including the following:
•• Quarterly spotlight webinar and conference calls with invitations to credit
union members’ management, held following the corresponding Central 1
Board meetings;
•• Peer group and contact meetings, attended by directors and management
of member credit unions and Central 1, held in various locations throughout
B.C. and Ontario;
•• Member forum held in March 2017 to receive feedback on Central 1’s
proposed response to PayCo paper;
•• Members of Central 1’s Nominations and Elections Committee present on
director elections to credit union boards;
•• Bulletins posted on Central 1’s secure site, providing regular updates on
various services; and
•• Annual General Meeting and conference held in Vancouver in April 2017.

Director Orientation, Education and Development
Central 1 relies on the collective knowledge, experience and skill of each director
and the Board for its effective governance and success. It is important that directors
have the appropriate competency requirements in order to fulfill their oversight
responsibilities to Central 1 and its members and thereby contribute to enhancing
the credit union network.
The Board recognizes that investing in ongoing education and development is
an important component of effective governance of Central 1. A comprehensive
approach to director orientation, education and development is necessary to ensure
that all directors:
•• Develop within the first year of being a director a basic understanding of
each of the core business competencies, including financial literacy, risk
management, liquidity management, legal and regulatory and Central 1
business and functions knowledge;

in-house education sessions. These sessions are aimed at the core business
competencies; and
•• To assist individual directors who wish to pursue ongoing education or who
volunteer to attend educational conferences and industry events, the Board
provides each director with a $10,000 education allowance per three-year
term of office.

New Director Orientation
Following election to Central 1’s Board, new directors attend Central 1’s director
orientation. The Board Chairperson may assign to new directors a mentor from
amongst fellow directors. The Board Chairperson and mentor will be invited to
attend the orientation session. The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance
Committee oversees the orientation program. The goals of the director orientation
program are to:
•• Ensure new directors fully understand the formal governance structure,
the role of the Board, its committees and the individual performance
expectations set out in the individual Director’s Terms of Reference.
•• Help new directors understand Central 1, its operations and working
environment, including:
•• strategic priorities, initiatives and key performance indicators;
•• summary details of principal assets, liabilities, significant commitments
and major stakeholders;
•• organizational structure;
•• major risks and risk management strategy;
•• operational or financial constraints imposed by legislation or otherwise;
•• Central 1’s Code of Conduct; and
•• Director’s Conflict of Interest Policy.
•• Build links to the individuals who make up Central 1, including:
••
••
••
••

opportunities to meet and get to know fellow directors,
meetings with the CEO and the executive management team
visits to the Central 1 offices to meet employees; and
build an understanding of Central 1’s main relationships, including
those with members and stakeholders.

Mandatory Education
New directors are required to complete Level A: Foundations of Governance of the
Credit Union Director Achievement training program, if they have not already done so.

•• Continue to deepen their education and improve their skills, professional
qualifications, and experience. All directors are required to attend Central 1’s
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Ongoing Director Education
During 2017, all directors attended a number of in-house education sessions. The
following is a list of education sessions held in 2017:

Attendees

Session

Board Members

Payments Canada - Modernization

Board Members

Agile Training

Risk Review and Investment
& Loan Committee Members

Business Line Strategies and Risk Profiles

Risk Review and Investment
& Loan Committee Members

Liquidity Crisis Simulation Exercise

Risk Review and Investment
& Loan Committee Members

Commercial/Credit Union Lending, Securitization,
Capital Markets
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In addition to the in-house training sessions, the following table shows the additional professional development reported to be completed by the Board in 2017.
Director

Continuing Formal and Informal Education Sessions in 2017

Bob Armstrong (since joining
the Board on Oct. 1, 2017)

Deloitte webcast - Tax Planning for Private Corporations
ICD seminar - Culture in the Boardroom
Credit Union Advocacy Day - training and participation
New Horizons Education Program - Change Management
ICD seminar - Oversight of Major Capital Projects
Coast Capital board education session - Robotics and Cognitive Automation
Risk Review and Investment & Loan Committee New Director Orientation Session

Elmer Epp

Central 1 Momentum Conference
CUDA CEO Evaluation: Tips and Tool
Continuing Professional Development (CPD) - 12 hours Legal courses
BC Advocacy Day training session

Kerry Hadad

Completed CUDA Level A
CUDA: Board Performance, Development and Evaluation (CDA-LVB-BPDEE01-ILT).
CCUA Conference
Central 1 Momentum Conference
WOCCU Conference - Vienna
ICD Session: Business models and strategies in an era of disruption
Completed Chartered Professional Accountant CPD Requirements

Rick Hoevenaars

CCUA Conference
Central 1 Momentum Conference
WOCCU - Vienna
CCUA Hike the Hill Conference
Participated in ON CU Advocacy Training Day
Canada’s Mortgage Market: How Changing Government Regulations Will Impact Your Mortgage Business
Canada’s Mortgage Market: Best Broker Mortgage Lending Practices to Mitigate Broker Mortgage Fraud
Central 1 IFRS 9 Session
CCUA Hike the Hill Conference
McKinsey’s Change Leaders Forum
Central 1 UXPP Workshop 1 & 2
Completed Chartered Professional Accountant CPD Requirements

Bill Kiss

CCUA Conference
Central 1 Momentum Conference
WOCCU - Vienna
Completed Chartered Professional Accountant CPD Requirements
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Professional development continued.
Director

Continuing Formal and Informal Education Sessions in 2017

Angela Kaiser

CCUA Conference
Central 1 Momentum Conference
ICD Webinar: Preparing for Mandatory Data Breach Reporting Requirements
ICD: Audit Committee Effectiveness
Completed Chartered Professional Accountant CPD Requirements
ICD: Social License - Who Defines It?
ICD: Fundamentals of IT Oversight
ICD: Culture in the Boardroom
ICD: Identifying, Monitoring & Overseeing Insider Threats
CuSource - Navigating Difficult Decisions
PWC - Hedge Accounting/IFRS Impairment
Central 1 Directors Forum

John Kortram

Central 1 Momentum Conference
CUDA: Character Matters! A “Leader Character” Development
CUDA: Financial Hot Buttons
CUDA: Blockchain and Bitcoin: Beyond the Hype
CUDA: Demystifying Blockchain, Bitcoin and Cryptocurrencies
CUDA: Role of Audit Committee
CUDA: Governing Credit Risk

Joel Lalonde

Central 1 Momentum Conference
CCUA Conference
CCUA Government Relations Forum and Hike the Hill
CUDA Level A
Deliotte 360 Conference

Shelley McDade

Central 1 Momentum Conference
CCUA Conference
WOCCU - Vienna
CUDA Level A - October 2018 Session
Hike the Hill - Ottawa
BC Advocacy Day - Victoria

Penny-Lynn McPherson

Central 1 Momentum Conference
CuSource – Spring 2017 Governance Webinar Series
ICD Victoria Chapter: The Role of the Chair
McKinsey on Boards

Jan O’Brien

Central 1 Momentum Conference
Risk Review and Investment & Loan Committee New Director Orientation Session
Fintech Conference (Vancouver Club)
ICD: Audit Committee Effectiveness
ICD: Cyber Security - A Business and Boardroom Priority
ICD: Board Oversight on Strategy
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Professional development continued.
Director

Continuing Formal and Informal Education Sessions in 2017

Rob Paterson

CUMIS Executive Roundtable
Central 1 Momentum Conference
Enactus National Exposition
CCUA Conference
WOCCU - Vienna
LCUC Conference
CCUA Government Relations Forum & Hike the Hill
Celero’s 2017 Fintech Conference
Money 20 / 20
McKinsey’s Change Leaders Forum
Dreamforce Conference

Blaize Reich

CCUA CuSource Foundations of Governance
Central 1 Momentum Conference
CCUA HR and Comp. Committee Governance

Launi Skinner

Central 1 Momentum Conference
CCUA Conference
CUDA Level A
Executive Collaborative Field School, Italy (BCIT and CUOA Business School)

Rob Wellstood

CUMIS Executive Roundtable
Central 1 Momentum Conference
CCUA Conference
Risk Review and Investment & Loan Committee New Director Orientation Session
Board Presentation: Payments Canada - Modernization Project
CPA: The CEO Program: Leading with Purpose
KCU: Information Systems Security Awareness Essentials Series
CU Training: Privacy Matters, Fall 2017
CUSource: Flag the Money for Executives AML 2017
BDO: IFRS 16: Accounting For Leases
Completed Chartered Professional Accountant CPD Requirements
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Compensation Philosophy
Compensation Philosophy

Compensation Review

The Board recognizes that strong corporate governance is a key ingredient to an
organization’s success and the Board has determined that, subject to the limits
set by the members of Central 1 by resolution, the directors of Central 1 should be
remunerated at approximately the 50th percentile of director compensation for
comparable entities. That group is determined from time to time, by the Board, on
the recommendation of the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee,
giving due consideration to the qualifications, liability, experience and involvement
in value-added decision making commensurate with Central 1’s size, complexity and
functions.

Director Compensation is reviewed not less than every three years to ensure
directors are appropriately compensated for their contributions. The Conduct
Review and Corporate Governance Committee undertook to review director
compensation in 2016. Mercer Canada was retained to confirm compensation
philosophy, recommend comparator group, conduct a Canada-wide market
survey in accordance with the compensation philosophy and prepare a report with
recommendations. The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee
directed that an ad-hoc sub-committee be formed to review Mercer’s report and
provide a recommendation to the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance
Committee. Central 1’s Board accepted the recommendations of the Conduct
Review and Corporate Governance Committee and certain changes were made to
director compensation effective May 1, 2016.

Compensation for directors of Central 1 falls into the following four categories:
•• annual retainer;
•• meetings fees for attendance at Board and committee meetings;
•• per diem compensation for travel tiem, attending meetings and other work
performed on behalf of Central 1; and
•• reimbursement for reasonable expenses incurred in connection with
authorized work performed on behalf of the credit union.

Director Compensation and Expense Policy
Annually the Conduct Review and Corporate Govenance Committee will review the
Director Compensation and Expense Policy as set forth in the Committee’s Terms
of Reference. This review is made to ensure that the compensation being provided
to the Board falls in line with the best practices of good governance. The annual
review covers the perquisities and reasonable expense reimbursement provided to
the Board but does not review core compensation items which is scheduled to be
reviewed every three years. After approval of the changes to the expense policy at
the committee level, the changes are provided to the Board for their approval.
In 2017, the Board approved changes to the policy to discontinue Spousal Events
which included discontinuing all reimbursement of costs incurred by a Spouse or
Companion of a Board Member when accompanying him or her to a business event.
Revisions were also made to the Technology Expense Reimbursement provisions of
the Policy to reflect changes in technology costs and requirements.
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The following table sets out the types of compensation paid to Central 1‘s directors.

Type of Compensation

August 25, 2017 to the date of this report

May 1, 2016 - August 25, 2017

Annual Director Retainer (except Chairperson)

$18,000

$18,000

Annual Chairperson Retainer

$45,000

$45,000

Annual Vice Chairperson Retainer

$24,000

$24,000

$6,000

$6,000

$12,000

$12,000

$0

$0

Board and Committee Meeting Fee

meetings equal to or less than 4 hours: $500
meetings more than 4 hours: $800

meetings equal to or less than 4 hours: $500
meetings more than 4 hours: $800

Per Diem Fees for Central 1 business events or functions etc.

meetings equal to or less than 4 hours: $500
meetings more than 4 hours: $800

meetings equal to or less than 4 hours: $500
meetings more than 4 hours: $800

For travel less than 4 hours: $0
For travel 4 hours or more: $500

For travel less than 4 hours: $0
For travel 4 hours or more: $500

Actual

Actual

$0

Actual

Up to $1,500
per 3-year term

Up to $3,000 per
3-year term

Up to $75/month

Up to $200/year
Up to $75/month
Actual

Committee Chairperson (other than the Chairperson of the Audit and
Finance Committee or the Risk Review & Investment and Loan Committee)
Chairperson of the Audit and Finance Committee and Risk Review & Investment
and Loan Committee
AGM/Special Meeting Fee

Per Diem Fees for Travel Time
Reasonable Expenses for Meetings and Business Events
Expenses for Spousal/Companion Event
Technology Allowance
To support the purchase of personal computer equipment (e.g. iPad or other handheld
technology necessary to assist the director in carrying out his or her duties to Central 1)
For basic voice/data plan
For costs incurred in relation to internet connection and email address
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2017 Director Compensation
The following table sets out the value of fees and other compensation paid to directors of Central 1 during 2017.

Annual Cash Retainer

Meeting Fees

Total Remuneration (Annual Cash
Retainer and Meeting Fees)1

Bob Armstrong (term began Oct. 1, 2017)

$4,537

$3,700

$8,237

Anita Braha (term ended April 30, 2017)

$5,918

$5,600

$11,518

Keith Brain (term ended April 30, 2017)

$7,890

$12,700

$20,590

Bill Cooke (term ended Sept. 28, 2017)

$13,464

$0

$13,464

Elmer Epp

$23,999

$23,900

$47,899

Kerry Hadad

$22,027

$27,700

$49,727

Rick Hoevenaars

$45,000

$72,700

$117,701

Angela Kaiser

$22,027

$24,900

$46,927

Bill Kiss

$36,000

$23,800

$59,800

$8,483

$10,800

$19,283

Joel Lalonde (term began May 1, 2017)

$12,083

$19,800

$31,883

Shelley McDade

$12,083

$9,400

$21,483

Kelly McGiffin (term ended April 30, 2017)

$7,890

$6,600

$14,490

Emmet McGrath (term ended April 30, 2017)

$9,863

$8,100

$17,963

Penny-Lynn McPherson

$18,002

$29,000

$47,002

Jan O’Brien (term began May 1, 2017)

$12,083

$13,600

$25,683

Rob Paterson

$23,999

$30,600

$54,599

Blaize Reich

$22,027

$27,900

$49,927

Launi Skinner

$12,083

$15,500

$27,583

Rob Wellstood

$28,027

$22,800

$50,827

$347,488

$389,100

$736,588

Director

John Kortram (term began July 15, 2017)

Total
1

The above compensation may not be paid directly to Directors. At the direction of a Director, some or all of the compensation is paid to the credit union of which they are an officer or director.
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Board and Committee Evaluations
The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee manages the process
of assessing the Board and its committees. It also manages director peer reviews.
Board assessments are conducted on a biennial basis. In intervening years, director
peer reviews are carried out. The committee retains an external consultant to design
and analyze the results of the evaluation of Board effectiveness and the director
peer review process.
In 2017, a Board evaluation was conducted by an external consultant. Upon receipt
of the results, the consultant facilitated a session with the Board at it’s February
meeting. The consultant provided a summary of that session to the Conduct Review
and Corporate Governance Committee which made several recommendations,
including reference material clarifying the process around committee and affiliate
appointments. The consultants recommendations were implemented throughout
the year and the remaining recommendations will be addressed in the next
governance review.

Communication with Members
Central 1 is committed to communicating with its members and its stakeholders.
Members and other interested parties can contact the Board, the Board Chairperson
or any director by email: corporatesecretary@central1.com.

Interaction with the Regulators
The Board regularly meets with FICOM to discuss Central 1’s risk profile and control
environment and maintains open lines of communication with them on significant
developments, including changes to the Board and senior management.
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Our Total Rewards Philosophy
Central 1’s compensation philosophy is designed to attract, retain and motivate
the high-performing employees needed to deliver Central 1’s products and
services to our member credit unions and to their members. Central 1 believes
the compensation that the CEO receives should be aligned with the contribution
they make to the organization’s overall short-term and long-term objectives. The
compensation program is designed to:

President & CEO

Maximum Incentive Payment (150
per cent of target)

60 per cent of base salary

90 per cent of base salary

Due to the strategic nature of the CEO, a higher percentage of the at risk pay is
aligned with the organizational performance metrics as outlined in the table below.

•• Reflect the organization’s goals and objectives.

Collective Weighting

•• Be competitive within the cooperative financial and credit union community.
•• Be affordable in line with the realities of the market.
Central 1 seeks an equitable balance between establishing cash compensation
(both base and at risk incentive pay) to attract qualified people from the financial
and non-financial community and providing non-cash benefits commensurate with
those in the credit union system. Overall the program is primarily cash-based.

Target Incentive Payment

Role

Organizational Performance
Metrics

Individual Performance Metrics

President & CEO

70 per cent

30 per cent

Every three years, an outside consultant conducts a market review of the salary of
the CEO. The external consultant analyzes the custom survey data, giving careful
consideration to the scope and complexity of the role, and also to peer comparisons
within the credit union sector.

CEO Cash Compensation
CEO1

Base Salary
Base salary for the CEO is determined at the beginning of each year in line with
individual performance and the median level of the designated market.

Base Salary
Short Term Incentive
(paid in 2018 for 2017 fiscal year performance)

The designated market for Central 1 includes large B.C.-based credit unions,
other credit unions with a significant asset base, western-based financial
institutions, and member-driven organizations, as well as specific organizations for
positions not found within this comparator group. Statistics on the assets under
management and total number of full-time equivalents is used to ensure relevant
comparisons are made.
Incentive Compensation (at risk incentive)
The short-term incentive program is designed to reward the achievement of
performance objectives in the short term by providing a cash incentive.
The Board establishes the performance objectives for the CEO as well as the
business plan for Central 1 and its operating budget.
The Board reviews the performance of the CEO at the end of each year and its
evaluation determines the amount of incentive compensation that is awarded to
the CEO.

Amount
$218,972

Total
Interim CEO2
Base Salary

1

–
$218,972
Amount
$315,577

Short Term Incentive
(paid in 2018 for 2017 fiscal year performance)

$138,745

Total

$454,322

Don Wright resigned as President & CEO effective July 7, 2017
D uring 2017, Marilyn Mauritz was SVP Legal and General Counsel from January 1, 2017 through to July 7, 2017
and was Interim President and CEO from July 7, 2017 through the remainder of the calendar year. The amount
included is her earnings for service in both roles during 2017.

2

Other Cash-Based Compensation
Central 1 offers a market-competitive perquisite program to the CEO, including an
automobile allowance. In addition to the above total cash compensation, the CEO
received benefits of $5,657, and an annual car allowance of $6,601 and the Interim
CEO received benefits of $11,053 and an annual car allowance of $10,698.

The Board also determines the target and maximum incentive payments for the
CEO. These targets are a percentage of base salary and are calculated based on
actual earnings in the year.
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Non-Cash Benefits
The CEO received non-cash benefits including employer-paid benefits, healthcare
benefits, Group RRSP contributions, Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP)
benefits and access to an executive medical program, totalling $29,244 and the
Interim CEO received the same benefits totalling $35,872. Central 1 does not use
options, stock appreciation rights, shares or units in its compensation framework.
The Group RRSP provides a retirement benefit based on employee and employer
contributions that are accumulated with investment earnings. Under the Group
RRSP, employer contributions are matched to employee contributions of six per cent
of salary. Since the Income Tax Act imposes maximums on benefits provided under
registered retirement plans, Central 1 provides supplemental retirement benefits
through the SERP.
This enables the CEO to receive the benefit that they would have received if the
Income Tax Act limits were not imposed on the registered plans. This benefit is
further enhanced in that earnings under the SERP include 50 per cent of the annual
incentive payment. On an annual basis, the Board has determined the notional rate
of return to be Consumer Price Index (CPI) +3%.
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Credit Unions in British Columbia and Ontario
Central Credit Unions
Central 1 Credit Union
Stabilization Central Credit Union of British Columbia

Credit Unions By Regions
B.C. Region

Aldergrove Credit Union

Sunshine Coast Credit Union

Ganaraska Credit Union Limited

Rapport Credit Union Limited

BlueShore Financial Credit Union

Union Bay Credit Union

Resurrection Credit Union Limited

Bulkley Valley Credit Union

Vancouver Firefighters Credit Union

Healthcare & Municipal Employees’
Credit Union Limited

CCEC Credit Union

V.P. Credit Union

Coast Capital Savings Credit Union

Vancouver City Savings Credit Union

Coastal Community Credit Union

V.P. Credit Union

Columbia Valley Credit Union

Vancouver City Savings Credit Union

Community Savings Credit Union

VantageOne Credit Union

Compensation Employees Credit Union

Westminster Savings Credit Union

Creston & District Credit Union

Williams Lake and District Credit Union

East Kootenay Community Credit Union
First Credit Union
First West Credit Union
Grand Forks District Savings Credit Union
Greater Vancouver Community Credit Union
Gulf and Fraser Fishermen’s Credit Union
Heritage Credit Union
Integris Credit Union
Interior Savings Credit Union
Khalsa Credit Union
Kootenay Savings Credit Union
Ladysmith & District Credit Union
Lake View Creidt Union
Mount Lehman Credit Union
Nelson & District Credit Union
North Peace Savings and Credit Union
Northern Savings Credit Union
Osoyoos Credit Union
Prospera Credit Union
Revelstoke Credit Union
Salmon Arm Savings and Credit Union
Sharons Credit Union
Spruce Credit Union
Summerland & District Credit Union

Ontario Region
Adjala Credit Union Limited
Airline Financial Credit Union Limited
Alterna Savings and Credit Union Limited
Auto Workers Community Credit
Union Limited
Bay Credit Union Limited
Buduchnist Credit Union Limited
CCB Employees Credit Union Limited
City Savings & Credit Union Limited
Comtech Fire Credit Union Limited
Copperfin Credit Union Limited
Creative Arts Savings & Credit Union
Limited
DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.
Dundalk District Credit Union Limited
Education Credit Union Limited
Equity Credit Union Inc.
Estonian (Toronto) Credit Union Ltd.
Finnish Credit Union Limited
FirstOntario Credit Union Limited
Fort York Community Credit Union Limited
Frontline Financial Credit Union Limited

Health Care Credit Union Limited

St. Stanislaus-St. Casimir’s Polish Parishes
Credit Union Limited

Heritage Savings & Credit Union
Incorporated

Smiths Falls Community Credit Union
Limited

Italian Canadian Savings & Credit Union
Limited

Southwest Regional Credit Union Ltd.

Kawartha Credit Union Limited
Kindred Credit Union Limited

Taiwanese-Canadian Toronto
Credit Union Limited

Kingston Community Credit Union Limited

Talka Credit Union Limited

Korean Catholic Church Credit Union
Limited

Tandia Financial Credit Union Limited

Korean (Toronto) Credit Union Limited

The Police Credit Union Limited

L.I.U.N.A. Local 183 Credit Union Limited
Libro Credit Union Limited
Luminus Financial Services &
Credit Union Limited

Sudbury Credit Union Limited

The Energy Credit Union Limited
The Toronto Municipal Employees’ Credit
Union Limited
The Police Credit Union Limited

Mainstreet Credit Union Limited

The Toronto Municipal Employees’
Credit Union Limited

Member Savings Credit Union Limited

Thorold Community Credit Union

Meridian Credit Union Limited

Ukrainian Credit Union Limited

Momentum Credit Union Limited

United Employees Credit Union Limited

Motor City Community Credit Union
Limited

Utilities Employees Credit Union
(Windsor) Limited

Moya Financial Credit Union Limited

Windsor Family Credit Union Limited

Northern Credit Union Limited

Your Credit Union Limited

Ontario Educational Credit Union Limited

Your Neighbourhood Credit Union Ltd.

Ontario Provincial Police Association
Credit Union Limited
Oshawa Community Credit Union Ltd.
Ottawa Police Credit Union Limited
PACE Savings & Credit Union Limited
Parama Credit Union Limited
PenFinancial Credit Union Limited
Quinte First Credit Union
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B.C. Regional Office

Investor Contact

Central 1 Credit Union
1441 Creekside Drive
Vancouver, B.C.
Canada V6J 4S7

Brent Clode
Chief Investment Officer

Ontario Regional Offices
Central 1 Credit Union
2810 Matheson Boulevard East
Mississauga, Ontario
Canada L4W 4X7
Central 1 Credit Union
908-120 Adelaide Street West
Toronto, Ontario
Canada M5H ITI
1.800.661.6813
www.central1.com

Corporate Secretary Contact

Central 1 Credit Union
T 905.282.8588 or 1.800.661.6813 ext. 8588
E bclode@central1.com

Debtholder Contact
Main Agent
Computershare Trust Company of Canada
510 Burrard Street, 3rd Floor
Vancouver, B.C.
Canada V6C 3B9
T 604.661.9400
F 604.661.9549
www.computershare.com

Media Contact

Marilyn Mauritz
Chief Transformation and Legal Officer, Corporate Secretary

Nicole Adams
Interim AVP, Member and External Communications

Central 1 Credit Union
T 604.737.5935 or 1.800.661.6813 ext. 5935
E mmauritz@central1.com

Central 1 Credit Union
T 604.714.6581
E Nicole.Adams@central1.com
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Audit and Finance Committee Terms of Reference

hold office until the next AGM, unless the member becomes unable to serve
or is removed by the Board. A casual vacancy may be filled, and additional
members of the Committee may be appointed by the Board, to hold office
until the next AGM.

Approved: February 23, 2018
1.1 PURPOSE
The Audit & Finance Committee (Committee) is a committee of the Board of
Directors (the Board) to which the Board has delegated responsibility for oversight
over the financial reporting process.
Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation and integrity of
Central 1’s financial statements and for maintaining appropriate accounting and
financial reporting principles and policies and internal controls and procedures
designed to ensure compliance with accounting standards and applicable laws and
regulations.
The external auditors are responsible for planning and carrying out, in accordance
with professional standards, an audit of Central 1’s annual financial statements and
reviews of Central 1’s quarterly financial information.
The Committee’s purpose is to review the adequacy and effectiveness of these
activities and to assist the Board in its oversight of:
a) integrity of Central 1’s financial statements
b) external auditors’ qualifications and independence
c) performance of Central 1’s internal audit function and external auditors
d) adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls
e)	Central 1’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements affecting financial
reporting.
The Committee has oversight over budgets. The Committee acts as liaison between
the external auditors, internal auditors and the Board. The Committee assists
the Board in meeting its responsibilities in ensuring that the review of Central 1’s
financial operations and that of its subsidiaries, by the external auditor provides an
independent report on the integrity of the financial data and reporting.

1.2.2	Each member of the Committee must be able to read and understand
financial statements to the level of detail and complexity to which Central 1
reports, including the notes attached thereto.
1.2.3	The members of the Committee must be independent as defined in the
Board Structure section of the Board Manual and the majority of the
members of the Committee shall not be (a) officers or employees of Central 1
or an affiliate of Central 1.
1.2.4	No more than one representative from any one credit union is permitted to
serve on the Committee, except where one representative is serving as an
ex-officio member of the Committee.
1.2.5	The Chairperson of the Risk Review and Investment and Loan Committee
shall be an ex-officio member of the Committee, if not otherwise appointed
to the Committee.
1.2.6	The Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall be an ex-officio member of
the Committee.
1.2.7	The Committee shall elect one (1) of its members to be its Chairperson.
The Chairperson of the Committee shall act in accordance with the Position
Description: Committee Chairperson section of the Board Manual.
1.3 OBJECTIVES/DELIVERABLES
1.3.1

Oversight of External Auditors:

1.2 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE

a)	
S election: the Committee shall annually recommend to the Board the
appointment, reappointment or termination of the external auditor. This
recommendation shall be done sufficiently in advance of the next annual meeting
of Central 1 to allow the Board to seek membership ratification. At regular
intervals (not greater than every 5 years), the Committee will assess Central 1’s
external audit requirements and review the appropriateness of undertaking a
full Request for Proposal (RFP) process, with such RFP process to be undertaken
at the option of the Committee, if it so determines. The Committee shall report
annually to the Board on the performance of the external auditor.

1.2.1	The Committee shall consist of a minimum of five (5) directors. The
members of the Committee shall be elected annually by the Board at the first
meeting of the Board following Central 1’s annual general meeting (AGM) to

b) I ndependence: the Committee shall oversee the process to determine the
independence of the external auditor. The Committee shall obtain and
review a formal written statement from the external auditor describing all

The Committee ensures compliance with financial and accounting policies and the
Committee may make recommendations to the Board on any matters pertaining to
the financial reporting process, including the audit process and internal controls.
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relationships between Central 1 and the external auditor that may impact upon
its independence. The Committee shall actively discuss with the external auditor
any disclosed relationships or services that might impact on the independence
or objectivity of the external auditor. The Committee shall report annually to the
Board on the independence of the external auditor.
c)	The Committee shall annually review and approve Central 1’s policy regarding
the hiring of members of the external audit team and former external audit
teams.
Related Information: Appendix 1 - Central 1 Credit Union Audit and Finance
Committee Restriction on Employment of Members of External Audit Team
1.3.2

Compensation of External Auditors

Upon resolution of members of Central 1 that the remuneration of the external
auditors is to be set by directors, the Committee will have the sole responsibility for
setting the remuneration of such external auditor. In the case of an external auditor
appointed to fill a casual vacancy, the Committee shall have sole responsibility for
setting the compensation of such auditor without resolution of the members.
1.3.3

Pre-approval of Services

The Committee shall pre-approve all audit and non-audit services, including the
provision of tax advice (other than “de minimus” non-audit services provided to
Central 1 and its subsidiaries as defined in NI 52-110). If necessary, the Chairperson
shall be authorized to provide such pre-approval throughout the year, with any such
approvals being reported to the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Committee.
The Committee shall oversee Central 1’s policy on services provided by its external
auditor.
Related Information: Appendix 2 - Central 1 Credit Union Audit and Finance
Committee Pre-Approval of Services Provided by Central 1’s External Auditor
1.3.4

Reporting of External Auditors.

a) 	The external auditors shall report directly to the Committee, and the Committee
shall have responsibility for overseeing the activities of the external auditors,
including resolution of any disagreements between management and the
external auditors regarding financial reporting.
The Committee shall review, prior to the commencement of the audit, the audit
engagement letter, audit plans and scope of the external audit, identifying
special areas of concern to the external auditor. The Committee will monitor the
audit process, the annual audit report and the findings of the examination after
its completion.

b)	
Accounting Policies: the Committee shall review with management and the
external auditors the appropriateness of accounting policies and approve any
changes thereto.
c) Reports: the Committee shall review all written or oral reports made by the
external auditor.
Such reports may include:
i.

Current and prospective changes in accounting policies and practices;

ii.	Alternative treatment of financial information within generally accepted
accounting principles;
iii.	Review of transactions or investments, as brought forward by either the
auditors or management, which could adversely affect the financial wellbeing
of Central 1; and
iv.	Any other written communications between the external auditor and
Central 1’s management.
d) R
 eview of Reportable Events: the Committee shall review all reportable events
(occurrences in the relationship between Central 1 and the external auditor
which may have been a contributing factor in the resignation or termination
of the external auditor) including disagreements, unresolved issues or
consultations, as defined in NI 52-102, whether or not there is a change of the
auditors.
e) I n-Camera Meetings: the Committee shall have an in-camera meeting with the
external auditors at every Committee meeting, at which the external auditors are
in attendance.
1.3.5

Oversight of Internal Auditor

a)	
O versight: The internal auditor shall report directly to the Committee, and the
Committee shall have responsibility for reviewing and approving the Internal
Audit Mandate; overseeing the activities of the internal auditor, including
reviewing and approving the annual internal audit plan and identifying special
areas of concern for internal audit review.
The Committee will monitor the internal audit process and the findings of
examinations, including the status of identified control weaknesses and
management’s corrective action.
The Committee will review and concur in the appointment, replacement,
reassignment, or dismissal of the Director, Internal Audit. On behalf of the
Committee, the Chairperson shall provide input concerning the performance
review and compensation of the Director, Internal Audit.
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The Committee will regularly review the organizational structure of the internal
audit function and annually review and approve the function’s budget and
resources.
b)	
Reports: The Committee shall receive and review all written or oral reports
made by the internal auditor and, in particular, recommendations for changes in
internal control procedures or processes. The internal auditor will report to the
Committee the response or determination of management with respect to any
findings or recommendations.
The Risk Review and Investment and Loan Committee shall be copied on Internal
Audit reports prepared for the Committee.
1.3.6	Review of Annual Audited Financial Statements, Quarterly Unaudited
Financial Statements
The Committee shall review and discuss with management and the external auditors
Central 1’s annual audited financial statements and Central 1’s unaudited quarterly
financial statements. In addition, the Committee shall review the annual audited
financial statements of Central 1’s subsidiaries.
In reviewing the financial statements, the Committee shall:
a)	Ensure that they are complete and consistent with the information known to the
Committee;
b)	Review, if applicable, the contents of management’s representation letters to the
external auditors;
c)	Discuss with management and, if applicable, the external auditors whether
they reflect appropriate accounting principles, considering the quality of the
principles selected;
d)	Discuss any actual or proposed changes in accounting or financial reporting and
consider their impact on the financial statements;
e) Discuss any related party transactions;
f)	Discuss any unusual, complex or significant events, such as legal actions, claims
or contingencies or areas where significant judgment has been exercised, such
as valuations, losses and reserves; and
g)	The Committee will recommend to the Board the approval of Central 1’s
consolidated financial statements.
1.3.7

Review of Financial Disclosures

The Committee shall review the contents of all periodic public disclosure documents
and all event driven disclosure documents for which the Committee’s review is
deemed necessary by the Disclosure Committee before release, including the

Management Discussion & Analysis, any prospectus and any financial report,
statement or return (including associated press releases) that requires the approval
of the Board before filing or release.
The Committee must satisfy itself that adequate procedures are in place for the
review of Central 1’s public disclosure of financial information extracted from
or derived from the financial statements (i.e. press releases, information posted
to Central 1’s website and any other form of public communication). While this
information is currently vetted through the Disclosure Committee, the Committee
must periodically assess the adequacy of the processes and procedures followed
by the Disclosure Committee and the adequacy of management representation on
that Committee. The Committee shall review the Disclosure Policy at least every two
years and, if deemed advisable, recommend changes to the Board.
1.3.8

Controls and Procedures

a)	
O versight: The Committee shall provide oversight of Central 1’s internal
accounting controls, of its disclosure controls and procedures and of its Ethical
Reporting Policy. The Committee shall require management to implement and
maintain appropriate systems of internal control, including internal controls
over financial reporting and for the prevention and detection of fraud and error.
The Committee shall receive and review reports from other board committees
with regard to matters that could affect financial reporting, including the major
financial and business risks to which Central 1 is exposed, and management’s
actions to monitor and control such exposures.
b)	
E xternal Auditor Reporting: The Committee shall consider the external
auditors’ management letters, recommendations and comments with respect to
accounting treatment and internal controls and management’s responses and
subsequent follow-up of any identified weaknesses.
c)	
I nternal Auditor: The Committee shall meet with the internal auditor and with
management to discuss the effectiveness of internal control procedures and shall
approve recommendations for improvements.
d)	
C EO/CFO Certification Program: The Committee shall oversee Central 1’s
CEO/CFO Certification program and the meeting of its obligations under that
program.
e)	
P rocedures for Complaints: The Committee shall establish procedures for the
receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by Central 1 regarding
accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters. The Committee
shall also establish procedures for the confidential, anonymous submission by
Central 1’s employees of their concerns regarding questionable accounting and
internal controls over auditing matters.
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f)	
Additional Powers: The Committee shall have such other duties as may be
delegated to it by the Board, from time to time.
g)	The Committee shall receive material of the Risk Review and Investment & Loan
Committee.
Related Information: Ethical Reporting Policy

1.4.4	The external auditor, the internal auditor, and the provincial Superintendent
of Financial Institutions shall have the right to appear before and be heard at
any meeting of the Committee and to request the Committee Chairperson to
consider any matter that the requisitioning party believes should be brought
to the attention of Directors or members.

1.3.9. Oversight of Budgets

1.4.5	The Chairperson of the Committee shall appoint a Secretary who need not
be a director to keep minutes or other records of the meeting.

a)	The Committee shall review, annually, Central 1’s Operating Budget, Dues
Budget and Capital Asset Budget and recommend their approval to the Board.

1.4.6	The Committee will meet “in-camera” at each meeting with only the
members of the Committee present.

b)	At least biennially, the Chief Financial Officer will present the Budget Policy to
the Committee for review and recommendation to the Board.

1.4.7	The Committee will meet “in-camera” with the internal auditor at every
meeting at which the internal auditor is in attendance.

1.3.10. Review Inspection Reports

1.4.8	At least quarterly, the Committee shall meet “in-camera” with the Chief
Financial Officer.

a)	
F ICOM: The Committee shall review inspection reports prepared by the
Superintendent of Financial Institutions and the contents of the Board’s
proposed response. The Committee shall recommend the Board’s proposed
response to the Board.
1.4 MEETINGS AND PROCEDURES
1.4.1	The Committee shall meet as it deems necessary to fulfill its duties
hereunder, but no less than once each quarter. The time and location of
the meetings and the procedures to be followed at such meetings shall be
determined, from time to time, by the Committee.
The Board Chairperson, the Committee Chairperson, any two (2) members of the
Committee, the internal auditor, the external auditors, or the Corporate Secretary
may call meetings of the Committee. The external auditor shall be given notice of,
and shall have the right to appear before, every Committee meeting.
The Committee may meet in person, by conference call or by other electronic
means.
1.4.2	Whenever possible, seven (7) days’ notice of the meeting shall be provided,
in writing, to members of the Committee, the external auditors and any
invited persons. The agenda and required reports shall be circulated to the
Committee (via Diligent or e-mail) one week in advance of the meeting date,
whenever possible.
1.4.3	A quorum at any meeting of the Committee shall be a majority of the
members of the Committee, excluding any ex -officio members. Decisions
of the Committee will be by an affirmative vote of the majority of those
members of the Committee voting at a meeting. The Committee may also
act by resolution in writing signed by all the members of the Committee.

1.4.9	The Committee may invite any director, officer or employee of Central 1 or
any other person, as appropriate, to attend meetings of the Committee to
assist in the discussion and examination of the matters under consideration
by the Committee, including: the external auditor, external counsel, the
internal auditor, Chief Risk Officer, the President and Chief Executive Officer
or any member of executive management.
1.5 MANAGEMENT AND RESOURCES
1.5.1

The Committee shall be resourced by the Chief Financial Officer.

1.5.2	The Committee shall have the authority to engage and determine funding
for any independent counsel, accountants, and other external consultants
and resources, as it may deem necessary to carry out its responsibilities,
provided that all contracts for such services shall be reviewed, where
appropriate, by Central 1’s Legal Department and that any contract in
excess of $10,000 must be approved by the Chairperson of the Board or the
Board prior to execution. The Committee shall report to the Board on any
undertakings to engage such advisors, including the level of compensation.
1.6 RECORDS
The official records of the Committee including all meeting material and minutes are
maintained by the Office of the Corporate Secretary. Minutes of every meeting shall
be recorded and available to Committee members and the Board.
1.7 ACCOUNTABILITY
The Committee is accountable to the Board. The Chairperson of the Committee
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shall report the proceedings of each meeting and all recommendations made by
the Committee at such meeting to the Board, at the Board’s regularly scheduled
meeting.

Appendix 1

1.8 EVALUATION OF COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS

Approved: February 23, 2018

The Committee shall annually review and assess the adequacy of its mandate and
its effectiveness in fulfilling its mandate. As part of this review, the Committee
will review and assess the adequacy of its Terms of Reference on an annual basis
taking into account all legislative and regulatory requirements applicable to
the Committee, as well as any best practice guidelines, and, if appropriate will
recommend changes to the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee.
1.9 COMMITTEE OUTPUT
The major annual activities of the Committee are outlined in the schedule on the
following page.

Central 1 Credit Union Audit & Finance Committee — Restriction on
Employment of Members of External Audit Team
1.1 PURPOSE
To maintain the independence of the External Auditor and to prevent a potential
conflict of interest, Central 1 shall not employ a key member or former key
member of the external audit firm in a financial reporting oversight role until a
period of one year or more has elapsed from the date of the financial statements,
on which that person participated in an audit, review or attestation engagement
capacity, were filed with the relevant securities regulator. For the purposes of
this policy, a key member includes all partners involved in the audit, review or
attestation engagement and any employees of the auditor involved in the audit in a
management or decision-making capacity.

1.10 AMENDMENTS
The Board must authorize substantive amendments to these Terms of Reference.
The Committee may make administrative amendments, including amendments
related to dates, organization, and similar matters.
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Appendix 2

vii.	Project Risk Management Services (this includes providing project
management services for systems implementations such as PeopleSoft)

Central 1 Credit Union Audit & Finance Committee — Pre-Approval of
Services Provided by Central’s External Auditor
Approved: February 23 ,2018

viii.O perational Advisory and Risk Management Services (this includes
information risk management which may be increased by a major structural
change such as a merger)

1.1 PURPOSE

ix. Regulatory and Compliance Services

Central 1’s Audit & Finance Committee shall pre-approve all services to be provided
by Central 1’s external auditor. In addition to audit services, Central 1’s external
auditors may provide Central 1 with certain other services which are listed in the
section below entitled Permitted Services. Central 1 may not engage its external
auditors to perform services that are inconsistent with an auditors’ independence. A
description of prohibited services is included in the section below entitled Prohibited
Services.
1.2 PERMITTED SERVICES
Central 1 may retain its external auditors to perform the following services:
1.2.1

Audit Services

a) Audit Related Services – Tax Services
i.

compliance services,

ii. Canadian & US tax planning services
iii. Commodity Tax Services
iv. Executive Tax Services
b) Other Services
i.

Valuation Services, except for financial reporting purposes

ii.	Information Technology Advisory and Risk Management Services (this
includes assistance in ensuring that technology processes are operating
efficiently)
iii.	Actuarial Services, except for items which are included in the financial
statements
iv. Forensic and Related Services
v.	Corporate Recovery Services (this includes tax recoveries such as Scientific
Research & Experimental Development claims)
vi.	Transaction Services (this includes providing assistance in structuring
significant acquisitions)

1.2.2

Prohibited Services

Central 1 may not retain its external auditor to perform any service that is
inconsistent with an auditor’s independence. Prohibited services include, but are not
limited to, the following:
a) bookkeeping or other services related to the audit client’s accounting records or
financial statements;
b) financial information systems design and implementation;
c) appraisal or valuation services for financial reporting purposes;
d) actuarial services for items recorded in the financial statements;
e) internal audit outsourcing services;
f) management functions;
g) Human Resources;
h) corporate financing activities;
i)

legal services; and

j)

expert witness services.

1.3 POLICY
For permitted services the following pre-approval policies will apply:
a) Audit Services: The Audit & Finance Committee will pre-approve all audit
services provided by Central 1’s external auditor through its recommendation of the
external auditor at Central 1’s AGM and through the Audit & Finance Committee’s
review of the external auditor’s annual Audit Plan.
b) P
 re-Approval of Audit Related, Tax and Other Non-Audit Services: On an
annual basis, the Audit & Finance Committee will update the attached list of
Permitted Services and pre-approve services that are recurring or otherwise
reasonably expected to be provided. The Audit & Finance Committee will be
subsequently informed of the services on the attached list for which the auditor
has been actually engaged.
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c) A
 pproval of Additional Services: The Central 1 employee making the request
will submit the request for service to the Chief Financial Officer. The request
for service should include a description of the service, the estimated fee, a
statement that the service is not a Prohibited Service and the reason that the
external auditor is being engaged.
The Chief Financial Officer may approve an engagement for additional non-audit
services if (i) the aggregate amount of fees for all non-audit services that were
not pre-approved is reasonably expected to not exceed five (5) per cent of the
total Audit Service fee during the fiscal year (ii) Central 1 did not recognize the
services as non-audit services at the time of the engagement and (iii) the services
are promptly brought to the attention of the Audit & Finance Committee and
approved, prior to the completion of the audit, by the Audit & Finance Committee
or the Chairperson of the Audit & Finance Committee. Recommendations in
respect of all other engagements will be submitted by the Chief Financial Officer
to the Chairperson of Audit & Finance Committee for consideration and approval.
The engagement may commence upon approval of the Chairperson of the Audit
& Finance Committee. The full Audit & Finance Committee will subsequently be
informed of any additional services, at its next meeting.
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